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Corporate Information

REER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

The following directors resigned on April 1, 2025:
Dr. Chen Ping (Chairman)

Ms. Wang Zheshi

Mr. Feng Yijing

Mr. Wang Jun

The following directors were appointed on April 1, 2025:

Mr. Chan Chin Ching (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Chin Chun

Mr. Kwong Kevin Tak Tsing

Mr. Lee Alexander Patrick

Independent Non-executive Directors

The following directors resigned on April 1, 2025:
Mr. Gu Jiong

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix

Mr. Yang Hai

The following directors were appointed on April 1, 2025:

Mr. Ng Pui Sun Wesley
Ms. Peng Cheng
Mr. Siu Chi Wai

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Gu Jiong (Chairman) (Resigned on April 1, 2025)
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix (Resigned on April 1, 2025)
Mr. Yang Hai (Resigned on April 1, 2025)

With effect from April 1, 2025:
Mr. Siu Chi Wai (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Pui Sun Wesley

Ms. Peng Cheng
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix (Chairman) (Resigned on April 1, 2025)
Mr. Feng Yijing (Resigned on April 1, 2025)
Mr. Yang Hai (Resigned on April 1, 2025)

With effect from April 1, 2025:

Mr. Ng Pui Sun Wesley (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Chin Ching

Mr. Siu Chi Wai

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Chen Ping (Chairman) (Resigned on April 1, 2025)
Mr. Gu Jiong (Resigned on April 1, 2025)
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix (Resigned on April 1, 2025)

With effect from April 1, 2025:
Mr. Chan Chin Ching (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Pui Sun Wesley

Ms. Peng Cheng

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Chan Chin Ching (Appointed on April 1, 2025)
Dr. Chen Ping (Resigned on April 1, 2025)

Ms. Pun Ka Ying (Appointed on March 1, 2024)
Ms. Zhang Xiao (Resigned on February 29, 2024)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Pun Ka Ying ACG, HKACG
(Appointed on March 1, 2024)

Ms. Zhang Xiao ACG, HKACG
(Resigned on February 29, 2024)
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REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

89 Nexus Way

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman KY1-9009
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

8/F, Building B4

9 Mozhoudong Road

Jiangning Economic and
Technological Development Zone
Nanjing

Jiangsu Province

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 1920, 19/F
Lee Garden One
33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Ogier Global (Cayman) Limited
89 Nexus Way

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman KY1-9009
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR
As to Hong Kong law

Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP
Suites 3203-3207, 32/F
Edinburgh Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Everbright Bank Nanjing Jiangning Branch
76 Shengli Road

Moling Street

Jiangning District

Nanjing City

Jiangsu Province

PRC

China Merchants Bank Jiangning Branch
No. 66 Shengtai Road

Jiangning District

Nanjing City

Jiangsu Province

PRC

STOCK CODE

2440

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE

www.howkingtech.com
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Financial Summary

MHEE

Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=1T—-HLEE

2024 2023
—B-EF —T=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AREET T AREFIT
Revenue g 98,580 440,550
Gross (loss)/profit (E8)/EHM (456) 83,827
(Loss)/Profit before tax AR (BB, (70,426) 34,456
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to SN EES AFEL
owners of the parent FR(EB),wF (77,527) 25,493
Adjusted net (loss)/profit R (ERFRE) 1A
(non-HKFRS measure)"” (EEBH G HREEREE)" (64,002) 36,014
As of December 31,
BEt+t=-HA=+—H
2024 2023
—EmF — T4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBT T
Assets: BE:
Non-current assets IERENEE 16,236 28,147
Current assets TRENEE 235,817 322,622
Total assets BEHAE 252,053 350,769
Equity and liabilities: EEREE:
Total equity A 205,437 268,377
Non-current liabilities ERENAaE 225 927
Current liabilities TEIBRE 46,391 81,465
Total liabilities =Ritete] 46,616 82,392
Total equity and liabilities EnRkBEAHE 252,053 350,769
Note: 3T
(1 Equity-settled share option and award expense were not included in (1) DA RS e 4% ) B R A 5 < R BB 1) B2 BN B S ok 4

non-HKFRS financial measure.
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On behalf of the Board of Howkingtech International Holding
Limited, | am pleased to announce the consolidated results of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Entering 2024, the global operating environment remained
uncertain and the economy of the PRC recovered at a pace slower
than expected. The market competition has been intensifying
dramatically due to domestic economic uncertainty. The Group's
revenue decreased by approximately 77.6% from approximately
RMB440.6 million in 2023 to approximately RMB98.6 million in 2024.
The Group's adjusted net loss was approximately RMB64.0 million
in 2024, as compared to an adjusted net profit of approximately
RMB36.0 million in 2023.

As a PRC provider for data transmission and processing services for
loT applications and telecommunication equipment, the Group has
been able to forge ahead in the challenging economic environment
in the PRC during the year, implementing prudent and solid
business strategies and actively exploring the business of China’s
loT market. The Group focused on assisting customers to realize
and optimize their digitalization by providing professional and
tailored communication technology solutions. The Group has
introduced a range of solutions in the private network domain,
including next-generation smart emergency response, smart city,
smart park, smart venue, smart government affairs, and industrial
Internet. The revenue from data transmission and processing
services for loT applications decreased by approximately 80.8%,
from approximately RMB380.3 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB73.2 million in 2024.

BRENEERERERAR
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Chairman's Statement
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Chairman's Statement

ERRE

In 2025, it is expected that the more complex and volatile external
macro environment, rising competition in information and
telecommunication industry and accelerating the changes of
technology will present opportunities and challenges to the
industry and the Group. In addition to consolidating its operational
results, the Group will continue to implement prudent and solid
business development strategies, seize new opportunities in the
market, strengthen independent research and development
capabilities, actively study advanced technologies in the 5G era,
and further upgrade and improve data transmission services. In
addition, the Group will continue to implement effective
operational management policies as well as cost control measures
to promote the sustainable and healthy development of the
Group's business. In the coming year, the Group will strive for
better operating performance and continue to enhance corporate
value to reward society and the Shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our Shareholders, investors, customers and business
partners for their unfailing support and trust, and to all the staff for
their hard work over the past year. In the future, the Group will
continue to forge ahead amid the challenging market environment,
create better performance and strive for better returns for
Shareholders and investors.

Chen Ping
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 31, 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group is a PRC provider for (i) data transmission and
processing services for loT applications and (i) telecommunication
equipment, serving a broad range of industrial customers. The
Group has been operating in the rapidly growing loT market in the
PRC since 2012, and commenced the provision of data transmission
and processing services for loT applications to customers in various
industries in 2018. The Group set foot in the private 5G network
market in the PRC in 2020 through upgrading its data transmission
and processing services for loT applications with the application of
5G technologies, and has since become one of the named
providers in the explosively growing private 5G network market in
the PRC. In 2022, the Company was successfully listed on the Stock
Exchange and became one of the few loT-focused listed companies
on the Stock Exchange.

HIGHLIGHTS IN 2024

EEENWRIT

R E2 B 2 Hh B G7) W B A B R B (B 8 R TR AR
BRR()BEREBHRER  RETPHNITERE
e BT —_Fi  ARE-—HEETBRE
BRAOYBBETISEE YR _F—/\F/fA
RETEEFPREYBBREABIRER &G
BR% - R-T_TF - AREEBEMASGR
il A3 D Bt 48 e PR BB (B 0 S B IR AR A S R A
BSGHEMEME - YA LK STREZEERD
S5GEMMENMARER L R-F_—
FoARARARBRFRI LT - WARRBERF
PEEINYBBH LR ARZ— -

—ENERE

Year Ended December 31,
BE+t=-RA=1+—HILEE

2024 2023

—ENE —EC=F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBF T AR¥ETT

Revenue & 98,580 440,550
Cost of Sales SHE AR (99,036) (356,723)

Gross (Loss)/Profit (E8)/EF (456) 83,827

Net (Loss)/Profit (E51BF8) 7 (77,527) 25,493

Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit R (BRFEH),/F

(non-HKFRS measure)"” (IERBHBRELEATE) (64,002) 36,014

Note: (1) Equity-settled share option and award expense were not included Btz (1) DARRAE 45 & eh B IS 1 F2 AR 15 B2 0B 2 ok 4

in non-HKFRS measure.

Entering 2024, the global operating environment remained
uncertain. The Group's revenue decreased by approximately 77.6%
from approximately RMB440.6 million for the year ended December
31, 2023 to approximately RMB98.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024. Such decrease in revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2024 was mainly attributable to: (i) a decrease in
revenue from data transmission and processing services because
the Group's clients in the loT industry have delayed their projects
taking into consideration of their concerns in cash flows and
uncertainty in macroeconomic condition; and (ii) a decrease in
revenue from sales of equipment due to the lack of customer
demand in 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBNWRDN

While the results for the year ended December 31, 2024 may paint
a challenging picture, it is essential to look beyond the numbers
and focus on the opportunities that lie ahead. Despite the setbacks
the Group has faced, we are confident that the Group is well-
positioned to overcome these challenges and emerge stronger in
the coming future.

The Group continues to focus on the non-5G business and tap into
the more promising private 5G network market. Due to economic
uncertainty, many of our clients preferred to build a non-5G
network during the first stage to satisfy their needs and upgrade to
a 5G network during the second phase. As a result, the Group's
revenue in 2024 was concentrated in non-5G businesses. The
Group’s non-5G business revenue decreased by approximately
81.7% from approximately RMB350.7 million in 2023 to
approximately RMB64.2 million in 2024. In the meantime, the
Group's 5G business revenue decreased from approximately
RMB89.9 million in 2023 to RMB34.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

The Group's gross (loss)/profit decreased from approximately
RMBB83.8 million in 2023 to approximately RMB(0.5) million in 2024.
The Group's net loss was approximately RMB77.5 million in 2024, as
compared to a net profit of approximately RMB25.5 million in 2023.
The adjusted net loss of the Group was approximately RMB64.0
million in 2024, as compared to an adjusted net profit of
approximately RMB36.0 million in 2023. Such decrease in adjusted
net profit in 2024 was mainly attributable to (i) a decrease in
revenue and gross margin as a result of the intensified market
competition; and (ii) an increase in impairment losses on trade
receivables due to slow collection.

OUTLOOK FOR 2025

In 2025, it is expected that the more complex and volatile external
macro environment, rising competition in the information and
telecommunication industry and the accelerating changes of
technology will present opportunities and challenges to both the
industry and the Group. The PRC government recently launched a
series of measures to create a more business-friendly environment
so as to stimulate economic growth, which the Company believes
will further enhance the overall growth momentum in the PRC loT
market. Given this opportunity, the Group will take the following
measures to ensure sustainable business development in 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

First of all, the Group will diversify its 5G private network industrial
customers to include industries such as advanced manufacturing
industry, transportation industry, environmental protection industry
and energy industry. The Group will improve its overall marketing
capabilities and seek to reach more customers in the industrial loT
industry so as to diversify its customer base and grasp the
increasing industrial loT market opportunities.

Secondly, the Group will further upgrade its industry data platform
to embrace Al and big data. In addition to consolidating its
operational results, the Group will refactor its centralized data
platform, namely Universal loT Platform, and extend its functions to
cover industrial loT applications so that Universal loT Platform can
become a real common digitalization foundation to facilitate the
Group's different applications.

Lastly, the Group will continue to forge ahead in the challenging
economic environment in China, strengthening risk management
and control. The Group will enhance efforts to collect trade
receivables and control credit risk to ensure sufficient cash flow for
operations. In the meantime, the Group will implement prudent
and solid development strategy, effective operational management
policies and cost control measures to promote the sustainable and
healthy development of the group’s business.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
The Industry and the Group’s Strength

The loT industry where the Group operates possesses great growth
potential, driven by growing adoption of advanced technology,
rapid development of industrial loT, increasing demand for private
5G network as well as strong government support. According to
Frost & Sullivan, the l1oT market in the PRC is expected to grow at a
CAGR of approximately 13.3% from 2021 to 2026, reaching
approximately RMB5,466.0 billion in 2026, of which the 5G-based
loT market is expected to grow at a CAGR of approximately 62.2%
from 2021 to 2026, reaching approximately RMB491.9 billion in
2026. More specifically, the private 5G network market in the PRC is
expected to reach approximately RMB236.1 billion in 2026, with a
CAGR of approximately 108.2% from 2021 to 2026.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBNWRI T
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However, the loT market in the PRC is also competitive and
fragmented with more than 30,000 participants competing with

Platform
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Data Data Data
IFEI Universal loT Platform filtering classification  reformulation
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each other in each layer of the loT market from perception layer,
network connectivity layer, platform layer to application services
layer. Nevertheless, the Company believes that the Group, as an
loT solution provider focusing on network connectivity layer and
platform layer, is well positioned to capture the growing demand
for loT solutions and telecommunication equipment in the PRC
given its years of industry experience, in-depth market knowledge
and insight as well as a proven track record in providing data
transmission and processing services and telecommunication
equipment. The Company also believes that the Group's one-stop
solution, diversified product portfolio, short service delivery
capabilities, strong innovation and research capabilities as well as
experienced and visionary management will help the Group stand
out from its competitors in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Data Transmission and Processing Services

The Group offers data transmission and processing services for loT
applications to its customers in manufacturing, municipal services
and other industries in the PRC to assist them to realize and
optimize their digitalization. The Group classifies its data
transmission and processing services as non-5G network services
and private 5G network services depending on the network
connection mode the Group adopts in the services. Non-5G
network services help customers connect terminal devices with the
Group's proprietary Universal loT Platform via various
telecommunication networks or gateways, such as 4G, LORA,
Zigbee, NB-loT or Bluetooth, and the Group provides tailored non-
5G network services based on customers’ demands and their
application scenarios. The Group began to provide data
transmission and processing services with private 5G network since
2020, and has successfully improved the efficiency and cost-
effectiveness of the Group's services by offering turnkey solutions
with hardware and software integration for its customers.

EEENWRIT
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Year Ended December 31,
BE+=-A=1t—HILEE

2024 2023

—EF —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARETTT

Non-5G Network Services Revenue FESGHIAE R W e 64,235 342,349

Private 5G Network Services Revenue 5GH AR W ek 8,972 37,967
Data Transmission and Processing YR ERSEERR

Services for loT Applications B2 R A% 73,207 380,316

Revenue from data transmission and processing services decreased
by approximately 80.8% from approximately RMB380.3 million in
2023 to approximately RMB73.2 million in 2024. Due to the overall
poor market conditions in the PRC, many of our clients preferred to
build a non-5G network during the first stage to satisfy the basic
needs and upgrade to a 5G network during the second phase. As a
result, the Group's revenue in 2024 was mainly concentrated in non-
5G businesses. The Group's non-5G network services revenue
decreased by approximately 81.2% from approximately RMB342.3
million in 2023 to approximately RMB64.2 million in 2024. In the
meantime, the Group’s 5G network services revenue decreased
from approximately RMB38.0 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB9.0 million in 2024.
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Sales of Telecommunication Equipment

In addition to data transmission and processing services for loT
applications, the Group also researches, develops and sells
telecommunication equipment in the PRC. The Group provides its
customers with 5G telecommunication equipment, including 5G
pRRU, various types of 5G antennas and 5G communication
modules, which were designed to cater to preferences of different
consumer groups. The Group also provides other
telecommunication equipment, which primarily includes 4G
telecommunication equipment and other IT devices, to its

customers.

BEREHE
B YoBs 48 e R BB E b MR I RIS SN - A H
TERBEMT - AELEEBRERE - A5H

A% PR 5GBIE & (BHE5G 0 A 51 SR 4
BB BESGRENMSGRARERR)  BEHEMm
RAFPEERBORL - ARETAEFREHE
HipmERE - T2 REIGRERBMLEME
BBAMTRRAE

Year Ended December 31,
BZE+-A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
=F-mF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETIT

Sales of 5G Telecommunication WIEREHEE
Equipment 25,373 51,770
Sale of Antennas KERGHE - 6,435
Sales of Telecommunication Equipment @E{EREHE 25,373 58,205

Revenue from sales of telecommunication equipment decreased by
approximately 56.4% from approximately RMB58.2 million in 2023
to approximately RMB25.4 million in 2024. The sales of 5G
telecommunication equipment decreased by approximately 51.0%
from approximately RMB51.8 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB25.4 million in 2024. The lack of customer demand resulted in
the decrease in revenue from sales of telecommunication
equipment in 2024.
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Customers and Contracts

The Group's main customers include (i) state-owned or private
project owners, and (i) main contractors for data transmission and
processing services for loT applications, who sub-contract a pre-
defined section of the project to the Group. The Group has strived
to broaden and diversify its customer base. The number of new
customers accounted for approximately 63.6% of the total number
of customers in 2024. Revenue generated from the Group's five
largest customers amounted to approximately RMB82.6 million in
2024, accounting for approximately 83.7% of total revenue, while
such ratio was approximately 64.3% in 2023. The high customer
concentration is a common occurrence in the market where the
Group operates since loT solution projects are relatively large in
size as compared with most of the service providers in the market.
Therefore, service providers have to allocate a majority of their
resources, capacity and manpower to such projects to ensure the
delivery of projects. The Group believes that its customer
concentration will gradually decrease over time with continuous
business expansion in the future.

Benefiting from its in-depth industry knowledge, years of
experience and considerate customer services, the Group has been
awarded an increasing number of new contracts by its customers
on an annual basis. The Group was awarded 31 new contracts in
2024, with an average contract value of approximately RMB3.3

million.
Research and Development

The Group believes that its competitiveness and success depend
critically on its continuous commitment to research and
development and its ability to improve the functionality of, and add
new features to, its services and products. Thus, the Group devotes
significant resources to research and development and develops
core features of its services and products in-house.

EEENWRIT
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The Group's continuous research and development efforts have
enhanced the competitiveness in its services and products. The
Group self-developed its centralized data platform, namely
Universal loT Platform, for its data processing services. Universal
loT Platform adopted a series of in-house developed technologies
in areas of terminal data protocol unification, device shadow, data
flow, data aggregation and integration, and data purification and
processing, which have greatly differentiated Universal loT Platform
from traditional data platforms and turned Universal loT Platform
into one of the Group's core business capabilities and competitive
edges. In addition, as of December 31, 2024, the Group had
successfully registered 30 utility model patents, 23 patents for
invention, one international PCT and 90 copyrights in the PRC,
indicating the Group's strong innovation and research capabilities.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total number of 30
employees (as of December 31, 2023: 65). The Group's staff costs
(including equity-settled share option and award expense)
remained stable at approximately RMB22.9 million in 2024 as
compared to approximately RMB24.9 million in 2023.

The Group's success depends on its ability to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel, and the Group believes that the high-
quality talent pool is one of its core strengths. The Group recruits
employees mainly through campus recruitment, online recruitment,
internal referral and hunting firms or agents, to satisfy its demands
for different types of talents.

The Group provides trainings to its employees. In addition to the
trainings provided to employees, they can also improve their skills
through the Group's development of services and mutual learning
among colleagues. The Group offers competitive compensation for
its employees. In addition, the Group regularly evaluates the
performance of employees and reward those who perform well with
higher compensation or promotion.

The Group enters into standard contracts and agreements
regarding confidentiality, intellectual property, employment,
commercial ethics and non-competition with executive officers and
full-time employees. These contracts typically include a non-
competition provision effective during and up to two years after
their employment with the Group and a confidentiality provision
effective during and after their employment with the Group.
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In addition, to provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of the Group, the Company has adopted the Share Option
Scheme and the Share Award Scheme on November 11, 2022 and
May 16, 2023, respectively. The objectives of the Share Award
Scheme are: (i) to recognize the contributions by certain eligible
participants and to provide them with incentives in order to retain
them for the continual operation and development of the Group;
and (i) to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

EEENWRIT
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FINANCIAL REVIEW Bl 7 Bl 8
Revenue U 25
Year Ended December 31,
BZE+-A=+—HILEE
2024 2023
—BNEF —T=5F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Revenue g 98,580 440,550
Data Transmission and Processing g EE MR AR
Services 73,207 380,316
Sales of Equipment HERE 25,373 58,205
Others Hith = 2,029
or: B :
5G Business S5GET 34,345 89,889
Non-5G Business JESGETS 64,235 350,661
or: =
PRC Fh 98,580 433,814
The United States EH - 6,736
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The Group’s revenue decreased by approximately 77.6% from
approximately RMB440.6 million in 2023 to approximately RMB98.6
million in 2024. Revenue from data transmission and processing
services decreased by approximately 80.8% from approximately
RMB380.3 million in 2023 to approximately RMB73.2 million in 2024,
mainly attributable to the Group's clients in the loT industry having
delayed their projects taking into consideration of their concerns in
cash flows and uncertainty in macroeconomic condition. The
Group's revenue from sales of equipment decreased by
approximately 56.4% from approximately RMB58.2 million in 2023
to approximately RMB25.4 million in 2024, mainly due to the lack of
customer demand.

Due to the overall poor market conditions in the PRC, many of our
clients preferred to build a non-5G network during the first stage to
satisfy the basic needs and upgrade to a 5G network during the
second phase. As a result, the Group's revenue in 2024 was
concentrated in non-5G businesses. The Group’s non-5G business
revenue decreased by approximately 81.7% from approximately
RMB350.7 million in 2023 to approximately RMB64.2 million in 2024.
In the meantime, the Group's 5G business revenue decreased from
approximately RMB89.9 million in 2023 to approximately RMB34.3
million in 2024.

The Group generates most of its revenue from the PRC market and
100.0% of the Group's revenue was generated from the PRC market
in 2024, while such ratio was approximately 98.5% in 2023. Revenue
generated from the United States in 2023 was primarily attributable
to the Group’s export of loT antennas to the United States.
Revenue from the United States market decreased from
approximately RMB6.7 million in 2023 to nil in 2024.
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Costs and Expenses

EEENWRIT

AR F X

Year Ended December 31,
BE+=-A=1t—HILEE

2024 2023

—B-mEF —EB=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T AREFIT

Cost of Sales HER A 99,036 356,723
Material Costs MR AR 74,032 267,087
OEM Expenses ZONNTHAX 24,748 87,056
Administrative Expenses THREX 37,551 38,112
R&D Expenses e 13,538 9,649
Staff Costs B IR 12,521 13,508
Professional Expenses HHEEH 5,115 7,131
Selling and Distribution Expenses HERDHAX 4,694 3,577
Staff Costs BTIKA 4,340 1,766
Impairment Losses on Financial Assets £ @& ERERFE 29,432 10,003
Trade and Notes Receivables H 5 WA R R R G 28,030 10,030

Cost of sales includes (i) material costs, (i) OEM expenses and (jii)
labor costs. The Group's cost of sales decreased by approximately
72.2% from approximately RMB356.7 million in 2023 to
approximately RMB99.0 million in 2024. Material costs decreased
by approximately 72.3% in 2024 as compared to 2023, and its share
of cost of sales remained stable at approximately 74.8% in 2024 as
compared to approximately 74.9% in 2023.

Administrative expenses consist of (i) R&D expenses, (i) staff costs,
(iii) professional expenses, (iv) depreciation and amortization, (v)
office expenses, and (vi) tax surcharges. The Group's administrative
expenses remained stable at approximately RMB37.6 million in
2024 as compared to approximately RMB38.1 million in 2023. The
R&D expenses increased by 40.3% from approximately RMB9.6
million in 2023 to approximately RMB13.5 million in 2024, and the
increase was partially offset by (i) the decrease in staff costs from
approximately RMB13.5 million in 2023 to approximately RMB12.5
million in 2024 resulting from dismissal; and (ii) the decrease in
professional expenses from approximately RMB7.1 million in 2023
to approximately RMB5.1 million in 2024.
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Selling and distribution expenses consist of (i) staff costs, (ii)
travelling expenses, (iii) depreciation, and (iv) entertainment
expenses. The Group's selling and marketing expenses increased
by approximately 31.2% from approximately RMB3.6 million in 2023
to approximately RMB4.7 million in 2024, mainly due to an increase
in equity-settled share option and award expense.

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss and use a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables, notes receivable and contract assets based on
historical expected credit loss rates of industry peers and aging for
groupings of various customers with similar loss pattern. The
Group's impairment losses on financial assets increased by
approximately 194.2% from approximately RMB10.0 million in 2023
to approximately RMB29.4 million in 2024 mainly attributable to
slower collection of overdue trade receivables that resulted in an
increase in the impairment allowance for trade receivables aged
over one year.

Gross (Loss)/Profit, (Loss)/Profit Before Tax and Net
(Loss)/Profit

SHE RO HEMS BE0E THA  ()ERMAX
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(E8])EX - BRBAT (BB RBFR
(B8 F5),#HF

Year Ended December 31,
BE+=-RA=1+—HILEE

2024 2023

—E-E —EC=F

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET ARBT T

Gross (Loss)/Profit (£8),/E5 (456) 83,827
Gross Margin ERN=X (0.5%) 19.0%
5G Business 5GET 6.1% 12.3%
Non-5G Business IESGETE (4.0%) 20.7%
(Loss)/Profit Before Tax MEBLAT(EE), BRI (70,426) 34,456
Net (Loss)/Profit (&5 1875 8E) 47 (77,527) 25,493
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The Group's gross (loss)/profit decreased from approximately
RMBB83.8 million in 2023 to approximately RMB(0.5) million in 2024
resulting from the decrease in gross margin from approximately
19.0% in 2023 to approximately (0.5%) in 2024. Such decrease in
gross margin in 2024 is mainly attributable to (i) intensified market
competition and uncertainty in macroeconomic conditions; (ii) a
relatively lower cooperation price to develop new customers, the
number of which accounted for approximately 63.6% of the total
number of customers in 2024; and (iii) a decrease in exports of loT
antennas to the United States, which had a high gross profit margin
of approximately 34.1% in 2023.

The Group recorded a loss before tax of approximately RMB70.4
million in 2024 as compared to a profit before tax of approximately
RMB34.5 million in 2023, resulting from the decrease in revenue
and the intensified market competition. The Group's net loss in
2024 was approximately RMB77.5 million, compared to a net profit
of approximately RMB25.5 million in 2023. Without taking into
account equity-settled share option and award expense for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, the Group's adjusted
net loss in 2024 was approximately RMB64.0 million, compared to
an adjusted net profit of approximately RMB36.0 million in 2023.
Such change in adjusted net loss in the first half of 2024 was mainly
attributable to the decrease in revenue and gross margin as a result
of intensified market competition and uncertainty in
macroeconomic conditions.

Non-HKFRS Measure

To supplement the consolidated financial statements which are
presented in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards, the
Group also presents the adjusted net (loss)/profit as a non-HKFRS
measure, which is not required by, or presented in accordance with,
HKFRS Accounting Standards. The Group believes that this non-
HKFRS measure facilitates comparison of operating performance
from period to period by eliminating impacts of equity-settled
share option and award expense. In addition, the Group believes
that this non-HKFRS measure provides useful information to
investors and others in understanding and evaluating the results of
operations in the same manner as the Group’s management and in
comparing financial results across the relevant periods. The use of
this non-HKFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool. As
such, it should not be considered in isolation from, or as substitute
for analysis of, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income or financial condition as reported
under HKFRS Accounting Standards. In addition, the non-HKFRS
financial measures may be defined differently from similar terms
used by other companies and therefore, may not be comparable to
similar measures presented by other companies.

EEENWRIT
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The Group defines its adjusted net (loss)/profit (non-HKFRS
measure) as the net (loss)/profit adding back equity-settled share
option and award expense. The table below sets out the adjusted
net (loss)profit (non-HKFRS measure) as of the dates indicated:

AEEREHRE(BRFR) N GEEEY
BHREENSTERFE) RER/ME AR
REAEE RO BE A HE R 1 SR SR 0 (B 1R0F
),/ A o TREHBEFMTAHNEIE
(BB AN CGFRBMHRELRTE)

Year Ended December 31,
BZ+=-A=+—HILLEE

2024 2023

—EC-mE ZE=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AR¥ETT

(Loss)/Profit for the Year FR(ER),/EF (77,527) 25,493

Adding: e

Equity-settled share option VARR e 45 5 ) B AR %

and award expense R& 1D S BhEE 13,525 10,521

Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit for the Year FRNKFAE(ERFEE) /47 (64,002) 36,014

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Time Deposits

Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits decreased from
approximately RMB33.2 million as of December 31, 2023 to
approximately RMB4.1 million as of December 31, 2024, mainly due
to the net cash used in operating activities of approximately
RMB27.0 million. The net cash used in operating activities is mainly
due to the loss before tax of RMB70.4 million, which was partially
offset by (i) impairment of trade and notes receivables of RMB28.0
million; and (ii) equity-settled share option and award expense of
RMB13.5 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Trade and Notes Receivables

The following table sets forth trade receivables and notes
receivable measured at amortized cost and impairment as of the
dates indicated:

EEENWRIT

EZRURIEREBRRE

TRFIIEEFR A HIHE 5 & WK0R ML s
HARANET 2R EEBIA NRIRE

As of December 31,
BE+=-A=t+—H
2024 2023
—BF —T=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Trade Receivables E 5 el s 294,083 321,254
Notes Receivable Measured at R A ETE N ENEE
Amortized Cost - 1,362
Impairment A (70,815) (42,785)
223,268 279,831

Both total trade receivables and net trade receivables experienced
a decrease as a result of overall business reduce in 2024, with total
trade receivables decreasing by approximately 8.5% from
approximately RMB321.3 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB294.1 million in 2024 and net trade and notes receivables by
approximately 20.2% from approximately RMB279.8 million in 2023
to approximately RMB223.3 million in 2024. The provision for
impairment amount grew by approximately 65.5% from
approximately RMB42.8 million as of December 31, 2023 to
approximately RMB70.8 million as of December 31, 2024, mainly
because both the absolute amount of trade and notes receivables
aged over one years and its proportion in total trade and notes
receivables as of December 31, 2024 increased as compared to
those as of December 31, 2023 resulting from slow collection.
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The following table sets forth the aging analysis of net trade and
notes receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance as of the dates indicated:

TREJHEMTERERNEZAHE SR
AN EWRE R F R N ERRE) Wik D
#r

As of December 31,

BE+-A=t—H
2024 2023
—E_NEF —E =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFIT
Within 1 Year 1R 29,862 191,340
1to 2 Years 15824 134,784 71,072
2to 3 Years 2E3F 54,348 11,205
3to 4 Years 3F4AF 4,005 5,022
4 to 5 Years 4Z 545 269 1,192
Total st 223,268 279,831

Net trade and notes receivables aged over one year increased from
approximately RMB88.5 million as of December 31, 2023 to
approximately RMB193.4 million as of December 31, 2024, mainly
due to slow collection.

Borrowing

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had interest-bearing bank
borrowings of RMB3.0 million (December 31, 2023: RMB5.0 million),
which were all denominated in RMB and with fixed interest rate.
The Group's total authorized credit facilities remained at RMB10.0
million, among which RMB7.0 million had not been utilized as of
the same date.

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio, calculated by total debt (including
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities) divided by
total equity, maintained at approximately 1.9% as of December 31,
2024, as compared to approximately 2.6% as of December 31, 2023,
mainly due to a decrease in total debt from approximately RMB6.9
million as of December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB3.9 million as
of December 31, 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure

The Group generated net cash flow used in operating activities of
approximately RMB27.0 million in 2024, as compared to
approximately RMB39.5 million in 2023. The net cash flow used in
operating activities in 2024 is mainly due to the loss before tax of
RMB70.4 million, which was partially offset by (i) impairment of
trade and notes receivables of RMB28.0 million; and (ii) equity-
settled share option and award expense of RMB13.5 million.

Net cash flow from investing activities amounted to approximately
RMBS5.7 million in 2024, as compared to approximately RMB50.4
million in 2023. The net cash flow from investing activities in 2024 is
mainly due to the disposal of a time deposit of approximately
RMBS5.7 million.

Net cash flow used in financing activities amounted to
approximately RMB2.2 million in 2024, as compared to
approximately RMB33.0 million in 2023. The net cash flow used in
financing activities in 2024 is mostly due to repayment of bank loans
of RMB5.0 million, which was partially offset by new bank loans of
approximately RMB3.0 million.

Capital expenditure primarily consisted of purchases of property,
plant and equipment and renovation expenses, which decreased
from approximately RMB2.5 million in 2023 to nil in 2024.

Charges on Assets

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any assets or
rights pledged (December 31, 2023: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (December 31, 2023: Nil).
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Foreign Currency Risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures and are subject to
foreign currency risk arising from fluctuations in exchange rates
between RMB and foreign currencies. As of December 31, 2024,
the Group had transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arose from changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities and exchange differences resulting from translation of the
financial statements of certain overseas subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not hedge or consider
necessary to hedge any of these risks. The Group will constantly
review the economic situation and the foreign exchange risk profile
and consider appropriate hedging measures in the future, when
necessary.

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group did not have any significant acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year ended
December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, none of each individual investment held
by the Group constituted 5% or above of the total assets of the
Group and there was no future plans for material investments or
capital assets.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

The following section sets out the biographies of current directors
and senior management the Company.

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chin Ching ("Mr. Ray Chan"), aged 41, is a technology
entrepreneur and investor born and raised in Hong Kong. Mr. Ray
Chan is the Chairman and CEO of the Company. Additionally, he is
the CEO and Co-founder of 9GAG, one of the world’s top three
social media platforms in the humor category based on traffic share
according to similarweb.com, with the mission to make the world
happier. He is also the CEO and Co-founder of Memeland, a Web3
venture studio building and investing in content, community, and
culture.

Mr. Ray Chan's entrepreneurial journey began in 2008 when he and
his Co-founders launched 9GAG. Today, the platform has a global
audience of 200 million across various social media channels,
including Instagram (56 million), Facebook (40 million), X (16
million), Threads (6.5 million), Pinterest (3.9 million), TikTok (2.8
million), and WhatsApp (1.8 million). 9GAG, with a global user base
and influence on internet culture, is an example of a technology
company from Hong Kong achieving global reach.

Driven by his vision and passion for blockchain technology, Mr. Ray
Chan founded Memeland in 2022. Despite turbulent market
conditions, Mr. Ray Chan has quickly led Memeland to become a
leader in Web3, creating Asia’s No. 1 digital collectible brand.
Memeland has adopted a new paradigm of building blockchain-
enabled social products that embrace internet culture and real-
world utilities. It has attracted major brand partnerships and, in
turn, enhanced community engagement and fueled business
growth.

Mr. Ray Chan’s X account (Username: 9GAGCEOQ) has 1.9 million
followers. He has been selected as one of the 50 most influential
people in crypto by Coindesk and one of the 30 most influential
Hong Kong people in blockchain by BlockTempo in 2024. He has
also been named NFT Now's NFT 100 in 2023, Prestige’s 40 Under
40in 2021, and Tatler's Gen.T Leaders of Tomorrow in 2018, among
other accolades. He frequently shares his insights and experiences
at universities and global conferences. Mr. Ray Chan has been
featured in top international media outlets, including CNN, CNBC,
Forbes, and The Wall Street Journal. The City University of Hong
Kong Press has recently published a book titled “Innovative
Attitude: 6+ Trailblazing Startup Founders,” which chronicles his
startup journey.
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Mr. Ray Chan currently serves as an Honorary Advisor to the World
Vision Hong Kong, a Board Member of the Hong Kong Genome
Institute, and a Member of the HKSAR Government'’s Steering
Committee on Prevention and Control of Non-Communicable
Diseases.

Mr. Ray Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 2006
with a Bachelor of Laws degree.

Mr. Ray Chan is the elder brother of Mr. Chris Chan.

Mr. Chan Chin Chun (“Mr. Chris Chan") aged 37, is a technology
entrepreneur and investor born and raised in Hong Kong. Mr. Chris
Chan is the Chief Product Officer of the Company, overseeing the
Group's overall product strategy. With over 17 years of extensive
experience in product design, his outstanding achievements have
been recognized in the industry. He was named to Forbes’ 30
Under 30 List in 2016, a testament to his influence in the internet
sector.

Mr. Chris Chan is also the Chief Product Officer and Co-founder of
the internationally renowned meme platform 9GAG. During his
university years, he co-founded the company with his partners,
leading product strategy and user experience. He played a pivotal
role in shaping the company’s mission, establishing core values,
and fostering corporate culture, successfully transforming it into a
global internet platform serving over 200 million users. Guided by
the mission to make the world happier, the company continues to
spread happiness and creativity. Additionally, Mr. Chris Chan co-
founded Memeland, a Web3 venture studio dedicated to exploring
innovative applications of blockchain technology in content,
community, and culture, actively advancing the experimentation
and growth of Web3 business models.

Mr. Chris Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 2009
with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Architectural Studies.

Mr. Chris Chan is the younger brother of Mr. Ray Chan.
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Mr. Kwong Kevin Tak Tsing (“Mr. Kevin Kwong"”) aged 44, is
the Chief Business Officer of the Company, overseeing the Group's
overall business strategy. With over 20 years of extensive business
and product development experience, his career spans Fortune 500
multinational corporations and high-growth startups, demonstrating
his cross-domain leadership capabilities.

Since 2019, Mr. Kevin Kwong has been the Chief Business Officer at
the internationally renowned meme platform 9GAG, leading
corporate strategic planning and successfully driving the group'’s
transition from Web2 to Web3. During his tenure, he spearheaded
business development and strategic partnerships for its Web3
venture, Memeland, significantly enhancing its business
performance. From 2018 to 2019, he served as the Head of
Marketing at OSL Group (Stock Code: 863), the world's first virtual
asset trading platform licensed by the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission (SFC). In this role, he helped formulate global
marketing strategies, effectively solidifying the company’s market
leadership in the virtual asset sector. Before this, he held various
management positions in product development and marketing at
multinational technology companies such as Microsoft and Yahoo.

Mr. Kevin Kwong graduated from the University of Waterloo
(Canada) in 2004 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Biology and
an Executive Master degree of Business Administration (EMBA)
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2010. He also holds a
professional certification from the Project Management Institute
(PMI), further attesting to his expertise in management.
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Mr. Lee Alexander Patrick (“Mr. Alex Lee") aged 44, is the Chief
Investment Officer of the Company, overseeing the Group's overall
investment strategy. With over 20 years of professional experience
in the financial sector, his expertise spans traditional finance
(TradFi), centralized finance (CeFi), and decentralized finance (DeFi),
with a particular focus on virtual asset management and asset
tokenization. He has demonstrated strong cross-domain integration
capabilities in corporate governance, venture capital, and asset
management.

Mr. Alex Lee was part of the founding teams that established Hong
Kong's first batch of licensed virtual asset trading platforms. He
held roles such as Deputy Chief of Staff at OSL Group (Stock Code:
863) and Head of Strategic Initiatives and Institutional Coverage at
HashKey Group. During his tenure, he contributed to licensing
strategies for global exchanges and OTC brokerage services,
established banking channels, developed client franchises, drove
fundraising initiatives, and forged strategic partnerships.

As an active early-stage investor, Mr. Alex Lee co-founded a
venture firm that led investor syndicates to seed, incubate, and
accelerate high-growth startups. He successfully facilitated multiple
exits or integrations with strategic partners, including OSL Group.
He is also an angel investor and strategic advisor for Web3 startups,
focusing on emerging sectors such as DeFi, memes, and music.

Before this, Mr. Alex Lee held key positions at top-tier global
financial institutions, including Credit Suisse, J.P. Morgan, Morgan
Stanley, and BOCI, where he provided strategic advisory services to
state-owned enterprises (SOEs), institutional funds, and ultra-high-
net-worth individuals (UHNWI), helping them connect with global
capital markets. Additionally, he has served as an Executive Director
and Independent Non-Executive Director for multiple Hong Kong-
listed companies, supporting audit and nomination committees.

Mr. Alex Lee graduated from Emory University (USA) in 2007 with a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and Music (Double Majors).
His unique professional background — combining analytical
precision with a creative perspective — continues to drive strategic
advancements in fintech.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Pui Sun Wesley (“"Mr. Wesley Ng"), aged 43, is the CEO
and Co-founder of CASETIFY, the global lifestyle brand that blends
technology, design, and culture. Bootstrapped in 2011, Mr. Wesley
Ng has grown CASETIFY into a worldwide leader, celebrated for its
collaborations with iconic brands, renowned artists, and
tastemakers. Under his leadership, the brand has expanded beyond
tech accessories into lifestyle categories like travel, while
championing sustainability through initiatives like Re/CASETIFY,
which focuses on reducing waste and promoting environmental
responsibility.

Mr. Wesley Ng is a passionate supporter of Hong Kong's creative
industries. He currently serves as a Member of the Mega Arts and
Cultural Events Committee under the HKSAR Government's
Culture, Sports and Tourism Bureau.

Mr. Wesley Ng graduated from the Queensland University of
Technology (Australia) in 2002 with a bachelor’s degree in
Communication Design, where he was honored with the
Outstanding Entrepreneurial Alumnus award in 2022.

Ms. Peng Cheng (“Ms. Sandy Peng"), aged 37, is the Co-founder
of Scroll, an active member of the Hong Kong Web3 community,
and a builder in the blockchain infrastructure space. Scroll is one of
the most highly anticipated zkEVM layer 2 solutions for Ethereum,
developed in collaboration with the Privacy and Scaling
Explorations (PSE) group under the Ethereum Foundation, working
on applying the latest cryptographic zero-knowledge proof
technology to scaling Ethereum. At Scroll, Ms. Sandy Peng leads
efforts across growth, operations, product development, and
ecosystem strategy. She brings extensive experience as both a
blockchain investor and operator, with a strong track record in
scaling open-source technologies to drive social and economic
impact.

Before founding Scroll, Ms. Sandy Peng held leadership roles
across the public and private sectors, including digital asset
investment, regulatory policy, and venture building. She previously
worked at the Securities and Futures Commission (SFC) of Hong
Kong, where she was involved in early-stage blockchain investing,
advised on policy development related to emerging financial
technologies, and held senior positions in consulting, gaming, and
capital markets.

Ms. Sandy Peng graduated from the University of Cambridge (UK)
in 2009 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Social and Political
Sciences and a Master of Science degree in Law and Society from
the London School of Economics (UK) in 2010.
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Mr. Siu Chi Wai (“Mr. Victor Siu”), aged 43, is the CEO of GCA
Professional Services Group. Since 2021, he has successfully led the
group to become a financial advisory and valuation services leader.
With over 18 years of professional experience in investment
banking, transaction advisory, and valuation, he was appointed in
2024 as a Director of the Business Valuation Board at the
International Valuation Standards Council (IVSC). He actively
contributes to the development of International Valuation
Standards (IVS) and plays a significant role in shaping global
valuation standards.

In corporate governance, Mr. Victor Siu serves as an Independent
Non-Executive Director for several listed companies, including
Reitar Logtech Holdings Limited (NASDAQ: RITR) since August
2024, Sanbase Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 8501) since
November 2023, and Magic Empire Global Limited (NASDAQ:
MEGL) since August 2022.

Mr. Victor Siu has a diverse professional background spanning
entrepreneurship, finance, and public service. From 2016 to 2020,
he founded and led Impressed, an innovative laundry startup in
Hong Kong, serving as its CEO. In 2015, he worked at UBS AG as a
Director, leading multiple public and private fundraising deals.
Between 2010 and 2014, he was part of Daiwa Capital Markets
Hong Kong Limited's Investment Banking Division, covering the
technology sector as Associate Director. From 2008 to 2010, he
worked as a Senior Analyst at GCA Professional Services Group.
From 2005 to 2008, he launched his career as a Financial Analyst
with Canada’s Ministry of Finance.

Beyond his corporate roles, Mr. Victor Siu also actively engages in
community service. Since 2020, he has served as Vice Chairman of
the Kwun Tong West Area Committee and, since December 2023,
as the Financial Controller of the DC Charity Foundation.

Mr. Victor Siu graduated from the University of Toronto (Canada) in
2005 with a Bachelor of Business Administration degree. He holds
the Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) designation and is a member
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Senior management is comprised of the executive Directors of the
Company (whose biographies are set out above) and Mr. Liu
Boyang (“Mr. Tony Liu”).

Mr. Tony Liu, aged 33, is the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, overseeing the group's financial management, capital
market operations, financing, investor relations, and corporate
governance functions. With over 13 years of professional
experience in the financial sector, Mr. Tony Liu has built a strong
reputation for his expertise in corporate finance, capital markets,
and strategic advisory across Greater China and international
markets.

Before joining the Company, Mr. Tony Liu served as the Deputy
Chief Financial Officer at Powerlong Real Estate Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 1238), where he played a pivotal role in driving
financial strategy, managing capital structures, and enhancing
investor relations. Prior to his tenure at Powerlong, Mr. Tony Liu
held the position of Director in the Investment Banking Division of
UBS AG in Hong Kong, where he led corporate finance initiatives
and advised high-profile clients across Greater China. Earlier in his
career, Mr. Tony Liu worked in the Global Capital Markets Division
at Bank of America Merrill Lynch, with roles in both Hong Kong and
London offices, further strengthening his global perspective and
cross-market expertise.

Mr. Tony Liu graduated from the University of Warwick in the UK
with a Bachelor degree in Accounting and Finance and a Master of
Business Administration (MBA) from the University of Chicago
Booth School of Business. His academic foundation, combined with
his extensive professional experience, equips him with the analytical
rigor and strategic foresight necessary to drive financial excellence
and innovation in the fintech era.
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on August
25,2021 as an exempted company with limited liability. The Shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on December
12, 2022 by way of Global Offering. The Company issued
36,000,000 Shares at an offer price of HK$2.73 per Share on the
Stock Exchange by the Global Offering. The net proceeds from the
Global Offering, after deducting the underwriting fees and
commissions and related expenses, was approximately HK$47.1
million.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITIES

The Group is a PRC provider for (i) data transmission and
processing services for loT applications and (i) telecommunication
equipment, serving a broad range of industrial customers. The
Group mainly provides customized data transmission and
processing services to customers in manufacturing, municipal
services and other industries in the PRC, and researches, develops
and sells telecommunication equipment. To a lesser extent, the
Group also generates revenue from provision of other services,
such as telecommunication equipment maintenance and
telecommunication consulting services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's business review for the year is set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this annual report. The Group's future business
development discussion is set out in the sections headed
"Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report. The key financial performance
indicators used in the Group's performance analysis for the year are
set out in the section headed “Five Year Financial Summary” in this
annual report. The Group's results for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the section headed “Consolidated Statement of

Comprehensive Income” in this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company in general meeting may declare dividends in any
currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended
by the Board. The declaration or recommendation of declaration of
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board. Even if the
Board decides to recommend and pay dividends, the form,
frequency and amount will depend upon the operations and
earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions and other factors of and affecting
the Group.

In deciding whether to recommend the payment of dividend to
Shareholders, the Board will take into account various factors,
including but not limited to, general business conditions, the
financial condition and results of operations, the capital
requirements and future prospects of the Group.

The payment of dividend is also subject to applicable laws and
regulations and the Company’s constitutional documents. No
dividend shall be paid otherwise than out of profits available for
distribution.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend and
vote at the 2025 AGM to be held on Friday, May 16, 2025, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
May 13, 2025 to Friday, May 16, 2025, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be
qualified for attending and voting at the 2025 AGM, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, May 12, 2025.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, consisting of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Gu Jiong (Chairman), Mr. Fong
Wo, Felix and Mr. Yang Hai, has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2024, including the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and has recommended for the Board's approval thereof.
There is no disagreement by the Audit Committee with the
accounting treatment adopted by the Company.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2024, the amount of reserves available for
distribution of the Company was approximately RMB162.5 million.

DONATIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
2024 (2023: nil).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The Shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange since December 12, 2022. The net proceeds from the
Global Offering, after deducting the underwriting fees,
commissions and related expenses, was HK$47.1 million (the “Net
Proceeds"”). The Group has utilized the Net Proceeds from the
Global Offering as set out in the section headed "Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The intended application of
the net proceeds as stated in the Prospectus and the actual
utilization of the net proceeds as of December 31, 2024 is set out
below:
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Expected
Unutilised Net ~ Utilized Net ~ Unutilized Net timeline for
Approximate Proceeds as of ~ Proceeds as of ~ Proceeds as of the use of
percentage of  Allocation of January 1,  December 31, December 31, unutilized Net
Purpose Net Proceeds  Net Proceeds 2024 2024 2024 Proceeds™""
HECR_MEF HECR-MEF HECRCQF
BHRENE -A-B tZA=t-R tZA=t-A EREABA
FEH 2EFE HAREA EBA HABA FREREFEN
ik BRES FEFE  FENERE  FESERE  FERERE RERER"
(HKS million) (HK$ million) (HKS million) (HKS million)
(BEET) (BEET) (BEET) (BBET)
Furthering research and development to
improve the Group's private 5G network
services
E—SHEUABRAEERSCERRY
¢ Recruit technology talents to expand the
Group's R&D team 37.2% 175 15.7 157 00 N/A
o BERRATMEAREEH MER
TEEHS
o Software licensing and purchasing
customized hardware equipment 11.7% 55 24 24 00 N/A
o BHRERBETHREMRE TER
Researching and developing industrial WLAN 15.7% 74 57 57 0.0 N/A
PETZRWLAN NER
Developing a common digitalization
foundation to further upgrade the Group's
Universal loT Platform 8.7% 41 00 00 00 N/A
FELARMEF AR E-—SHAAEE AER
BRANHAT A
R&D infrastructure upgrading 74% 35 30 30 00 N/A
TR AR R NER
Strengthening business development
capabilities 9.9% 47 18 18 00 N/A
R RHREE @R
Additional working capital and other general
corporate 9.3% 44 44 44 00 N/A
BINEERSREM—REE AER
Total 4.1 330 30 00
Azt
Note: B5E -

During the Reporting Period, the Net Proceeds had been used according to the
purposes as stated in the Prospectus, and there were no material change or

delay in the use of the Net Proceeds.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group's revenue generated from
the five largest customers of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB82.6 million, representing approximately 83.7% of the Group's
total revenue; and the revenue generated from the largest
customer of the Group amounted to approximately RMB30.8
million, representing approximately 31.3% of the Group's total
revenue. During the Reporting Period, purchases from the five
largest suppliers of the Group amounted to approximately RMB81.3
million, representing approximately 80.3% of the Group's total
purchases; and purchases from the largest supplier of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB29.9 million, representing
approximately 29.5% of the Group's total purchases. During the
Reporting Period, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of
the Directors, their close associates, or Shareholders (which, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the number of
issued Shares) had interests in the five largest suppliers or
customers of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to
the Latest Practicable Date were:

Executive Directors

The following directors resigned on April 1, 2025:
Dr. Chen Ping (Chairman)

Ms. Wang Zheshi

Mr. Feng Yijing

Mr. Wang Jun

The following directors were appointed on April 1, 2025:
Mr. Chan Chin Ching (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Chin Chun

Mr. Kwong Kevin Tak Tsing

Mr. Lee Alexander Patrick

Independent Non-executive Directors

The following directors resigned on April 1, 2025:
Mr. Gu Jiong

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix

Mr. Yang Hai

The following directors were appointed on April 1, 2025:
Mr. Ng Pui Sun Wesley

Ms. Peng Cheng

Mr. Siu Chi Wai
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers
all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from November 11, 2022, which may be terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by
not less than three months' notice in writing served by either party
on the other.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract/letter
of appointment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
was not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Below is the change of Director’s information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

Mr. Feng Yijing was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Amlogic (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (E¥ &5 (-8) BiHrAE
[R/AA]) (stock code: 688099), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, with effect from September 2, 2024.

Mr. Feng Yijing has ceased to be an independent non-executive
director of DaFa Properties Group Limited (KZEHE S B AR A7)
(stock code: 6111), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, with
effect from June 6, 2024.

Mr. Gu Jiong has ceased to be the chief financial officer of CMC
(Shanghai) Investment Management LLP (3£ A Xt (£)8) I8 & EIE
Rl (BIRA&%) ), where he was responsible for the overall

financial and capital operations of the company, with effect from
July 4, 2024.

With effect from April 1, 2025, Dr. Chen Ping, Ms. Wang Zheshi, Mr.
Feng Yijing, Mr. Wang Jun, Mr. Gu Jiong, Mr. Yang Hai and Mr.
Fong Wo, Felix tendered their resignations as Directors of the
Company. With effect from April 1, 2025, Mr. Chan Chin Ching, Mr.
Chan Chin Chun, Mr. Kwong Kevin Tak Tsing, Mr. Lee Alexander
Patrick, Mr. Ng Pui Sun Wesley, Ms. Peng Cheng and Mr. Siu Chi
Wai were appointed as Directors of the Company. For further
details, please refer to the announcement dated April 1, 2025.

Save as disclosed above and in this annual report, there was no
other information of Directors which shall be disclosed under
Paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules
during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

On November 11, 2022, each of the Group’'s Controlling
Shareholders (each a “Covenantor”
“Covenantors”) has given an irrevocable non-competition

and collectively, the

undertaking in favor of the Company (for itself and for benefit of
each of the members of the Group) under the Deed of Non-
competition pursuant to which, each of the Covenantors has
irrevocably, unconditionally and severally undertaken with the
Company that, among others, with effect from the Listing Date and
for as long as the Shares remain listed on the Stock Exchange and
the Covenantors are individually or collectively with any of their
respective close associates interested directly or indirectly in not
less than 30% of the then issued Shares (the “Restricted Period”),
each Covenantor shall not, and shall procure that their respective
close associates will not:

(i) save for engaging in the Restricted Business (as defined
below) through the Group, directly or indirectly, whether on
its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any
person, carry on, develop, invest in, engage in, participate
or be interested in or acquire or hold any right or interest in
or otherwise be involved in any business (whether as owner,
director, operator, licensor, licensee, partner, shareholder,
joint venture, employee, consultant, agent or otherwise) in
competition with or likely to be in competition with the
existing business carried on by the Group in the PRC and
any part of the world (the “Restricted Business”);

(i) directly or indirectly take any action which constitutes an
interference with or a disruption of the Restricted Business
including, but not limited to, (a) soliciting the Group's
customers, suppliers, employees or personnel of any
member of the Group; (b) inducing or soliciting any person
to induce any competition or suspension of the business of
the Group; and (c) engaging in any business or activity on its
own account or jointly with any person, that uses any trade
name or trademark (registered or non-registered) of the
Group, or any name of the Group that is used in association
with the Group’s business or activity at intervals, or any
fraudulent imitations (except for circumstances in which the
Group is involved); and/or

(iiiy  without the prior consent from the Company, make use of
any information pertaining to the business of the Group
which may have come to their knowledge in the capacity as
the Controlling Shareholders for any purpose of engaging,
investing or participating in any Restricted Business.
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Each of the Covenantors also undertakes to procure that, during
the Restricted Period, any business investment or other commerecial
opportunity within and/or outside the PRC relating to the Restricted
Business (the “Business Opportunity”) identified by or offered to
the Covenantors and/or any of their close associates (the
"Offeror”) is first referred to the Company in the following manner:

(i) the Covenantors are required to, and shall procure their
close associates to, refer, or procure the referral of, the
Business Opportunity to the Company, and shall give written
notice to the Company of any Business Opportunity
containing all information reasonably necessary for the
Company to consider whether (a) the Business Opportunity
would constitute competition with its core business and/or
any other new business which the Group may undertake at
the relevant time, and (b) it is in the interest of the Group to
pursue the Business Opportunity, including but not limited
to the nature of the Business Opportunity and the details of
the investment or acquisition (the “Offer Notice”) within 30
business days of identifying the Business Opportunity; and

(ii) the Offeror will be entitled to pursue the Business
Opportunity only if (a) the Offeror has received a written
notice from the Board declining the Business Opportunity
and confirming that the Business Opportunity would not
constitute competition with the core business of the
Company, or (b) the Offeror has not received the notice
from the Board within 20 days from the receipt of the Offer
Notice, provided that the principal terms by which the
Offeror subsequently pursues the Business Opportunity are
substantially the same and are not more favorable than
those made available to the Company; if there is a material
change in the terms and conditions of the Business
Opportunity pursued by the Offeror, the Offeror shall refer
to the Business Opportunity as so revised to the Company
again in the manner as set out above as if it were a new
Business Opportunity and that the terms of such pursuance,
whether directly or indirectly, shall be disclosed to the
Company and the Directors as soon as practicable.

Upon receipt of the Offer Notice, the Company shall seek opinions
and decisions from the Board (other than Directors who have a
material interest in the matter) as to whether (a) such Business
Opportunity would constitute competition with the Company'’s core
business, and (b) it is in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole to pursue the Business Opportunity. Any
Director who has material interest in the Business Opportunity shall
abstain from voting at, and shall not be counted towards the
quorum for, any meeting or part of a meeting convened to consider
such Business Opportunity.
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Notwithstanding the aforesaid, the non-competition undertaking as
set out above shall not prevent the Covenantors and their
respective close associates from holding or being interested in a
direct or indirect shareholding interest of not more than 5% of the
issued shares in a company listed on a recognized stock exchange
and engaged in any Restricted Business provided that the relevant
Covenantors and/or their respective close associates do not control
the majority of the composition of the board of directors of that
company.

The Company has received confirmations from each of the
Covenantors confirming that they have complied with the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition during the year
ended December 31, 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status
of compliance and confirmed that the Controlling Shareholders
have complied with all such non-competition undertakings during
the year ended December 31, 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus, none of the Directors
had any interest in any businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, there were
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business, to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which any of the Directors or an
entity connected with the Directors or the controlling shareholders
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not enter into any
contract, other than the contracts of service with the Directors or
any person engaged in the full-time employment of the Company,
whereby any individual, firm or body corporate undertakes the
management and administration of the whole, or any substantial
part of any business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTEREST AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required to be (i) notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (i) entered
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the Model Code, were as follows:
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Mr. Feng Yijing® Beneficial owner 4 5913416 5913416 2.63%
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Mr. Wang Jun® Beneficial owner - 3,184,487 3,184,487 1.42%
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Notes:

1. The calculation is based on the total number of 225,000,000 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2024.

2. Dr. Chen Ping, an executive Director, is the spouse of Ms. Wang Zheshi.
Therefore, Dr. Chen Ping is deemed to be interested in any Shares held
by Ms. Wang Zheshi by virtue of the SFO.

3. Howkingtech Holding Limited is directly held as to 56.80% by Ms. Wang
Zheshi. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Wang Zheshi is therefore deemed to
be interested in any Shares in which Howkingtech Holding Limited is
interested.

4. Ms. Wang Zheshi is interested in 8,902,097 share options granted to her
under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 8,902,097 Shares.

5. Mr. Feng Yijing is interested in 5,913,416 share options granted to him
under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 5,913,416 Shares.

6. Mr. Wang Jun is interested in 3,184,487 share options granted to him

under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 3,184,487 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as of
December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be (i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) entered in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As of December 31, 2024, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company, pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long Position in the Shares

Name

BB A

Capacity/
Nature of interest

a1 REME

Howkingtech Holding Limited
Howkingtech Holding Limited

Ms. Jin Yan?
G Lot

Shanghai Jinyuan Changfu Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (“Shanghai Jinyuan”)m

LEERRELEEEARLE
(BRAE)( LsER)Y

Shenzhen Huixin Qianhai Equity
Investment Enterprise (LLP)
(“Huixin Qianhai")”

RYEEAERERECE(ERER)
(BRI

Ningbo Huixin Zhiyuan Investment
Management Partnership (LLP)
("Ningbo Huixin")”

ERECHERRETEAMLE
(BRE&%)([BRER]"

Ningbo Xinhui Qianhai Equity
Investment Co., Ltd.

("Ningbo Xinhui”)®

EREEEREREERAR
([BREE])Y

Ms. Xie Xiongqingw
BigELL

Mr. Ye Xiang”
EMEE

Ms. Ban Lifeng"

Rzt

Beneficial owner

ESBEAA

Interest of controlled
corporation
SEHEE RS

Beneficial owner

ESBEAA

Interest of controlled
corporation

R AR S

Interest of controlled
corporation

R AR S

Interest of controlled
corporation

e R I g

Interest of controlled
corporation
REHEE RS

Interestin controlled
corporation
REHEE RS

Interestin controlled
corporation
SRR A EERS

RGBT E
Approximate
percentage of
Number of interest in the
Shares Total Company
EEDEERN
RZER #ct BARSH
121,124,579 121,124,579 53.83%
121,124,579 121,124,579 53.83%
14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%
14,214,780 14,214,780 6.32%




Notes:

1. The calculation is based on the total number of 225,000,000 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2024.

2. Howkingtech Holding Limited is directly held as to 43.20% by Ms. Jin
Yan. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Jin Yan is therefore deemed to be
interested in any Shares in which Howkingtech Holding Limited is
interested.

3 Huixin Qianhai holds 99.99% interest in Shanghai Jinyuan as the sole
general partner. Therefore, Huixin Qianhai is deemed to be interested in
any Shares held by Shanghai Jinyuan by virtue of the SFO. Further,
Ningbo Huixin holds 1.04% interest as the sole general partner of Huixin
Qianhai, whose sole general partner is Ningbo Xinhui holding 1.00% in
Ningbo Huixin. As such, by virtue of the SFO, each of Ningbo Xinhui,
Ningbo Huixin and Huixin Qianhai is therefore deemed to be interested
in any Shares in which Shanghai Jinyuan is interested.

4. Ms. Xie Xiongging holds 34.72% interest in Huixin Qianhai as a limited
partner, and each of Mr. Ye Xiang and Ms. Ban Lifeng holds 49.50%
interest respectively in Ningbo Huixin as a limited partner. Ningbo
Xinhui is also owned as to 50% by Mr. Ye Xiang and 50% by Ms. Ban
Lifeng. As such, by virtue of the SFO, each of Ms. Xie Xiongging, Mr. Ye
Xiang and Ms. Ban Lifeng is deemed to be interested in any Shares in
which Huixin Qianhai is interested.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
below, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debenture of, the
Company or any other body corporate during the year ended
December 31, 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
below, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreement during the year ended December 31, 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is
given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has maintained appropriate liability insurance for its
Directors and senior management.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Summary of terms

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share

Option Scheme approved and adopted by the written resolutions

of all Shareholders of the Company passed on November 11, 2022.

The Directors confirm that the terms of the Share Option Scheme

comply with the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing

Rules.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward to Eligible Persons (as defined in
paragraph (b) below) for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group
and for such other purposes as the Board may approve from
time to time.

Who may join

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible
persons (being any director or employee (whether full time
or part time), consultant or advisor of the Group who in the
sole discretion of the Board has contributed to and/or will
contribute to the Group) (the "Eligible Persons”) to
subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum number of Shares

(i) The maximum aggregate number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company, must not, in aggregate,
exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue
from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company if this will result in such
limit being exceeded.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Subject to paragraphs (c)(i), (iv) and (v), at the time of
adoption by the Company of the Share Option
Scheme or any new share option scheme (the “New
Scheme”), the aggregate number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme, the New
Scheme and all schemes existing at such time (the
"Existing Schemes"”) of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of the
Shares in issue as of the Listing Date (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit").

For the purposes of calculating the Scheme Mandate
Limit under paragraph (c)(ii), Shares which are the
subject matter of any options that have already
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant
Existing Scheme(s) shall not be counted.

The Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed by
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general
meeting, provided that:

° the Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall
not exceed 10% of the total number of issued
Shares as of the date of Shareholders’
approval of the refreshment of the Scheme
Mandate Limit;

o options previously granted under any Existing
Schemes (including options outstanding,
cancelled, or lapsed in accordance with the
relevant scheme rules or exercised options)
shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the limit as refreshed; and

o a circular regarding the proposed refreshment
of the Scheme Mandate Limit has been
dispatched to the Shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the matters
specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

As of the date of this annual report, the total number
of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 22,350,000 Shares, representing 9.11% of
the issued Shares as of the date of this annual report.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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(d)

(v) The Company may seek separate approval from the
Shareholders in the general meeting for granting
options which will result in the Scheme Mandate
Limit being exceeded, provided that:

o the grant is to Eligible Persons specifically
identified by the Company before the
approval is sought; and

o a circular regarding the grant has been
dispatched to the Shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the matters
specified in, the relevant provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and rules, in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum number of options to any one individual

No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person (the
“Relevant Eligible Person”) if, at the relevant time of grant,
the number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all Options (granted and proposed to be granted,
whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) to the Relevant
Eligible Person in the 12-month period expiring on the date
on which an offer of the grant of an option under the Share
Option Scheme is made to the Relevant Eligible Person
would exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue at
such time, unless:

J such grant has been duly approved, in the manner
prescribed by the relevant provisions of Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules, by ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders in general meeting, at which the
Relevant Eligible Person and his associates abstained
from voting;

o a circular regarding the grant has been dispatched to
the Shareholders in a manner complying with, and
containing the information specified in, the relevant
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

o the number and terms (including the Subscription
Price) of such options are fixed before the general
meeting of the Company at which the same are
approved.
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(e)

()

Price of Shares

The subscription price for a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme (which shall
be payable upon exercise of the option) shall be a price
solely determined by the Board and notified to all Eligible
Person and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of offer to grant option (the
“"Offer Date"”), which must be a business day; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer to grant
option (provided that the new issue price shall be used as
the closing price for any business day falling within the
period before the listing Shares where the Company has
been listed for less than five business days as of the Offer
Date); and (iii) the nominal value of the Share. A
consideration of RMB1.0 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of an option or options.

Time of exercise of option

Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations, the Board may in its
absolute discretion when offering the grant of an option
impose an y conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation
thereto in addition to those set forth in the Share Option
Scheme as the Board may think fit (to be stated in the offer
letter) including (without prejudice to the generality of the
foregoing) qualifying and/or continuing eligibility criteria,
conditions, restrictions or limitations relating to the
achievement of performance, operating or financial targets
by the Company and/or the grantee, the satisfactory
performance or maintenance by the grantee of certain
conditions or obligations or the time or period before the
right to exercise the option in respect of all or any of the
Shares shall vest provided that such terms or conditions shall
not be inconsistent with any other terms or conditions of the
Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt, subject
to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine as
aforesaid (including such terms and conditions in relation to
their vesting, exercise or otherwise) there is no minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and no performance target which need to be
achieved by the grantee before the option can be exercised.

(e)

(f)
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The date of grant of any particular option is the date on
which the offer relating to such option is duly accepted by
the grantee in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
An option may be exercised according to the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by
the grantee (or his personal representatives) before its
expiry by giving notice in writing to the Company stating
that the option is to be exercised and the number of Shares
in respect of which it is exercised provided that the number
of Shares shall be equal to the size of a board lot for dealing
in Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple
thereof. Such notice must be accompanied by a remittance
for the full amount of the subscription price for the Shares in
respect of which the notice is given. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the
Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be
exercised more than 10 years from the date of grant. No
option may be granted more than 10 years after the date of
approval of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to earlier
termination by the Company in general meeting, the Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years from the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme by Shareholders by resolution at a general meeting.
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Details of movements of the share options granted under the Share

Option Scheme during the Reporting Period are as follows:
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Outstanding
Closing price options Outstanding
immediately as of options as of
Exercise  priortothe  January 1, December Exercise
Grantees Date of grant Price grant 2024  Granted Exercised Canceled Lapsed 31,2024 period™
BE-goRE HE-ECRE
-A-A tZR=t-8
BERAAN  HATEN HATREN
ARA RHiAA g kwE BRE EBRY B BEE EXX BRE emt
(HK$/share)  (HK$/Share)
(Sk#n)  (Bk#xn)
Directors
gz
Ms. Wang Zheshi ~ March29,2023 156 154 - 8902097 - - - 8902097 March29,2024t0
March 28, 2033
TEIRL Z3ICF “RoMESACTARE
ZAZthAH ZRZZEZACTA
Mr.FengYiing  March29,2023 156 154 - 5913416 - - - 5913416 March 29,2024 t0
March 28, 2033
RERRE ZICF “ECPMEZACTHAZ
ZAZtNR i S e 1
Mr. Wang Jun March29,203 1.5 154 - 3ea4y - - - 3184487 March 29, 2024 to
March 28, 2033
Itk ZEICF “RoMESACTARE
ZAZthA ZE-ZE-ACT\H
Otheremployee ~ March 29,2023 156 154 - 4,500,000 S - 150,000 4,350,000 March 29, 2024 to
participants March 28, 2033
HfpeR2aE _T_=F ZBCME=A-TARE
ZA=thA ZE==EZAZ1)\R
Total 22,500,000 - - 150,000 22,350,000
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Note:

Subject to the vesting conditions as stated in the respective letters of grant of
the grantees, the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme will be
vested to the grantees in three tranches within three years from the date of grant
as follows:

In respect of the grant to the grantees (except Ms. Wang Zheshi, Mr. Feng Yijing
and Mr. Wang Jun)

(i) one-third of the share options granted to each grantee will be vested at
any time upon the expiration of 12 months from the date of grant;

(if) one-third of the share options granted to each grantee will be vested at
any time upon the expiration of 24 months from the date of grant; and

(iii) one-third of the share options granted to each grantee will be vested at
any time upon the expiration of 36 months from the date of grant;

In respect of the Grant to Ms. Wang Zheshi, Mr. Feng Yijing and Mr. Wang Jun

(i) 7,402,097, 4,413,416 and 1,684,487 of the share options granted to Ms.
Wang Zheshi, Mr. Feng Yijing and Mr. Wang Jun, respectively, will be
vested at any time upon the expiration of 12 months from the date of
grant;

(ii) 750,000 of the share options granted to each of them will be vested at
any time upon the expiration of 24 months from the date of grant; and

(iii) 750,000 of the share options granted to each of them will be vested at
any time upon the expiration of 36 months from the date of grant.

The number of options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme mandate as of the adoption date and the end of the
Reporting Period were 22,500,000 and nil, respectively.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme of the Company
during the Reporting Period divided by the weighted average
number of Shares in issue (i.e. 215,306,534 Shares) is approximately
0.10.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is seven years and
eight months.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme on May 16, 2023.
The objectives of the Share Award Scheme are: (i) to recognize the
contributions by certain eligible participants and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and (i) to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group. More details are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated May 16, 2023.

Summary of terms

Eligible participants include: (i) any employees of the Group; (ii) any
employees of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
associated companies of the Company; and (iii) any persons who
provide services to any members of the Group on a continuing or
recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which
are in the interests of the long-term growth of the Group, provided
any such person is not a connected person of the Company.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the
board of directors of the Company, the share award scheme shall
be valid and effective for a term of ten years commencing on May
16, 2023 after which no further awards will be granted.

Subject to the Share Award Scheme rules, awarded Shares may be
(i) purchased on the Stock Exchange; or (i) accepted and received
from any significant shareholder or any party designated by the
Company. Once purchased or received, the awarded Shares are to
be held directly or indirectly by the trustee for the benefit of the
selected participants under the trust until they are vested, on and
subject to the terms and conditions of the share award scheme
rules and the trust deed.

The Board shall not make any further grant of award such that the
total number of Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme will
exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as of May 16,
2023. On the basis that the total number of issued Shares as of May
16, 2023 was 225,000,000 Shares, the aforesaid 10% limit represents
a total of 22,500,000 Shares. The maximum number of Shares
awarded to a selected participant under the Share Award Scheme,
which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect
of all awards granted to such person (excluding any awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the respective scheme(s)), shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company in any
twelve-month period.
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Subject to the Share Award Scheme rules, the Board may, at its
sole and absolute discretion, select any eligible participant for
participation in the Share Award Scheme as a selected participant
and determine the number of Shares to be awarded.

Details of movements of the awards granted under the Share
Award Scheme during the Reporting Period are as follows:

RIBEDRBAEHRA  EESSHBBAEY
REETEEEMNAER2REERETLHE
E2RRNERFTE  YEEERTORNEK
B o

R SRS B TR 1 SR R B oy 2
BT

Closing price  Outstanding Outstanding
immediately  awards as of awards as of
priorto  January 1, December 31,
Grantees Date of grant Purchase Price the grant 2024  Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed 2024 Vesting period
HE HE
“EomE “3oRE
SESME  -A-BA t=A=t-A
AEA RiLAH BEE kmE  AOERE 2 BRE  BAE  SEE  BAM  HAGERR BEH
(HK$/share)  (HK$/Share)
(Bk#n)  (Bkdxn)
Five highestpaid ~ November29, 001 090 - 634182 6394182 - - Nil NjATee
individuals 04 fel et
n4EeEHAL  ZTomET-A 6394182 6,394,182 T TER™
:_‘_HE (B3 GiE7)
Employee November29, 001 090 - A2791 4262791 - - NIl AN
participants 2024 el e
Ess8% “TomET-A 4262791 4262791 T FER
:“’j‘ta (i) (Hix2)
Total 10,656,973 10,656,973 - - Nil
Notes: FI5E
1. The fair value of the awards at the date of grant was 0.90. 1. HEVRRH A BRI ATEAR0.90
2. The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before 2. i 7 B2 4 SR 3R 8 B HA A ey pn A T U (B
the dates on which the awards were vested was 0.90. #0.90 ©
3. All 10,656,973 Shares granted on November 29, 2024 were vested on the 3. R-ZE_NWNE+—A=-+thBEHOFAE

same day.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of awards
granted under the Share Award Scheme during the Reporting
Period divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue
is 0.05.

The number of awards available for grant under the Share Award
Scheme mandate as of beginning and the end of the Reporting
Period were 22,500,000 and 11,843,027, respectively.

The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is eight years and
one month.

10,656,973 XA E R H 57 ©

RIREEIR - RIRA D SRR T 2R A 52 E) 5
K AT RE B TT IR0 B B B DARR 7 &9 pn e F 19 2K
£0.05 °
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AR B/ 82BN E 8 5 51 & 22,500,00017
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Bin RESET BN RIGFR R N\FE—@EA -



SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the Latest
Practicable Date, the Directors confirm that the Company had
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities (including sale of
treasury Shares (as defined under the Listing Rules)) during the
Reporting Period. As at December 31, 2024, there were no treasury
Shares (as defined under the Listing Rules) held by the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata basis
to its existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On January 24, 2025 and January 27, 2025, Home Office
Development Limited (the “Offeror”) and the Company jointly
announced the acquisition of shares in Howkingtech International
Holding Limited by Home office development limited; and the
mandatory unconditional cash offers to acquire all the issued shares
of and to cancel all outstanding share options of the Company
(other than those already owned and/or agreed to be acquired by
Home Office Development Limited and/or parties acting in concert
with it) (the "Offer”). The Offer opened for acceptance on March 7,
2025 and was declared unconditional in all respects on March 7,
2025. The Offer closed on March 28, 2025. Immediately after the
close of the Offer, the Offeror holds, controls or has directions over
157,773,400 shares of the Company, representing approximately
64.31% of the total issued shares of the Company immediately after
the close of the Offers and as at March 28, 2025.
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For full details of the Offer, please refer to the joint announcements
dated January 24, 2025 and January 27, 2025, the composite
document dated March 7, 2025, the joint announcement dated
March 7, 2025, and the joint announcement dated March 28, 2025
jointly issued by the Offeror and the Company.

As at March 31, 2025, a total of 20,319,513 share options granted
under the Scheme had been exercised and allotted pursuant to the
rules of the Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant events that
required additional disclosure or adjustments occurred after the
end of the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
transactions with any of its connected persons, which was not fully
exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under the Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions undertaken during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 31 to the financial statements which do
not constitute connected or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied
with all relevant disclosure requirements as set out in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company is committed to environmental protection and
promoting corporate social responsibility and best corporate
governance practices for the sustainable development and take up
responsibilities as a corporate citizen. The Company has established
ESG policies in accordance with the standards of Appendix C2 to
the Listing Rules, which outlined, among others, (i) appropriate risk
governance on ESG matters, including climate-related risks and
opportunities; (ii) identification of key stakeholders and the
communication channels to engage with them; (iii) ESG strategy
formation procedures; (iv) ESG risk management and monitoring;
and (v) the identification of key performance indicators, the relevant
measurements and mitigating measures.
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Details of environmental policies and performance of the Company
will be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report contained in this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2024 have been audited by Emst & Young,
the auditor of the Company, who shall retire and, being eligible,
have offered itself for re-appointment as auditor of the Company at
the 2025 AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the 2025 AGM to
reappoint Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company and to
authorize the Board to fix the remuneration of the auditor. There
was no change in the auditor of the Company in the preceding
three years.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not been and were
not involved in any non-compliance incidents that led to fines,
enforcement actions or other penalties that could, individually or in
the aggregate, had a material adverse effect on the Group's
business, financial condition or results of operations. As far as the
Company is aware, the Group had complied with all relevant laws
and regulations in the jurisdictions which the Group operated in
during the Reporting Period in all material respects.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's business may be materially and adversely affected by
these risks, including the following:

Risk Category
[ B 2 Bl

Risk Description
[ Bz i 3t

FRRBRRIEERER

AEENEBKAIZERBNERTHZE
BIELAT&IE

Response to Risk

Bz e

Operational Risk

BB

The Group’ s business relies on a limited
number of customers, and the Group derived
a significant portion of the revenue from the
Group's top five customers. Changes of
customer demand, business model or
strategy may result in the decrease or loss of
business with customers, which could
adversely affect the Group's business.

The Group is exposed to credit risk related to
defaults of the Group's customers. If the
relationship between the Group and any of
its customers is terminated or deteriorated,
or if any of the Group's customers experience
financial difficulties in settling the trade
receivables, the risks for uncollectible
receivables may increase, which might cause
working capital pressure for the Group and
could adversely impact the Group's financial
condition and results of operations.
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The Group has been actively improving
the after-sales service system, protecting
the rights and interests of customers
to maintain good customer relations,
and continuing to upgrade technology,
exploring a variety of diversified
business development models to
achieve the diversified development of
our businesses.

By establishing a risk control plan, the
Group will strengthen the management
of trade receivables, conduct daily
supervision, and continue to track long
- aging trade receivables to ensure that
risks are effectively controlled.
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Compliance Risk

BRER

The Group could be adversely and materially
affected as a result of business activities with
certain entities or in countries or territories
that are, or may become subject to, sanctions
administered by the United States, the
European Union, the United Kingdoms, the
United Nations, Australia and other relevant
sanctions authorities. Moreover, in the event
that any of the Group's customers becomes
subject to economic sanctions in the
future, the Group may have to discontinue
its business with such customers due to
potential economic sanctions liability risks. In
such events, the Group's financial results may
be materially and adversely affected.

If any of the Group's subsidiaries, employees
or other persons engage in fraudulent,
corrupt or other unfair business practices or
otherwise violate applicable laws, regulations
or internal control policies, the Group
could become subject to penalties, fines
or sanctions and in turn adversely affect its
reputation, business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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The Group has established a dedicated
team of overseas risk control to monitor
the uncertainties and potential risks
in relation to international sanctions.
Moreover, to ensure the effective
implementation of the internal risk
management policies and procedures,
the Group will review and update on a
regular basis based on the opinions of
the external legal counsel. The Group
will strategically choose cooperative
partners to avoid possible sanctions
risks, for instance, the Group has ceased
its business activities in Russia after
completing all existing contractual
obligations with its Russian distributor in
December 2022.

The Group will strengthen training on
anti-corruption, anti-money laundering,
anti-bribery and other relevant laws and
regulations for the Group’s directors,
senior managers and employees.
The Group will also implement a
whistleblowing mechanism to encourage
staff to report any irregularities to
their supervisors and if their legitimate
concerns are ignored or covered up,
they can report directly to the Board.
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Response to Risk
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Strategic Risk

BRRK 2

The Group operates in a rapidly evolving
industry and 5G technologies are expected
to be iterated by the next generation of
cellular technology. If the Group fails to
continuously upgrade its technology and
provide useful services and products that
meet the expectation of its customers, the
Group may fail to retain existing customers
and attract new customers in sufficient
numbers, and its business, results of
operations and prospects may be materially
and adversely affected.

The Group's success depends on the
continuing efforts of its senior management
and key personnel. If the Group’s senior
management is unable to work together
effectively or efficiently or if the Group fails to
recruit, retain, train and motivate its
personnel, the Group's business may be
severely disrupted, and its financial condition
and results of operations may be materially
and adversely affected.
AREBEZERENITRAMNAR - SCRIMTEA
AR — R E B BRI © MAEEEE
NER T AR R SR A PR A o A0 IR AT R
BEFPMEE - BIA AR AR AR P IR S
RABEBHINES XK - KERERAIR
AREEXBEBRTHNZE -

REBNKDBETHSREEABMEIEET
HRNE S - MAKESREEEEEAUK
BRI AIE - HIHAKEELRBE - BE - 17

IINABEAER - AIAREEEB RIS X EI&
ETE  AMBAAREEXEREXEE

RN E -

The Group will continue to capture
the market opportunities, increase
investment in research and development
and make other efforts in response to
market constant changes.

The Group will improve its continuing
ability to attract, recruit and train a
large number of qualified employees
and retain existing key employees.
What's more, the Group will strengthen
the training of employees, especially
the research and development team,
improve the salary and welfare system,
and provide effective promotion
channels, so as to motivate the
employees of the Group.
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ESG Risks Resources and energy management e Promoting energy conservation

Ineffective resources and energy management
may potentially lead to excessive energy
usage, which leads to increased operational
cost.

Impact of climate change

Climate change may lead to risks of more
frequent extreme weather conditions.
Such risks may lead to potential injuries
to employees and increase in insurance
premiumsinlongterm.

Regulators may require increasing disclosure
on emission and tighten environmental
regulations. Such transitional risks which
require the Group to move towards a
sustainable business model may potentially
lead to impacts such as increased operational
costfrom change of operational practices.

Human capital development

Insufficient resources devoted towards the
development of human capital, such as lack
of training and promotion opportunities, may
put the Group atrisk of higher turnover rates
and less competent workforce in medium and
long term. Strong human capital development
and the provision of competitive remuneration
packages may improve employee retention
and dedication.

Privacy and data security

Ineffective privacy and data protection policies
may put the Group atrisk of data leakages and
privacy breaches, leading to increased costs
in addressing regulatory actions, involving
litigations and potential fines, and also
potentially tarnishing the Group "s reputation.

and environmentally friendly
procurement practices

Reviewing and accounting for
greenhouse gas emissions and
resource consumptions

Performing overall waste
management in the office and
testing and assembly center

Providing work arrangements for bad
weather and/or extreme conditions
to mitigate potential injuries to
employees and increase in insurance
premiums

Monitoring the changes in ESG-
related regulatory requirements and
market trend

Assessing the energy consumption
proportion in our operation
comprehensively and optimizing the
corresponding procedures

Providing employees with
competitive social benefits and
career development opportunities

Requiring employees to sign non-
disclosure agreement to mitigate
privacy and data security risks
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group acknowledges the importance of stakeholders to
corporate development and pays attention to matters of concern
to stakeholders including the government and regulators,
shareholders and investors, employees, business partners,
suppliers, customers and the community. The Group maintains
transparent and bilateral exchange, strengthens mutual trust and
cooperation and establishes harmonious relationship with its
stakeholders. The Group’s success depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise the Directors and senior
management, employees, customers and suppliers.

For details on the Group's relationships with employees, customers
and suppliers during the Reporting Period, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report contained in this
annual report.

By order of the Board
Howkingtech International Holding Limited
Chen Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, March 31, 2025
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is the Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
Report (the “"Report”) for the year 2024 of Howkingtech
International Holding Limited (“Howkingtech”, the
“"Company” or “We"). During the preparation of this Report,
we endeavor to ensure the information contained herein
meet the requirements of the Stock Exchange in terms of
materiality, quantification, balance and consistency, and to
give a comprehensive interpretation of the Company’s
management approach and performance with respect to ESG
in 2024. We will continue to strengthen our information
collection for the Report to enhance our performance and
disclosure on sustainability, and facilitate the understanding
and communication between stakeholders and the Company
such that the Company shows improvement continuously.

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The policy documents, statements and information
contained in the Report cover the Company and its
subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities for the
relevant period, and its content covers a period from
January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 (the “Reporting
Period”) and its scope is consistent with that of the annual
report of the Company. For details of the Company's
compliance with the requirements of the corporate
governance, please refer to the “Corporate Governance
Report” in the Company’s annual report for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

STANDARD OF THE REPORT

This Report has complied with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) as set forth
under Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong and discloses the Company’s
contribution to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)
of the United Nations (UN).
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DATA SOURCES AND RELIABILITY DESCRIPTION

All data in the Report are extracted from the Company'’s
statistical reports and relevant documents. The Company
undertakes that there is no false information or misleading
statements herein and is liable for its authenticity, accuracy
and completeness.

The Board and senior management team of the Company
monitor the content of the Report to ensure that it is free
from any false information, misleading statements or
material omissions.

This Report has been approved for publication by the Board
on March 31, 2025.

THE BOARD STATEMENT

In order to carry out the sustainable development concept
and integrate it into the Company’s business development,
the Company has established a top-down ESG management
structure. As the highest ESG decision-making body of the
Company, the Board is fully responsible for managing and
supervising matters relating to the Company’'s ESG,
reviewing and approving ESG policies, performance and
information disclosures, directing and reviewing the
formulation of the main ESG objectives of Company. The
Environmental, Social and Governance Working Group
("ESG Working Group”) is responsible for assisting the
Directors in implementing the agreed ESG policies,
objectives and strategies, making objective evaluation on
the results and effectiveness of the ESG work on a regular
basis, participating in the identification of key ESG risks and
the formulation of countermeasures, and making
recommendations and reporting to the Board regarding the
ESG matters. All relevant business departments are
responsible for daily ESG management and report to the
ESG Working Group on a regular basis to ensure that all
work is carried out properly.

During the Reporting Period, the Company attached
importance to the expectations and demands of all
stakeholders, identified and evaluated important ESG issues
through interviews and questionnaires. The evaluation
results were discussed and reviewed by the Board and
disclosed in the sections headed “Communication with
Stakeholders” and “Analysis on Material Issues” in this
Report. Material issues have also been responded to in the
Report, including the Company’s risks in relevant ESG issues
(including risks on climate change).
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RESPONSES TO THE ESG REPORTING PRINCIPLES
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Materiality principle: In compliance with the relevant
regulatory requirements such as the ESG Reporting Guide
of the Stock Exchange, the Company communicated and
exchange ideas with various stakeholders by different
means, with benchmark analysis on the issues disclosed in
the ESG reports of its industry peers and conducted an in-
depth analysis of the highlights and characteristics of the
Company to ultimately identify and select its material issues
on sustainability.

Quantification principle: In accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide, the Company has prepared statistics for
and summarized the quantitative key disclosure indicators
under the entire “environmental” scope and part of the
“social” scope, disclosed the standards and methods used
in the statistics and calculation, and formulated the
environmental and social performance table so that key
indicators could be evaluated and verified.

Balance principle: The Report aims at reviewing and
disclosing the Company’s management practices and
performance in ESG from an objective and fair perspective.

Consistency principle: Compared with the annual report of
the Company, the Report made no significant adjustment to
the scope of disclosure, and the standards and
methodologies used in calculating the quantitative key
indicators were consistent to ensure the comparability of the
content of the Report.
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ESG Governance Structure

The Company has established an ESG governance
structure comprising the Board, the ESG Working
Group, and business and functional departments to
meet the needs of the Company in sustainable
development, strengthen the research and planning
of sustainable development strategies, and improve
its capability to deal with and manage ESG risks.

Top decision-
making level
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Organization and
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Figure: ESG governance structure of the Company
| NAIESGEVRLE

The Board, comprising four executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors, is the
Company’s top decision-making body on ESG-
related matters and is fully responsible for the
Company'’s ESG policies, initiatives and performance.
The Board is responsible for guiding the
management and supervision of ESG-related issues,
assessing the Company’s key ESG risks and the
effectiveness of response measures on a regular
basis; reviewing the materiality assessment and
prioritization of ESG issues and reviewing the
Company'’s performance on ESG-related objectives;
reviewing and approving ESG disclosures to ensure
compliance with the requirements and expectations
of regulators and investors at all times.
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The ESG Working Group consists of three members,
namely the General Manager, Finance Manager and
Administration Manager, and is primarily responsible
for assisting the Directors in implementing the
agreed ESG policies, objectives and strategies. Its
responsibilities and authorities mainly include:
developing and reviewing the Company’s ESG-
related visions, goals and strategic plans and
monitoring their implementation on an ongoing
basis; assessing the importance of key ESG risks and
how the Company adapts its operations to climate
change and developing countermeasures;
formulating the Company’'s ESG-related
management system; reviewing the Company'’s
annual ESG report to ensure that it is prepared in
accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guidelines and complies with
the relevant regulations; conducting objective
assessment on the results and effectiveness of the
Group's ESG efforts periodically and making
recommendations and reporting to the Board of
Directors.

Each of the relevant business and functional
departments is responsible for developing and
implementing relevant strategies in their respective
areas in accordance with the ESG management
policies and objectives formulated to ensure the
implementation of all work, and shall regularly report
to the ESG Working Group.

ESGI{E/NERARKLIE - MK
BRITHGB =2 BHEK X
2B EWBEENITIHEMNESG
WK - BIERRR - ABERER
TERE  BIFTREBERAFESG
HHRARER - B1R - BRRSARE] -
FEEREARERBR :
ESGRA%E A & Z 1 M A B an{a
RIBRIRE(CHBERRS - L
TEMEEEE ¢ HIR] A RESGHAR
BIEHE ¢+ FHEARESGHFE R
& BEREREBGRE HERk
ERMEEIDEEITEEH
HE - EHEBESG TR
REGMIMEEITEBNE - A
MEFEEITREEER

BERG N BEAEPFIARERIE
HEMESGERTEH MEF - 5
IHERAITEEBREANE
FARES - HERKGZEITESRS
Bz - WiEMRESG T E/MEME
-



7.2

BERN R ERERERA T
SR MEER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Awards 7.2

In August 2023, with its technological innovation and
market-competitive products and services,
Howkingtech was awarded the title of “2023 National
specialized, Sophisticated, Unique and Innovative
little giant Enterprises (2023F EBIR K B EFH/NE
ATREE)", becoming a representative outstanding
enterprise in the industry.
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Picture: the Company obtained certification of “2023 National specialized, Sophisticated,
Unique and Innovative little giant Enterprises”
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ACTIVE SUPPORT FOR THE SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT GOALS

The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) aim to
guide countries around the world in addressing
development issues in the three major areas of economy,
society and environment, and to encourage all parties,
including enterprises, to actively contribute their own efforts
to achieve sustainable development. Based on its business
characteristics, Howkingtech has identified a series of
priorities within the SDGs framework that are most important
to the development of the Company and has integrated
ESG management concepts to guide the Company’s ESG
efforts.

While pursuing business growth, we actively seek the
common development of commercial value and social value,
and have taken a number of actions in the identified key
areas of SDGs as set out below.
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Our action

EMWTE

3 Good health and
welling

R 42 FrEafg ik

Ensure healthy lives and
promote well-being for
all at all ages
REENEEL
REBFHRBRARRE
At

We care about the health and safety of our
employees, and pay medical insurance and
arrange annual physical examinations for
them

BAEIEITRENZ S  RETHMER
Rbe - WHEBE THERSERR

We provide badminton and table tennis
venues for employees, and encourage
employees to participate in hiking and
marathon activities
BMAEITREPERREEIRSM - 58
BI2MNEERERINES

4 Quality education
BEHE

Ensure inclusive and
equitable quality
education and promote
lifelong learning
opportunities for all
BREET ATHEZ
HE  REZREER
FEBEkS

We provide pre-job and on-the-job training
programs for employees, focusing on the
improvement of employees’ professional
ability

BMAE TIRHENANERIEIIEE - T&
B TRCREE THRTT

5 Gender equality
VRIS

Achieve gender
equality and empower
all women and girls
BREMATE - BFE
fm - wEE

We firmly oppose gender discrimination,
create a fair and equitable work environment
and provide equal employment and
promotion opportunities for women
HPRRRE MRS - EEQFRENT
TERIR - RIHRE T EORENEHS

We prepared a gift for each female employee
on International Working Women'’s Day

RAINRE LB AT LB TEFED
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UN Sustainable
Development Goal

BEETRHERR Description of Goals Our action
BE ERETP BRMNTE

8 Decent working and
economic growth

BELENEEER

Ensure decent working
in all regions and drive
regional economic
growth

MR R BeE LRI
HEREHLEER

We are actively involved in local development,
provide quality jobs in the industry and
drive economic development
HPERSE SR REEENTEME
i - (R

We are committed to building a
competitive career development platform
and offering reasonable remuneration and
benefits

BABONTERBF NINBEERTE
TR A IR F B H

We have established and improved
the recruitment and leave system, and
employees are encouraged to use annual
leave and time off in lieu to balance work
and life

B R2HE - KREIE - XBEIE
FAF RANFRA T 8 TR A4 )%

9 Industry, innovation
and infrastructure
EEZ - BIETAERS
BSdiid]

Build resilient
infrastructure,
promote inclusive

and sustainable
industrialization, and
foster innovation
BEABEREKXEEN
EMRE - (RERR
BAMMAFHETSE
b - HEEHEIFT

We insist on innovation and development,
constantly expand our R&D department,
and focus on the R&D and production
of communication equipment and 5G
technology

B2 RFEIF SR - TETRAMESF] - &
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We actively promote the implementation
of 10T in industrial and smart city scenarios
to improve the efficiency and security of
data transmission

BB ES AT LRNE ST EE
RS RIEN - REBEBEERNORENEZE
i
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Description of Goals

SRS P

RB5 > HERERRSE

Our action

EMWTE

10 Reduced inequality
HOTTE

Reduce inequality within
and among countries
WAOBERAEMBER 2
AR

We advocate gender equality and equal
employment, prohibit the employment
of child labor, and protect the legitimate
rights and interests of employees
BIEEMRTEMTEERE  LIERAE
I REEI&EER

We actively participate in public welfare
activities and care for the education
development in rural areas
HMBER2EARES  BEANDRHE
TR

We have established and improved our
staff training system, so as to support the
development and growth of our employees
R ETHIIBR  HETITHR
BR R

12 Responsible
consumption and
production

BRIHEENEE

Ensure sustainable
consumption and
production patterns
RSB EBMAE
B

We have clarified the quality management
process and system with the suppliers, and
set up the product inspection and recall
mechanism to ensure the product quality is
qualified

R EmAE T HEERRIEMER -
WHRETEmRBRNEOARBES - BRE

mEEAR

We have established a data security
management system to ensure customer
privacy

BMREY T BB 2ERERRERTFEL

We continue to perfect pre-sale and
after-sales services, strengthen the
communication mechanism with customers,
and maintain customer satisfaction
BT ETEERMEERT  TEREP
B gEEPREE
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UN Sustainable
Development Goal
BEETRHERR
BiE

Description of Goals

SRS P

Our action

EMWTH

13 Climate action

RIRTTE

Take urgent action to
combat climate change
and its impact
RREITHRERR

B RAYE

We actively create a low-carbon and
environmentally friendly corporate culture
and raise the environmental awareness
of employees, for example, reminding
employees to save water and electricity
in office area, and setting the operating
temperature of air conditioners
BREEERRENEEE - REE TR
REH - ERLERIERE TEKENE -
RIEZEFEFRE

We identify and actively respond to climate
change risks

a8k ) SR M 52 L B I 7 15 B

16 Peace, justice and
strong institutions
A~ IEFERA
s

Promote peaceful

and inclusive societies
for sustainable
development, provide
access to justice for

all and build effective,
accountable and
inclusive institutions at
all levels

BIZEAY - BERHHE
DAMRER FHEER - &
FrE ANEBRESRF A% -
EEREIBX - BF
e BB

We strictly abide by and operate in
compliance laws and regulations
RAIBARETERER - aRKE

We have established a bottom-up anti-
bribery, anti-fraud and anti-corruption
reporting mechanism

BRI THETZ2EHRES RERK - R
I8 B 2R SR A
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STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION

Howkingtech attaches great importance to the participation
of stakeholders and is committed to building a good
cooperative and mutually beneficial relationship with
internal and external stakeholders. The Company actively
establishes and expands communication channels, maintains
regular and close communication with stakeholders such as
the government and regulators, shareholders and investors,
customers, employees, suppliers and partners, society and
the public, listens and responds to the expectations and
demands of different stakeholders, and integrates them into
the daily operation and future planning of the Company, in
a bid to join hands with stakeholders to achieve win-win
results and maximize comprehensive value.

Stakeholders
Az AR

Expectations and Demands

M EERR

RB5 > HERERRSE

Nz E T BE

BEMEREEGRNSAETNSHE
HARBEARINEFIZAAET KRABER
HHEIERER - EERE - AREERE
VEARBARE  RENBRREE
W RRREREE KPP BT f#t
EEEAERMNY LS AREN R
FHEREL BRAR - (AR
TNRMzERE T R AR - WK H
BARRHAEELMRKARET - 1B
FH@mEREN ERARESRABESRA
1t -

Communication and Response

BEEEE

Government and

Regulators Pay tax in accordance with the laws
BURT & B2 & s Commerecial ethics
BTIRERER
FOEMNR
EEER

Comply with laws and regulations

Compliance operation

Full tax payment

Daily communication and reporting
BREE

RN

BEBBERE

Shareholders and investors  Financial results
R RIEEH Information disclosure
Business development
Communication channels
IS E

EERE

EBEE

BIRERE

Regular financial and operational
disclosures

Regular convening of general meetings

Company official website

Investor relations email

EHBBEM G MEEER

EHARRRAE

NEEH

REEREEM

Customers Information security
B Product quality
Quality services
ERRE
EmEE

BE RS

Protection of customer information
and privacy

Product quality testing and recall
mechanisms

Customer service system

REE P = BB

7E '8 SR AN 3 [l 4 I

=P R%G R
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Stakeholders
AzABRE

Expectations and Demands

M EBRERR

Communication and Response

BEEEE

Employees
BT

Labor rights

Salaries and benefits Health
and safety

Career development and
advancement

YT HEm

HERN

REEZ 2

BEEREE

Staff Handbook

Internal meetings and notices Safe
work environment

Annual staff physical examination

Performance evaluation

Training and team building activities

8T F

nEbEZ B E

ZEITHERE

FEET R

R

1 N B A E)

Suppliers and partners

HEm kA tERH

Integrity in cooperation
Commerecial ethics and reputation
HEEE

FEREREEE

Supplier evaluation

Daily meetings and communication

Perform contracts in accordance with
the laws

R ETE

HEgSREEE

WERBITAR

Society and the public
HERAR

Support social welfare

Engagement in community
development

SEE a /N

20K R ER

Encourage staff to engage in volunteer
services

Focus on community investment and
contribution

sxfEh B T2 HERE RS

BT At IR A B S B
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ANALYSIS ON MATERIAL ISSUES

In order to accurately locate the focus of ESG management
practice and comprehensively deepen the practice of ESG
issue management, Howkingtech has established an analysis
process for material issues to define material ESG issues that
are relevant to the sustainable development of the Company
and stakeholders.

Identifying material issues: a total of 22 material issues
that can affect the Company’s business development, or
affect the stakeholders’ assessment and decision-making of
the Company are identified by conducting external policy
research, benchmarking analysis of industry peers, industry
development trend survey, referencing to other relevant
documents and taking into account the Company’s
development strategy, business characteristics and its own
characteristics.

Conducting interviews and market research: third-party
experts and consultants are invited to conduct relevant
work, prepare and distribute questionnaires on ESG
substantive issues and conduct benchmarking of ESG
performance of comparable companies in the industry
combined with interviews with the Company’s management
and other stakeholders.

Determining the rank of issues: importance of issues are
ranked based on the stakeholder evaluation and
questionnaire data, and we confirm the rank of issues for the
year after submitting to the management for review.

Verification and reporting: materiality analysis matrix is
established according to the assessment results of the issues
and we emphasized the disclosure in the report on issues of
high importance.

During the Reporting Period, we analyzed and sorted the
materiality of ESG issues from two dimensions, being the
importance to the Company’ operation and stakeholders,
through policy research, enterprise interviews,
questionnaires and industry benchmarking to gain full
understanding of expectations and suggestions from each
stakeholder, and to provide basis for the formulation of
long-term ESG development strategy. We identified 16
issues of high importance, 2 of moderate importance and 4
of low importance in total.

10

RB5 > HERERRSE

ERMEREDN

RIBETMUESGEREENEE - 2|
FCESGHBEEER @ REREEY
TEAMFEBEONRIZ - UREERF]
MANZABE L I RHEZERYBEHRENE
RMESGEE o

BB E AR B RIMNEEERT
% AITEESN  TERRBERAE
REMEMBEXIHE  BAARER
BB - EBEFHRNASEE  #RIFE
NABERE  AFENDBERETHA
AR AR R E AR B KA 2218 -

MR AR MERT : AFEE =TER
BEEFFARA[TIE  RELER
ESGEEMEERAETRE - HaBEAQH
EIEE - HibMaEmmaFawk 0 I
HEITRITHEA LA RIESGREMEIRET
1

BESEHF - RIENSERETHER
FAEAEHE REREERREIR
F RRXEEBENR  BEANFEZ
BT

BRBERE  RESEFEERERE
REDITERE - HBNSEERHER
WETETERWE -

HBEHA - RAABBRARERTE - &
Xahek - MERE - ITEHE - A
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High Importance to the operation of the Company Very high
HARBEEE HES

et

Figure: materiality matrix of Howkingtech

DRBRHREA AR E

Materiality No. Issue name
EEH Fik  REEE

Issues of high importance

REERHE

Intellectual property protection ANz%E (R &

Product quality and reliability & &/E &R A 5%

Information security and privacy protection {58 % & MR (RE
Compliance operation &REE

Innovative research and development Bl

Legal and compliance employment &/A&#H AT

Employee health and safety B Ti#RET S

Employee relations and engagement 5 TR EaZE
Responsible procurement 8 & {THE

Supply chain sustainable development management 4 fESE A] 15 4 25 R & 18
Product life cycle Management /& fa 4 #n B HIE 12

Employees training and development 8 TiF3)| R

Digital transformation #{F{L#Z#l

Business ethnics RIZiEE

Anti-corruption and integrity building RE)5BRZRER

Risk and crisis management A& R fEH#E I

Issues of moderate importance
EEEHE

Community investment and public welfare L& & B A

Energy management &EIRE IR

RESEZZE
Water resources management /K& REE
Waste management EXEY)EE
Greenhouse gas emissions management & % 5 B8 BERUE 12

Issues of low importance o Climate change adaptation ¥ RIEE L
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11 A ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 11 ARBERE

11.1 A1 Emissions 11.1 A18ERYD

Howkingtech’s own production activities produce
relatively low emissions. In terms of exhaust, the
assembly and testing center in Shenzhen will produce
an insignificant amount of exhaust from soldering tin
during simple assembly and welding of the loT
antenna, which is finally collected and treated by the
ventilation pipe before discharging. However, after
the business stopped in the second half of the year,
it no longer had an impact on the environment. In
terms of sewage, the sewage discharged by the
Company includes domestic sewage only, which is
discharged into the sewage pipe network and then
treated uniformly by the park where the Company is
located. The Company outsources the production of
telecommunication equipment to OEM manufacturers,
therefore, it has little impact on the environment.

In terms of solid waste, only an insignificant amount
of waste is generated during the Company's office
operation, and non-hazardous waste mainly includes
office waste, domestic waste, etc., which are
collected according to the waste classification
principle of the place of operation and then delivered
to the city's sanitation department for disposal.
Hazardous waste mainly includes waste lamp tubes,
waste ink boxes, etc., which are collected and
disposed of by the park property company or
equipment provider.

The Company strictly complies with various laws and
regulations such as the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste ( {FFZEEAR
HMBEERREYSARENAE) ) and the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution ( {##E A B FMEI K
y5Ma%) ), actively reduces various types of
waste generated in its operation and effectively
manages various types of waste to ensure proper
disposal. During the Reporting Period, the Company
did not violate the above-mentioned laws and
regulations.

BRI E SN EERBELN
BERER/ - BERIE - R
AR 5 SRS AR DA BT B A R
RETTR ZHEEMERBRES -
SHEHELBRVENER W &
RIEBREBR - WERIEREE
Mo A ETHEFETER KB
THERBEERTE - BKT
H - ARIBFRE KR ER LR
AR EATSKERER B R
BIFTEEREITR —RIE - A7
HRBERENEEIMGERINN
THER  AMHRRFER

/N o

EREERYIE @ RERNES
BRETEELBIERRY - &
EEEDIZB/EMANN - £
B - RGBS P A RIR
DRRRAMEREZ BT R AR
FRE AEEEVNIECREE
BE  BEEF  KHERYE
HRERE TR o

NEBRET(PEARLNE
B8 BE M5 AR EF AR M
E ARG R EE)E
BEARER - BBHDEZ B
BRAELNSEERY - THE
BABERYMETARURIE AR
HRAZERE - MEHA - 2
AR R DR BERMBR
Ko
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Table: Waste Generation in 2024
xR CECNFEEYEEER

Indicator Unit 2024
5= By —Eo s
Total hazardous waste generation kg 0.93
BEBRRVELHEE TR

Hazardous waste generation intensity kg/RMB million of revenue 0.009
BEEREMELTE Fr/AAREBEETKRA

Total non-hazardous waste generation' kg 4.21
BEERVELEE T

Non-hazardous waste generation intensity kg/RMB million of revenue 0.043
BERRYELTE T/ ARBEETKRA

Non-hazardous waste mainly includes domestic waste.
According to the estimation of the total amount of
domestic waste and the ordinary resident population of
the two cities in the “Announcement on Environmental
Prevention and Control of Solid Waste Pollution of
Nanjing in 2023" ({20234 1 5 E R 55 2B HE05
AEB2A%)) and the “"Announcement on
Environmental Prevention and Control of Solid Waste
Pollution of Shenzhen in 2023" ({20234 %I E 22 k&
W5 RRIEN AE B A%)), and taking into account the
office hours, 0.5 kg/(person/day) is adopted as the
Company’s domestic waste estimation coefficient for
the year.

The Company is not involved in the direct production
of components, the greenhouse gas ("GHG")
emissions are therefore mainly from the carbon
dioxide emitted in the Company’s daily operations
and the use of vehicles. In particular, the two main
sources of GHG emissions of the Company are the
direct emissions from vehicle gasoline combustion
and indirect emissions from the use of electricity. The
Company actively responds to the call of the state for
energy conservation and emission reduction, adheres
to the concept of low-carbon and sustainable
development, emphasizes the improvement of
energy efficiency, and uses energy-saving equipment
and measures to reduce the GHG emissions
generated in the Company'’s daily operation.

! He@mEREEMETBeEEE
B AR IEC2023 G R T E
BEMSARENAREEA
YR 2023F RN TH E B EE
ERREWREERAL)RE
SERR A ERMTEEADG
B WREEERARER - K
Ao5F= (A R)EAA
FIRNEEEERIR LG RS -

REATERAEHNEREE
HREREHREZRA AT
AREELRAREFRPHRN =
Sk - ARME - ARRER
BIMOMEEERRZITENR
BB EBERARERE G
HEVREEHR - ARIERERER
KENBERPFROSR A - EHRHEHK -
AR ERIES - RFREAIR
Tt EFETRERR B AN HE - LA
DRRAREEBELETELNRER
B -



BERN R ERERERA T
SENEER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R A EREREE

Table: GHG Emissions in 2024
R ZCECNERERBEERER

Indicator Unit 2024
it B —EpE
Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions' Tons of CO,e 13.75
#HE—: RERBEEYNE —RiEE
Intensity of direct GHG emissions Tons of CO,e/RMB million of
revenue 0.14
BERBEEFNETE —RtiEE
AE%E%%%A
Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions’ Tons of COse 105.45
#E— REREHEEHNE’ —AiEE
Intensity of indirect GHG emissions Tons of CO,e/RMB million of
revenue 1.07
BERBREENETE B tiEE
ARBBHETHRA
Total GHG emissions Tons of COse 119.20
RERBEINES —AfiEE
Intensity of total GHG emissions Tons of CO,e/RMB million of
revenue 1.21

RERBEIIREE

—EmEE
AE%E%%%A

Direct (scope 1) GHG emissions is calculated based on
the IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas
Inventory 2006, 2019 Revised Edition ({IPCC20064 &
FREREBEBEIRME2019/85TR) ) issued by the
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).

Indirect (scope 2) GHG emissions is calculated based
on the Average Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors of
China’s Regional Power Grid in 2011 and 2012 (£2011
FM20125hHRFEEFTH _KBHEBERF))
issued by the National Development and Reform
Commission.

HEE(BE-)REREHENE
RERFEAREZECENEZE
2 (IPCC) F 3 H<IPCC2006F
HZRE = RS EIERE2019(E
FTHROEITIZE -

s (SHE ) RERELHRE
KEFERERMNEEZ S 3%
#EIC2011 FEF2012F B [&
HEMTH S EE R A
TOEITIZE ©
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11.2 A2 Use of Resources 11.2 A28 REH

The energy consumption of the Company in its
operational process mainly comprises electricity,
gasoline and water resources. Since the Company is
mainly engaged in the research and development of
hardware and software, which do not involve in mass
production activities, the Company does not use or
consume a large number of packaging materials. In
addition, the Company has low consumption of
energy as it has small number of staffs and only uses
gasoline energy during office hours and when using
cars. The water source of the Company is municipal
water supply, and it has never experienced any
problems in sourcing water. In its daily operations,
the Company strictly complies with relevant laws and
regulations such as the Environment Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China ( {# % A R FE
IRIE(R#E)L) ), Energy Conservation Law of the
People's Republic of China ( {(FR#E A R HFEERAIAE
JRJ%) ) and Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution ( {0
= ARKENBEATEPAE) ), and is committed to
the protection of resources and the improvement of
resource utilization efficiency, and actively practices
the concept of green and sustainable development.
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not
violate the above-mentioned laws and regulations.

NAEELBRETEANERE
EREN - RHBNUEKER -
AR R F EREF M RGO
BT TP RRENEER
8 WARNMERSOHREARER
Yo HN ARAFREIHE
W B EERA RSN R ERRE
ERTHBEIR - B RIBERIERE
BERIE - RRIAKRIRA B
7K A SKRERGE AR 7R _E X A AA]
& - EAEELT - QRS
(P EARRMBRERE
) (R EARKMBEIEH LR
YRR EARKMBEIKF RN
SR)VEMBERER - BN
BIR IR B E R AR 2
Tt BEBEITAE RS EERE
Do MEMA - RREER Bt
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Table: Energy Consumption in 2024
x| ZE-NFRERERMBR

Indicator Unit 2024

EE B —Z—pE

Electricity purchased kWh 172,148.50

SNEE ) FEAF

Gasoline Liter 6,235.27

i nF

Comprehensive energy consumption’ Tons of standard coal 14.06

fRERERE MEAR B

Energy use intensity Tons of standard coal/RMB 0.14
million of revenue

BEREREE WERE AR BB ITRA

Conversion of electricity for energy consumption  kWh 214,881.81

RRTEEE F R A

Conversion of electricity for energy consumption
intensity
RERENTEEERE

kWh/RMB million of revenue 2,179.77

TERE AREEETRA

The comprehensive energy consumption is calculated
based on the General Principles for Calculation of the

=]

Comprehensive Energy Consumption ({4R& BEFERTE
#BAI)) (GB/T 2589-2020) issued by the State
Administration for Market Regulation (IR TiZEEE
B4 F) and the State Standardization Administration

BERFECEERZES)

! RARRKRERRMBEES
BRABMEREZELEEREZE
SHBENGRA R ETE R
(GB/T 2589-2020) #1712 & ©

Table: Water Resource Consumption in 2024

® I CECOFKERERER

Indicator Unit 2024
BiE B —E-E
Total water consumption Ton 1,023.00
BRKE A

Total water consumption intensity Ton/RMB million of revenue 10.38
BRI E Mg, AR EETTRA

Table: Packing Materials Consumption in 2024
R CENFEEMBERER

Indicator Unit 2024
Eiot= By —E-MF
Plastic packaging Ton 0.02
PR U7

Carton packaging Ton 0.14
Han% 8

Expanded polyethylene Ton 0.05
PRI W
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11.3 A3 The Environment and Natural 11.3

Resources

Since the Company is principally engaged in research
and development and does not involve massive
production activities, the possibility of substantial
impact on the environment and natural resources in
the course of daily operations is minimal. As the
Company expands its scale and diversifies its
business types, the Company has always been
committed to integrating the concepts of
environmental protection and natural resource
protection into its daily operations, keeping close
attention and due consideration to environmental
and resource issues to avoid creating substantial
impact on them.

The Company recognized the importance of
complying with ecological environmental protection
laws and regulations. In order to fulfill the
responsibilities and obligations of ecological
environmental protection in accordance with the
laws, take actions to prevent and control
environmental pollution and ensure the stable and
up-to-standard discharge of pollutants, the Company
has completed the discharge registration of fixed
pollutants and accepted the inspection of ecological
and environmental protection and public supervision
according to laws.

[B] R 15 BIR HHT B R I3

Hic#wS : 91440300MA5G8YD6E9C001W

ASRERRAREIR

HRRREB T ERME - IR
BRARREEERE - FHitAER
FELBRETHRERARER
EREEETZENA R - BB
ENCIP O 0b R 2INE kil
L% - REBRBAONKRRER
ERRARERRENETHAR
AEREEET  RELHRERE
REENZ I EEMAEEE
Nt B HERBEEERE -

NALRZIE 2B <7 A BBIRIBR
EERERNEZMN - BKE
BITHERERIBRESE TR
FEUE DA IRIR 5 - 25
PYIETEERHER - RAEIETTK
B SRRPESER - fOEES
ARREBERERENTEARE
B o

BRI Dk BE T AKR501
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Picture: Receipt of the discharge registration of fixed pollutants of the Company
C RRIEES RS E L E#
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In addition to complying with relevant environmental
laws and regulations and properly protecting the
natural environment, the Company also actively
advocates the environmental concept of green and
low carbon, which has been incorporated into the
daily management and operation of the Company,
and is committed to achieving the goal of
environmental sustainable development. In 2024, the
company continues to implement the concept of
energy conservation, regulate the conservation of
water, electricity and paper, improved relevant
reward and punishment mechanism, and called on
employees to implement green office measures by
sending internal notices, posting environmental
protection signs and other specific means.

Picture: Poster for water conservation

KRB EER

Picture: Sign for electricity conservation

BN EE R

RB5 > HERERRSE

fé% &1 E*Bfﬁf&iﬁ}f{%&/ﬁﬁ
HEREBARIEI  NAElE
%ﬂﬂa% i@ﬁﬁmﬁ’ﬁa%i@a :
IEPNARRHEERREE
o ﬁﬁﬁf\kﬁf&fﬁ—ﬁﬁ—rly,\%:
7B 1z _g_ﬂlﬁ UNGIF
BEITEIREEE & %E%ﬁﬁﬁ ’Jﬂ%ﬁ s
HE - Af17E T T HBEE
ML - WIRB IR NIRRAD
RANRREEZHSHEFANR
BETEREHZCWATENE

SSEIC20°CRNGIE;
HFE26°CRNAE;

FHRFDAEMET N RALN.

1LPALWSILRATR, LR IE;
LEXKMREHWRT, RAWABMAHL;
IFETASRERCHSRETRER,

ARE. fTRN. REONSDLHRE, KOTEAEXEN;
S.AURRERMARAT. TWATRN;
CRMRIOETRAN, AWARION;

g T
XANUROE, BHARRT. XEWS;

A
4

Picture: Poster for electricity conservation
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Picture: Sign for paper conservation
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B #HEREREE

In order to standardize the Company’s own
environmental behavior and process, and fulfill its
corporate social responsibility to protect the
environment, the Company’s operating places all
passed the 1SO14001:2015 (Environmental
Management System) certification to ensure that the
raw materials, production processes, processing

BTREARBHFMNRIRITAM
IR BITRERBEODLEM
BT RAIMEEL BB
|so14oo1~2015(i§t%%}_ﬂaﬁ%§)
RFE - BIRARIEEFERNEM
B EETE - MTAEAKRE
mRERAMBERENARER

methods used by the Company for production and
the use and post-use disposal of products complies
with the requirements of environmental protection
standards and regulations.
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Pictures: The Company's Environmental management system certificates

B - ARREE
11.4 A4 Climate Change

Addressing climate change is an objective need and
internal requirement for the sustainable development
of the world and China. We cannot live aside of its
impact.
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According to the recommendations of the Task Force
on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD), we
have identified the potential real-time physical risks
and transitional risks from climate change. Real-time
physical risks may arise from extreme weather, such
as storms and flood, which may have a potential
financial impact on us. Storm and flood risks may
result in direct damage to the assets of our offices
and test and assembly centers, which could affect our
operations. If suppliers experience such extreme
weather conditions, we may face the indirect impact
of supply chain disruptions.

The potential transitional risks may arise from
technological transformation and the ever-changing
customer preferences and needs. As a technology-
driven company, we are faced with continuous
upgrading and development in the technology of the
products and services we provide. Emerging
technologies (such as equipment and devices with
higher energy efficiency) may increase our operating
cost, or if we fail to adopt such emerging
technologies or products, it may affect our
competitiveness and ultimately affect the demand for
our products and services.

In order to cope with the impact of climate change
and extreme weather, the Company has actively
established various business continuity plans (BCPs),
which specify the work arrangement under severe
weather or extreme conditions to reduce the
potential injury to employees and the increase of
insurance premiums; monitored changes in
environmental, social and governance related
regulatory requirements and market trends; and
comprehensively evaluated the proportion of energy
consumed in our operations and optimized
procedures accordingly.

It is estimated that the extreme weather conditions,
which are potential physical risks, and the emerging
technologies, which are potential transitional risks,
will have little impact on our operations after
assessment. As of December 31, 2024, we have not
experienced any operations or supply chain
disruptions due to storms or flood.
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12

B SOCIETY

12.1 B1 Employment

Howkingtech strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations such as the Labor Law of the People's
Republic of China (R ZEARLMBELEE)), the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
((RPEARLFELEERIE)) and Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
and actively formulates internal management systems
such as the Staff Manual (& L3ff})) and Personnel
Management Procedures ((AEEERE)) to
effectively protect and safeguard the legal rights and
interests of employees. The Employee Manual and
Personnel Management Procedures formulated by
the Company comply with the labor laws applicable
to Mainland China and Hong Kong, which are mainly
designed to regulate work procedures such as
recruitment and employment, salary payment,
personnel reappointment and vacation management
and other work processes. In case of dismissal or
compensation arising therefrom, the Company will
comply with local laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, there was no event
relating to employment discrimination, harassment,
bully, insults, child labor or forced labor, and the
Company is not aware of any major non-compliance
or violation of relevant laws and regulations in other
aspects of employment.
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12.1.1 Human Resource Management 111N EFEE
Howkingtech adheres to the philosophy of EERIEBRERZ T
diversity and equal opportunity and is B FENELS B
committed to eliminating possible NERAEE - %5 - F
discrimination and prejudice due to skin color, B Rk BUEE - BE
gender, age, ethnicity, nationality, language, RES IR EEARRE S
religious belief and physical condition, T8 M 7] BE T E B AR TR
fostering an open and inclusive work B BELERKR - 88
environment. As of December 31, 2024, the MIERE BE-_ZT—
Company had 30 full-time employees from NE+=—A=+—H 2
different regions, of which 56.67% were A HABI0EKE TE M
women. BOEBET - A

5L B56.67% °

Table: Employment Information of the Company in 2024
R ZCECNFAREIEREER

Indicator Unit 2024
BE Efy —E-mE
Total number of employees person 30
BT A
Number of employees Male person 13
by gender SMET A
HIERIEI DB T AR Female person 17
LB A
Number of employees by age <30 person 1
RERE DB TAH 30BR KA T A
31-39 person 12
3155 —395% A
>40 person 17
A05% S A = A
Number of employees by Senior management person 7
employees’ rank SRETRE A
REREDHE T AR Middle management person 3
hRERRE A
Ordinary employees person 20
EWmET A
Number of employees by Full-time employees person 30
employment type TRET A
RERENEIHDHE TAH Part-time employees person 0
FEE T A
Number of employees Mainland China person 28
by region B A B A
ZHEE D HE T AE Hong Kong, Macau and  person 2
Taiwan A
ERa R
Overseas person 0

S0 A
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As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s
employee turnover rate was as follows:

B
=

EY

AN

T-_WNE+-_RA=+—

RABTRAKLEMT :

Table: Information on Company Employee Turnover Rate in 2024

R CEZNEQTAEIREERER

Indicator Unit 2024
BE By —E-pE
Total employee turnover rate % 37.50
BTHRAKE
Number of employees by Male % 17.31
gender SMET
RIERIBIDEE A Female % 20.19
LEET
Number of employees by age <30 % 4.81
RERE DB TAK 30m MIA T
31-39 % 25.00
3155 —395%
>40 % 7.69
408 B A
Number of employees by Mainland China % 37.50
region Hp B AP
i B D HE T AR Hong Kong, Macau % 0
and Taiwan
AR SR
Overseas % 0

oMb
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12.1.2 Remuneration, Welfare and Other Benefits

Howkingtech has established a fair,
reasonable and competitive remuneration
system to attract and retain outstanding
employees. Employee’s remuneration consists
of basic salary, performance and year-end
bonus, in which the basic salary is
comprehensively assessed and established by
the Company based on job classification, job
nature, market conditions and other elements,
and the specific salary range will be finally
determined according to the employee’s
knowledge and skills, practical experience
and other conditions. Meanwhile, in order to
motivate employees to make contributions,
the Company provides salary increase
opportunities for employees who pass the
performance appraisal.

In addition to salary incentives, the Company
also provides employees with rich and
diversified welfare care:

o Insurance plan: the Company
contributes to medical insurance,
pension insurance, unemployment
insurance, work injury insurance,
maternity insurance and housing
provident fund for employees
according to laws;

o Living allowance: the Company offers
employees meal, transportation and
communication allowances, which are

paid together with wages;

o Holiday commemoration: the Company
organizes afternoon tea party during
holidays and prepares a gift for
employees on International Working
Women's Day, Children’s Day, Dragon
Boat Festival and Mid-Autumn Festival;

RB5 > HERERRSE
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° Group activities: the Company
organizes annual group activities for
employees, including outings or
communal dining as appropriate;

o Additional bonus incentives: the
Company attaches importance to
scientific research achievements and
talent recruitment, sets up talent
recruitment awards and patent awards,
and grants bonuses to employees who

have made contributions.

. £RIEE A F
BEAB AR
ETREAD -
BRELERRE

. BHINED BB
UNEI-SR R S50
REANTS|# -
wET AL HE
BB 8
MEERHE T
BT IES HEE o

Picture: The gifts prepared by the company on
International Working Women'’s Day in 2024
P RRR T METRBEIFR S B iE L EEY)

12.1.3 Working Hours and Holidays

Howkingtech encourages employees to
balance work and life, and sets working hours
in accordance with local labor laws. The
Company not only protects the basic rights of
employees, ensures legal double breaks and
public holidays, but also provides employees
with paid leave, including sick leave, marriage
leave, maternity leave, breastfeeding leave,
bereavement leave, and work-related injury
leave.

Picture: The company organized activities on
the Dragon Boat Festival in 2024
P RPN T - MERR R T ENEE)
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12.1.4 Career Promotion

Howkingtech attaches great importance to
the promotion and development of
employees and has clarified the promotion
assessment process in its Personnel
Management Process (( AEEIRRIE)). The
Company conducts quarterly performance
appraisals for employees every year, and
provides position and salary promotion for
employees with excellent overall appraisal
results to motivate them to make continuous
progress and grow with the Company. The
specific process of employee promotion is as
follows:

The head of the
Administration
Department and
the head of the
department of the
evaluated
outstanding
employee assess

the employee’s
promotion
potential

THEAEALE

B B THERD
PIEEATHEE
P

The
Administration
Department
submits the
employee
promotion
proposal to the
department head
and General
Manager for
approval

TTHEPE T
BIMRE LW
MPARREAR
IR

12.1.4 B ¥ EH

The department
head and
General
Manager
analyze the
employee
promotion
proposals and
decide on the
promotion list

HPIREAR
EESWET
BFRR - I

REBTRE

Figure: Employee promotion process
B BTEARR

FERHMERSEERETE
HER  EAAZEERR
)BT EEZR
2 RABFUFERE
fI$ 8 T#ITEREZ
REREZRRERFNE
THTRAFMEFHRT -
HER T TEES - En
Al—RAkK - BETETA
BREmT

The
Administration
Department shall
issue the list of
promoted
employees in the
form of
administrative
notice and notify
the employees to
be promoted

TTEREB AT TR R
HRBEMEFET
BB WBAE
&
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12.2 B2 Health and Safety

Howkingtech attaches great importance to the health
and safety of its employees and strictly abides by the
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China ({# %
AR LR L EE) ), the Labor Contract Law of the
People's Republic of China ((FREARLFIELEHE
[F’%)), and the Regulations on Work Injury Insurance
(CT1ERERIEHB])), and has established systems such
as the Production Safety Management System ({&Z %
AEEEHIE)) to regulate the safety of production
operations. Meanwhile,the Company provides
employees with a variety of health and safety
protection measures, including certification of
1ISO45001:2018 (Occupational Health and Safety
Management System), Shenzhen Company and park
property jointly organized employees to participate
in health science training, so as to fully protect their

health.

For three consecutive years (including the Reporting
Period), the Company has not had any violations of
relevant laws and regulations, nor work-related
injuries or work-related fatalities.

12.2 B2i@FEEZ 2
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Pictures: The Company’s Occupational Health and Safety Management System Certification
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12.3 B3 Development and Training

Howkingtech attaches importance to the
establishment of staff training management and
development system. Through diversified training
modes such as induction training, management
training, technical training, and project training, we
meet different needs of employees at all levels and
in all departments, and provide a competitive career
development platform for all employees to facilitate
their development and achieve sustainable
development together with the Company. The
Company has formulated the Personnel Management
Process ((AEEIERIE)) to regulate matters
related to employee training and appraisal.

The Company will introduce its basic business as well
as the rules and regulations to new employees to
help them get integrated into the Company and
familiarized with their positions as soon as possible.
Specific departments and the administration
department will jointly discuss and formulate
employee training programs for in-service
employees. After the training is completed, they will
be assessed by various means such as written tests,
practical operations, and teaching evaluation, etc.
The appraisal performance will be one of the basis
for future career position changes of employees.

12.3
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During the Reporting Period, the Company organized
several training sessions for employees of various
levels and departments according to business types,
such as the technological evolution of 5G in the
upstream high bandwidth direction, mmW
collaborates with TSN in heterogeneous networks in
industrial wireless networks, design difficulties and
solutions of mmW baseband SoC, optimization of
mmW RF Circuit in long-range transmission,
collaboration between sub6G and mmW frequency
bands in WiFi8, etc. We also provide application of
new leasing standards training and ESOP training for
finance department personnel, and training for
administrative department personnel on internal
control system training, in order to enhance their
ability to perform their duties. Training on
organizational management and governance was
also provided to Directors and senior management,
mainly covering the Listing Rules and guidelines
issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

WMEHAN - RARIHBEKER
HETEER SHPETIRH
R%Z51EINEE - t5GHE £1T
RES 7 RHEMEE - mmw
ETEELPEERETINNEE
WEEFE - mmWERESoCHIER
FHEEER R EARAT R - mmWET
HERTREEHTNELR
Wifi8 H subb6G EEmmW S8 EZ 1 173
RAZE - HPINAMEHFIABR
HIHEENEREIRE TR
B8 K B R BT B3RS - N ATT
BRAEBFIA B HR M A BT B ) E 15
A DA B TR AR BB IR 3
e RABIREITHEMED -
HEENSREBABRARET
HEBERRENFEE =2
NABIEBERZAEHRN LM
FRAIEAFES] o

Picture: The Company’'s mmW content sharing training
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In 2024, the rate of trained employees reached 100%,

with an average of 13.13 training hours per employee.

The number of training hours per employee by type is
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“ENFEE RAATINIEIL
RIZE100%  BELE T FHZI
B8 51313/ B » IRER RS

as follows: BB T AEZI BT :
Table: Training of the employees of the Company in 2024
® I CRCOEATREIEIER
Indicator Unit 2024
bk By —E-mE
Trained employee ratio % 100.00
XAB T &
Trained employee ratio by Senior management % 100.00
employee’s rank mRERE
BETBASSHMZIIETELE  Middle management % 100.00
hREIERE
Ordinary employee % 100.00
EBET
Trained employee ratio by gender Male employee % 100.00
RIERIBIDFHNE T X SHET
Female employee % 100.00
LZHEBT
Average training hours per hour 13.13
employee N
B2 E T FHXIIEE
Trained hour per person by Senior management hour 7.43
employee’s rank SREEE B
HETBAE DM AHYZIIEE Middle management hour 1.00
FAREIRE aNS
Ordinary employee hour 16.95
T@mET /N
Trained hour per person by Male employee hour 20.46
employee’s gender SMET /)NBE
HETHERBIDAL TS Female employee hour 7.53
ZMHET /N
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Howkingtech strictly complies with relevant laws and
regulations, including the Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((RZEARLMBELEE)), the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
((FREARKFMBLEHAERE)), the Law on the
Protection of Minors of the People’'s Republic of
China ((HEARAMBERKF AREE)) and
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and has adopted a series of internal
control and compliance measures prohibiting the
employment of child labor and forced labor.

The Company strictly prohibits the employment of
any child labor and forced labor, and has clearly
stated in the Employee Handbook ({ & T Ffft) ) that
those who are under the legal age are not allowed to
become employees of the Company. During the
recruitment process, the Company also requires
applicants to provide true and accurate personal
information for age and employment eligibility check.
In order to standardize the separation management,
the Company has specified the resignation
procedures, and safeguarded the legal rights and
interests of resigned employees in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations. The Company does
not support compulsory labor practices, and has
established a bottom-up feedback channel to
facilitate employees’ complaints and reports on
forced labor practices, so as to identify and correct
the practices in a timely manner. During the
Reporting Period, no incidents of violation have
occurred, including child labor and forced labor.

12.4 B4 Labor Standards 12.4 B4Z TR
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The Company attaches importance to enhancing
communication with employees, holds employee
meetings regularly, effectively strengthens
democratic participation and communication
between employees and management, and protects
employees’ rights to freedom of assembly and
association.

REHEREREE

NABRIEERETHER  E
HARBTIAE  JEMRRE
SEARBTREREZHNE
B REE TSRS AT B hiE

S o

Picture: The Company’s 2024 Annual Staff Meeting
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BS Supply Chain Management

Howkingtech attaches great importance to supply
chain management and the relationship maintenance
with its suppliers, and is committed to building a fair,
honest, clean, win-win and sustainable supplier
relationship. The Company puts the Procedures for
Procurement Payment ((EREESFURIZ)) in place to
standardize procurement and payment, improves the
payment process, specifies the approval process and
reasonably arranges the Company'’s funds, ensuring
normal business operation. The Company’s suppliers
primarily consist of (i) suppliers of hardware
components, (ii) OEM manufacturers, and (iii)
software developers. The Company outsources the
production of telecommunication equipment to
OEM manufacturers and exercises strict quality
control on such OEM manufacturers.

12.5 B5S{HEHEEE
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The Company has established a supplier
management system to maintain a stable and reliable
supplier team and provide reliable services and
supplies for the enterprise’s high-quality operation.
The system requires the Company to evaluate the
existing suppliers’ qualification on a regular basis,
and review the addition or removal of supplier in
accordance with the process, and requires the
Company to sign guarantee agreements with
upstream and downstream units when entering into
contracts with suppliers to ensure that they are not
engaged in commercial activities that fall within the
scope of sanctioned industries and activities. At the
same time, the Company has established a
management and accounting mechanism for
procurement and payment operations, specifying the
responsibilities and authorities of the procurement
and finance departments in the mechanism to ensure
compliance with the requirements for the processes
of commodity procurement, manpower procurement
and non-production commodity procurement. In
response to market changes, the Company has also
developed contingency measures for the availability
of supplies during production to stabilize the supply
of raw and auxiliary materials and minimize the risk of
inadequate procurement.
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The Company relies primarily on local suppliers to NEEBRBAHEER @ FE
reduce the carbon footprint arising from ] R B B P EE R BB B Y o ¥R
transportation. The breakdown of suppliers by region EHAN - 1R R £ B (R R 2R
during the Reporting Period is as follows. BT

Table: Suppliers of the Company in 2024
R CENFEARMERRER

Indicator Unit 2024
Eiot= B —E-MF
Number of suppliers by region Total Company 13
RinRE D NHEREE et EX
Eastern China Company 5
=X %
Southern China Company 5
=15 EX
Central China Company 0
e EX
Northern China Company 2
E51 ER
Northwestern China Company 0
[iiple ER
Southwestern China Company 1
i) ER
Northeastern China Company 0
L5ld ER
Hong Kong, Macao and Company 0
Taiwan ER
ERA R
Overseas regions Company 0
SN [ E
12.5.1 Suppliers Selection and Acceptance 12.5. 12 BB EERAE
o The Company identifies procurement . T REF K
demands, conducts preliminary review BEHERER
on suppliers’ qualification based on MERERE
supplier information, and provides the g WA e
new suppliers’ qualification documents P EE X 1R
for the reviewing personnel of the 48 B B 30 P9
procurement department for RZEH ABHELT
validation, and the approved suppliers BE BZBR
will enter the new supplier application B £ JE 7 HE AT
process; B ERE BB R
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New suppliers are required to collate
relevant qualification documents and
fill in the Qualified Supplier Evaluation
Form ({ &M EREETEHER) ), which will
be subject to approval by the head of
the procurement department and the
quality department, and only those
qualified can be accepted and
approved as qualified suppliers. The
accepted units’ source, qualification
documents and Qualified Supplier
Approval Form should be submitted
when being accepted.

12.5.2 Management and Evaluation on Suppliers

The procurement department
conducts an annual supplier evaluation
based on the supplier evaluation
criteria, and a qualified supplier
catalogue will be consolidated subject
to the approval by the quality
department, the procurement
department and the general manager;

The procurement department will
confirm whether any supplier is to be
removed based on the scoring results,
and if so, notify the supplier and
terminate the business cooperation
upon its confirmation. If a supplier who
is removed in the annual assessment
needs to re-establish a business
cooperation, it shall submit an
application for such re-establishment,
and its supply qualification will be re-
established subject to the review and
approval by the responsible person of
the procurement department and the
R&D department;
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o In assessing suppliers, supplier
candidates who are deemed not to
meet more than two of the following
key criteria will be removed:

(i) samples found to be satisfactory
(ii) having a dedicated quality
control department

(iii) reasonable price levels

(iv) adequate supply capacity

12.5.3Promotion of Environmental-friendly

Products and Services

The Company is committed to incorporating
environmental-friendly principles into its
supplier selection system, and prioritizes
suppliers who use environmental-friendly
products and services to minimize the impact
on the environment. For example, the
Company developed the Howkingtech
Technical Standards for Environmentally
Hazardous Substances (CRERIIRBEEEY
GRAIZAE) ), which prohibits or restricts
suppliers from using the raw materials set out
therein, and requires suppliers to establish
quality management systems in accordance
with 1SO9001 to meet standardized
compliance requirements.
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12.6 B6 Product Responsibilities

12.6.1 Introduction to Products and Services

We mainly provide customized data
transmission and processing services to
customers in manufacturing, municipal
services and other industries in the PRC, and
research, develop and sell telecommunication
equipment. Leveraging on the Company’s
professional and experienced technical team
to provide support, we are able to provide
supporting services, such as
telecommunication equipment maintenance
services and telecommunication consulting
services to our customers, to extend the
lifetime of products and parts, and customers
may resume their operation at a faster pace
with relatively lower costs.

Catering to customers’ specific needs, we also
provide our customers with either integrated
services or software services. For integrated
services, we primarily embed
telecommunication equipment for data
transmission and deploy centralized data
platform, namely Universal loT Platform, for
data processing. For software services, we
primarily provide customized centralized data
platform for data processing according to our
customers’ demands.

We are in strictly compliance with laws and
regulations such as the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests ({(FF#EARKEMBHEE
HIREER)), the Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({#ZE A R HEFIE
E4 %)) and the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Cap. 362), and offer guidelines
and training to our staff to help them fully
understand the Company's policies and
compliance requirements. During the
Reporting Period, there was no breach of
relevant regulations on advertisement

labeling.
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12.6.2 Product Quality Assurance

Hardware products sold by Howkingtech were
all manufactured by suppliers, with only their
assembly process taking place in our
Shenzhen workshop. To ensure our product
quality, we adhered to national and industrial
requirements in establishing our quality
management system, and developed a set of
comprehensive internal technical standards
and requirements. The Company has obtained
the 1SO9001:2015 (Quality Management
System) certification, which regulates the
standards of product and service
management. Meanwhile, we also require our
suppliers to establish quality management
systems in accordance with the latest version
of 1SO9001 standards and set quality
management targets for their products.
Where any abnormalities are found in raw
materials, parts or product quality, these raw
materials, parts or products will be dealt with
in accordance with the unqualified product
management procedures.
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To standardize the product quality inspection
process and product recall procedures, the
Company has developed the Management
Measures for Product Recall ({(ZREREEE
#%) ) which specifies particular specifications
such as the triggering timing of product recall,
product recall procedures, recalled product
handling and remedial work, and requires to
inform the relevant parties of the information
regarding unqualified products in a timely
manner, and bring the products concerned
under control promptly and completely on the
basis of the implementation of product recalls
to avoid or minimize losses to customers.

During the Reporting Period, there was no
circumstance where the Company had to
recall products due to issues that could affect
their functionality, cause harm to consumers
or expose the Company to legal risks.

12.6.3 Customer Feedback

Howkingtech attaches great importance to
customer service experience. We have
established a smooth and fast pre-sales and
after-sales service system from raw materials
to the production process, providing
customers with a variety of communication
channels such as official website enquiry,
email and telephone consultation to facilitate
the use of our services.

During the Reporting Period, there was no
complaint received by the Company in
relation to products or services.
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12.6.4 Innovation and R&D

Strong R&D and innovation capabilities are
the foundations underpinning the sustainable
development of Howkingtech. The Company
successfully developed our proprietary 5G
telecommunication equipment with certain
self-developed core module and software
embedded, such as front end module, digital
front-end algorithm and protocol stack. In
order to standardize the Company’s research
and development process, reduce R&D risks
and improve the Company's innovation and
competitiveness, the Company has developed
the R&D Management Process, which sets out
detailed requirements on the initiation,
planning, development, verification/release/
acceptance and monitoring of research-based
projects, product-based projects and project
delivery.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has
applied for 54 patents, including 1 utility
model patents, both are pending approval,
and was granted 23 invention patent
authorizations and 30 utility model
authorizations; it obtained 90 software
copyrights and 1 international PCT. During
the Reporting Period, the Company had
additional 6 invention patent authorization.
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12.6.5 Intellectual Property Protection

The Company strictly complies with laws and
regulations such as the Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China and the Copyright
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
has formulated the Intellectual Property
Management System, in a bid to strengthen
the Company’s intellectual property
protection, standardize its intellectual
property management work, encourage staff
to proactively participate in invention and
creation, and facilitate promotion and
application of scientific and technological
achievements.

To ensure the orderly implementation of
managing intellectual property rights and
R&D files, the Company follows the principles
of unified management, work division and
cooperation and standardization, and has set
up an administrative department responsible
for the relevant management. Meanwhile,
when outsourcing production or conducting
business, we sign confidentiality agreements
with suppliers to avoid leakage of information
in relation to all intellectual property rights
such as internal R&D projects, design
drawings and professional technologies.

During the Reporting Period, the Company
did not have any disputes or cases involving
infringement, content plagiarism and other
intellectual property rights.
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12.6.6 Information Security and Privacy Protection

To protect the Company’s commercial secrets
and legitimate rights and interests, and ensure
that the Company's scientific and
technological development, technological
innovation, intellectual property rights,
marketing resources and other commercial or
technical secrets belonging to the Company
are not subject to loss and infringement,
Howkingtech developed the Information
Confidentiality System ({2 BRZHIE) ) with
specific provisions made for aspects from the
Company'’s business to the staff's skills.

In terms of the Company’s operations,
provisions have been made for the protection
of the Company’s operation management
information, marketing information, contracts,
agreements and legal relationship
information. In terms of staff, confidentiality
disciplines are in place for them, and relevant
personnel are required to sign the
Confidentiality Agreement ({fRZ#7%) ) upon
joining the Company, and a disciplinary and
punishment system relating to the Company'’s
information security was also stipulated in the
Staff Manual to ensure the security of the
Company’s R&D and operational information.
Where an employee discloses the Company'’s
secret or proprietary information, the
Company will take different levels of
disciplinary action such as written warning,
serious written warning and termination of
service relationship depending on the severity
of the breach.
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The Company formulated the Data Backup
and Disaster Recovery Management System
(KBEHEMELBEREERHE)) o
standardize the establishment of the
Company’s important data backup list, the
backup responsibility, backup inspection and
the recovery after system damage, and to
reasonably prevent risks in the use of
computers and information system. The
system stipulates that the R&D department is
the management function of the Company'’s
information backup, which is responsible for
the management and coordination of all
important information backup of the
Company. The department head should
provide the R&D department with the backup
of the important data or the latest list of
backup data of the department on a regular
basis. Disaster recovery of the Company's
hardware is mainly carried out by the R&D
department, which is responsible for
investigating the causes, determining the
accountability and applying for procurement;
and disaster recovery of the Company’s
software is mainly carried out by the person in
charge of system management through
various backup media kept before the disaster
or by other information systems, and based
on the backup marks for purposeful recovery.
To prevent hardware and software disasters,
the Company conducts risk assessment and
data recovery exercise annually.
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The Company attaches great importance to
the protection of customer information and
privacy, strictly complies with laws and
regulations including the Network Security
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FZE
ARKMBEBK L EIE)), the Personal
Information Security Specification ({{EA1E &
L2 #)) and the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486), and takes various
measures to protect customer information,
ensuring that customer data are treated in a
safe and reliable manner. The policy and
standard procedures for the management of
customers’ private information obtained as a
result of the conduct of business are clearly
set out in the Information Privacy System.

With respect to the customer data collected
by the Company in the course of project
execution, confidentiality clauses must be
specified in the contract, and the data must
be received and sent with encryption before
transmission. Upon completion of the project,
all irrelevant data will be deleted in a timely
manner, except for the project results data,
which will be kept in a safe place, and the
leakage of data is strictly prohibited. In
addition, the Company conducts regular
security assessments and network
maintenance to ensure the confidentiality of
customer data.

During the Reporting Period, the Company
did not experience any leakage of customer
privacy.
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12.7 B7 Anti-corruption

Howkingtech strictly abides by the Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China
((REARHEMBERTIEEFHRFE)), the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({(FZE AR
FMBEAFEY), the Interim Provisions on Prohibition
of Commercial Bribery (BN ZE - BERRAIE1TR
7E)), Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (FJy 1 BEBE 15
#)) and other laws and regulations, and has
formulated internal administration system such as the
Staff Manual, the Management System for Antifraud,
Anti-money Laundering and Anti-bribery ({58 -
ks - RBEIREIEH|E)) and the Misconduct
Reporting Mechanism and Handling Measures (&
ETRBRMMHMEEZIENIE)) to regulate the
employees’ behaviors.

The Company has set up a special complaint and
report channel and has dedicated internal audit staff
for illegal or undisciplined behaviors of its employees
or the units concerned, and deal with violation of
laws and disciplines by a complaint, report and
investigation mechanism. During the Reporting
Period, the Company did not have any proceedings
relating to bribery, fraud and money laundering.

12.7.1 Antifraud

The Company continuously improves the
system in connection with the antifraud
management, with the aim to enhance the
Company's governance and internal control,
regulate the staff’s profession conduct,
safeguard legitimate rights and interests of
the Company and its Shareholders and ensure
the achievement of the Company’s business
objectives and its sustainable, stable and
healthy development.
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The Board of the Company is responsible for
supervising the management in setting up a
company-wide antifraud culture environment
and a sound internal control system
comprising fraud prevention. The
management of the Company is responsible
for establishing, improving and effectively
implementing internal controls and taking
appropriate and effective remedial measures
against fraud. The heads of subsidiaries and
departments are responsible for dealing with
fraud occurred in their own units and
departments.

The Company’s antifraud management
process is as follows:

(i) employees and social parties with
whom the Company has direct or
indirect business relationships report
complaints of fraud to the Company’s
internal audit department through
various channels such as reporting
hotline, email, letter and interview;

(ii) the internal audit department receives
and registers the complaint report, and
the investigation team investigates the
fraud and forms a written report on the
investigation results and handling
opinions and submits it to the Audit
Committee and the Board;
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(iii)

(iv)

upon completion of the antifraud case
investigation, the internal audit
department will put forward its
opinions on handling or accountability
for those that do constitute fraud and
submit them to the Board for approval.
Where economic losses are caused to
the Company, compensation should
be made by the person liable.
Opinions on the handling of major
fraud cases or opinions on the
investigation of accountability will be
decided by the Audit Committee;

the internal audit department provides
feedback to the informer on the results
of the investigation. For matters not to
be filed for investigation, the internal
audit department provides feedback
to the informer on the results and the
reasons within 10 working days; for
matters to be filed for investigation,
the internal audit department provides
feedback on the results of the
investigation within three months. If
the reported matter is proved to be
true and the Company’s losses are
thereby recovered, the informer will be
rewarded as appropriate;

employees who are proved to have
committed fraud will be imposed
corresponding penalty by the
Company in accordance with relevant
regulations; and in the event of
violation of laws, such fraud will be
passed to the judicial organs for
handling in accordance with the laws.

(iii)

(iv)
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12.7.2 Anti-money laundering

The Company follows the “risk-based” and
“prudent and balanced” anti-money
laundering work principles, strictly complies
with laws and regulations such as the Anti-
money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((fi#E A RAMBER 452
7&)), the Provisions on Anti-money
Laundering of Financial Institutions ({& g%
BREIERTED), the Anti-Money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance
((FTBRERRMH D FETERED) ), as well
as the relevant regulations of the People's
Bank of China, the China Securities Regulatory
Commission and the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority, and has formulated anti-money
laundering management measures, requiring
all departments, business lines and branches
of the Company to effectively implement anti-
money laundering in their daily business
operations.

The Company’s anti-laundering management
measures requires all departments, business
lines and branches not only to conduct a
money laundering risk assessment in a
systemic and comprehensive manner in
combination with customer types on business,
services, products and channels when
conducting business in China, but also to
observe laws and regulations with respect to
anti-money laundering in countries (regions)
where they operate when conducting business
overseas, and to take reference to relevant
requirements of the implementation of such
measures within the scope permitted by the
laws and regulations of such countries
(regions).
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The Board of the Company is responsible for

the effective implementation of the internal

control system against money laundering and

has authorized the anti-money laundering

leading team to perform the Company'’s anti-

money laundering duties. At the same time,

the Company has established the "Three

Defenses” anti-money laundering

management structure to require all staff to

join hand in preventing money laundering and

terrorist financing risks faced by the Company

during the daily business course:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

the first defense (business
departments): the departments of the
Company with primary responsibilities
for performing the obligation of
identifying customer identity and
monitoring suspicious transaction
activities; responsible for prudent
verification of customer identity data
and the obligations of identifying
customer identity and identifying and
reporting major and suspicious
transactions;

the second defense (law department/
external law advisor): responsible for
interpreting relevant anti-money
laundering laws and regulations, taking
the lead in the establishment and
revision of the Company’s anti-money
laundering system and providing
advices to the first defense in carrying
out anti-money laundering;

the third defense (internal audit
department): to check the effective
implementation of each anti-money
laundering control measure by various
business functions through carrying
out audit on the anti-money laundering
efforts of the first defense.
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The second The third
defense

law department/
external law
advisor

The first
defense
business
departments

defense
internal audit
department
FE=BRAR
F B L

A ZBE 26
SERHNEB
AR

F—EhR
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Figure: the Company’s “Three Defenses” against money laundering
CREIREE =B AR ]

12.7.3 Anti-bribery 12.7.3 R 5 1%
RNEIABREIREEZKE PR
BREEED - HAER
any form of corruption and bribery is strictly BE)S - B EERITR
prohibited and those involved will be dealt BRI - PEES
WHOE ~ IKARERIE - A7)

The Company implements a standard of
integrity for all of its business activities, and

with in accordance with the laws and

regulations. The Company strictly prohibits
the offering, accepting and soliciting of
bribes, gifts, entertainments or other forms of
practices designed to influence or likely to
influence the Company’s relevant business
decisions to obtain an unusual or improper
advantage. The Company also complies with
overseas laws and regulations, including the
United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act,
which prohibits the offering of bribes to and
soliciting of bribes from local governments

overseas.
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By establishing the business philosophy with a
core of “law-abiding and honesty, high quality
service”, and combining with the Company's
actual situation, the Company formulated
anti-corruption management measures,
strengthened the supervision and
management on key segments and important
positions where corruption was frequent and
highly likely to occur to ensure the
commitment system for prevention of
commercial bribery in governance, guided the
Company’s management personnel to act in
accordance with the laws, and resisted
negative and corrupt behaviors, such as
disregarding moral principles in pursuit of
profit, benefiting oneself at the expense of
public interests, failing on complying with
commitments, and deception and fraud,
thereby establishing a good image of the
Company. The Company's anti-corruption
management measures also provide for the
implementation of the commitment system
for prevention of commercial bribery by key
segments and important positions. Individuals
at important positions and units or individuals
with business dealings shall sign the
Commitment to Prevent Commercial Bribery
(CFEFIE % RERE R E ) ) with the Company.

The Company’s internal audit department is
the department for supervising and managing
the commitment system for prevention of
commercial bribery, responsible for timely
identifying the signs of commercial bribery,
studying the countermeasures and measures
for the prevention of commercial bribery. For
the personnel of units with transactions in
economic activities who refuse to perform the
Commitment ({F&EE)), their accountability
will be determined in accordance with
relevant regulations; and those who constitute
commercial bribery (offering bribery) crimes
will be passed to the judicial organs to
investigate the criminal liability.
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The Company continuously conducts training
related to anti-corruption and integrity
building, which is organized and implemented
by the administration department. During the
Reporting Period, the Company has organized
totally one anti-corruption training covering
all directors and employees.

12.8 B8 Community Investment

Howkingtech is committed to building a caring and
harmonious relationship with the communities where
our business is operated, combining the industry and
our own strengths to contribute to the communities
with responsibility and charity, and to work together
to create a positive environment for social good. As a
technological innovation-based enterprise, the
Company cares about equity in education and values
the role of education and knowledge in the
technology development and the social progress.

On December 14, 2022, the Company donated
RMB100,000 to the Match Sticks Organization’s (A 42
=) project to provide supports to rural teachers
and the growth of children and to improve education
in villages as a contribution to equal access to
education. In the future, the Company will continue
to fulfill its social responsibilities, explore and expand
the scope of investments in communities, so as to
promote the sustainable development of the social
environment.
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Picture: Howkingtech’s Match Sticks Organization donation certificate

B : RERRR[ KSR |18

The company encourages its employees to actively
participate in various beneficial activities inside and
outside the company, including activities organized
in the community and organize employees to
participate in outdoor hiking activities and participate
in urban marathon activities. These activities can help
improve employee health and can also increase the
spirit of solidarity and cooperation.
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TABLE OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL BIENGEENE
PERFORMANCE
Indicator Category  Performance Indicator Unit 2024
EEXE BERIER B —E-mEF
Environmental Total hazardous waste produced kg 0.93
Performance EEEEMELES Fu
IRIBIEW Total non-hazardous waste produced kg 4.21
EEBRMELHE T
Total greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1, tons of COe 119.20
Scope 2) W — S LiE 2
BERBHRES(BE— - HE )
Comprehensive energy consumption tons of standard coal 14.06
AR WEAR
Total water consumption ton 1,026.00
BRKE 7
Plastic packaging ton 0.02
ERBE WA
Carton packaging ton 0.14
Hw2eR MR
Expanded polyethylene ton 0.05
BIRR i
Social Performance  Total employees person 30
HEER BTHE A
Total employee turnover rate % 37.50
BT#mAR
Percentage of employees trained % 100
RINEITEx
Average training hours per employee hour 13.13
AN ER N
Fatality as a result of work-related injuries person 0
(in recent three years) A
EITEAEMETHE TABCI=5F)
Total suppliers Company 13

It X
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ESG INDICATOR INDEX ESGIEERSI
Section of the Report Environmental, Social and Contribution to SDGs
Governance Reporting Guide Index
HEH (RE - HERERHEIESDHRSI BERiSDG
About this Report / /
BRI E
Scope of the Report / /
HEHE
Standard of the Report / /
st
Data Sources and Reliability Description / /
BRSO Ko AT SE 1 B
The Board Statement / /
ExgEH
Responses to the ESG Reporting / /

Principles of the Stock Exchange
B X FTESG#R & R A= fE

ESG Governance / /
ESGERE
Active Support for the Sustainable / /

Development Goals

BEHFAHEERAR

Stakeholders Communication / /
MR- AR

Analysis of Material Issues / /

BERMFEEDT

A Environmental Responsibility

ARREE

AT Emissions A1.1, A1.2, A1.3, A1.4, A1.5 Al1.6
AVEERD

A2 Use of Resources A2.1, A2.2, A2.3, A2.4, A2.5

A2 B R{E

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources A3.1

ASRERRAEIR

A4 Climate Change A4

AL RIREAE

B Society

BH&

B1 Employment B1.1,B1.2
B1{E(R

B2 Health and Safety B2.1, B2.2, B2.3
B2 @i 2
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B3 Development and Training
B3 R HIF 7

B4 Labor Standards

B4 85 T %8

B5 Supply Chain Management
B5 BB E IR

Bé Product Responsibilities
B6EmMAT

B7 Anti-corruption

B’ RES

B8 Community Investment

B8 (LRI &

Environmental, Social and Contribution to SDGs
Governance Reporting Guide Index
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B3.1,B3.2

B4.1,B4.2

B5.1,B5.2, B5.3,B54

Bé6.1, B6.2, B6.3, B6.4, B6.5

B7.1,B7.2,B7.3

B8.1, B8.2
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report
of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintenance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The principle of the
Company's corporate governance is to promote effective internal
control measures, uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, to ensure that
its business and operations are conducted in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations and to enhance the transparency
and accountability of the Board to all Shareholders. The Company’s
corporate governance practices are based on the principles and
code provisions as set out in part 2 of the CG Code.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG Code,
companies listed on the Stock Exchange are expected to comply
with, but may choose to deviate from the requirement that the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be segregated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The Company does not have a separate chairman
and chief executive officer and Dr. Chen Ping currently performs
these two roles concurrently.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the chairman and
chief executive officer in the same person has the benefit of
ensuring consistent leadership within the Group for more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
considers that the balance of power and authority within the Group
will not be impaired by the present arrangement and the current
structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions more promptly and effectively. The Board will from time
to time review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company to ensure
appropriate and timely arrangements are in place to meet changing
circumstances.

Save for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the CG
Code as described above, the Company had complied with all
applicable code provisions set out in part 2 of the CG Code during
the year ended December 31, 2024.
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CULTURE

With the corporate culture “not to transform the world, but to
cultivate an improved way of living”, the Company is committed to

assist customers to realize and optimize their digitalizations.
THE BOARD
Composition of the Board

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board consisted of
seven Directors comprising four executive Directors, namely Dr.
Chen Ping (Chairman), Ms. Wang Zheshi, Mr. Feng Yijing and Mr.
Wang Jun and three independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Gu Jiong, Mr. Fong Wo, Felix and Mr. Yang Hai. The
abovementioned directors resigned on April 1, 2025.

With effect from April 1, 2025, the Board currently consists of seven
Directors comprising four executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan
Chin Ching (Chairman), Mr. Chan Chin Chun, Mr. Kwong Kevin Tak
Tsing and Mr. Lee Alexander Patrick, and three independent non-
executive directors, namely, Mr. Ng Pui Sun Wesley, Ms. Peng
Cheng and Mr. Siu Chi Wai.

Each of the current directors have obtained legal advice on March
31, 2025, from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong
law as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules that are
applicable to them as a director of a listed issuer and the possible
consequences of making a false declaration or giving false
information to the Stock Exchange, and each of the current
directors has confirmed they understood their obligations as a
director of a listed issuer under the Listing Rules.

The biographies of each of the current directors are set out in the
section headed "Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management”.

Responsibilities and Function

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance, and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
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The functions and duties of the Board include, but are not limited
to, convening the general meetings, reporting on the performance
of the Board's work at the general meetings, implementing the
resolutions passed at the general meetings, determining business
and investment plans, formulating annual financial budget and final
accounts, formulating the Company’s proposals for profit
distributions, and formulating proposals for increase or reduction
of capital as well as exercising other powers, functions and duties as
conformed by the Articles of Association.

The Board has assigned the powers and responsibilities of the
Group's daily operations, management and administration to the
senior management of the Company. The Board regularly reviews
the functions and powers delegated to ensure that the assignments
are still appropriate. To oversee specific aspects of the Company'’s
affairs, the Board has established three board committees,
including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee. The Board has assigned
responsibilities to the Board committees in accordance with their
respective scopes of powers and functions.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles
of the chairman and the chief executive officer should be
segregated and should not be performed by the same individual.
For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company did not have
a separate chairman and chief executive officer and Dr. Chen Ping
performed these two roles concurrently.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the chairman and
chief executive officer in the same person has the benefit of
ensuring consistent leadership within the Group for more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
considers that the balance of power and authority within the Group
will not be impaired by the present arrangement and the current
structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions more promptly and effectively. The Board will from time
to time review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company to ensure
appropriate and timely arrangements are in place to meet changing
circumstances.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company had three
independent non-executive Directors, in compliance with the Rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The number of
independent non-executive Directors accounts for more than one-
third of the number of the Board members.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The term of appointment of non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors is for a term of three years.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules, which applies to all Directors and relevant
employees of the Company who are likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Company or its securities due to his/
her office or employment.

The Company has made specific enquiries with each Director, and
each of them confirmed that he/she had complied with all required
standards under the Model Code during the year ended December
31,2024,

TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director shall be provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules, relevant laws,
rules and regulations. The Directors are also provided with regular
updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects to
enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be
arranged and reading material on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate.
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According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by the Directors during the Reporting Period is as
follows:

RIFBEFRHUNTE  EFTNHREAARZH
EBE RN

Attending Reading
training regulatory
session materials
Name of Directors EEHR 2 InEINRE RIEEEEMH
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. Chen Ping PR IE L - v
Ms. Wang Zheshi FEAZ T - 4
Mr. Feng Yijing HERTE v 4
Mr. Wang Jun FEEE - 4
Independent Non-executive Directors B I TESE
Mr. Gu Jiong B 5 A v v
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix RS v 4
Mr. Yang Hai 155 - v
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON FINANCIAL ESHUBERRNEL

STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
financial statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that
such financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group and relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied
with.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
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BOARD MEETINGS, BOARD COMMITTEES MEETINGS
AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board has met regularly and Board meetings has held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of
regular Board meetings are served to all of the Directors at least 14
days before the meetings. For other Board and Board committee
meetings, reasonable notices were generally given. Minutes of
meetings are kept by the company secretary with copies circulated
to all Directors or Board committee members for information and
records within a reasonable time after the date of the meeting.
Directors who have conflicts of interest in a resolution are required
to abstain from voting.

Directors’ Attendance Records

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, the
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Board Committee meetings and the general meetings of the A=+—BIIFERTNEESLE =%
Company held during the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out B @@z RIRE NS FERL
in the table below:
Attendance/Number of Meetings
HEER,/ ERAY
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee = Committee ~ Committee Meeting
Name of Director 43 EZ8 ENZEe FMZEe REZEE RREFAE
Executive Directors BTES
Dr. Chen Ping RTET 4/4 - - 11 11
Ms. Wang Zheshi TEMLTL 4/4 - - - 17
Mr. Feng Yijing REELE 4/4 - 17 - 17
Mr. Wang Jun TEEE 4/4 - - - 17
Independent Non-executive Directors BUNHTES
Mr. Gu Jiong BMEE 4/4 22 S 11 171
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix pkilbitis 4/4 202 17 17 17
Mr. Yang Hai matE 4/4 22 1/1 = 1/1
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Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company held one
annual general meeting, and the Independent Non-executive
Directors have attended the general meeting of the Company to
gain and develop a balanced understanding of the view of the
Shareholders.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three Board committees in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations and the
corporate governance practice under the Listing Rules, including
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Company pursuant to
a resolution passed in a meeting of the Board held on November
11, 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to provide an
independent view of the effectiveness of the Group's financial
reporting, risk management and internal control systems, oversee
the audit process, develop and review policies and perform other
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. For the year
ended December 31, 2024, the members of the Audit Committee
were Mr. Gu Jiong, Mr. Fong Wo, Felix and Mr. Yang Hai, all of
whom were independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Gu Jiong
was the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held two meetings to review, in respect of
the year ended December 31, 2024, the interim and annual financial
results and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of
works and, connected transactions and arrangements for
employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors twice without
the presence of the Executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established by the Company
pursuant to a resolution passed in a meeting of the Board held on
November 11, 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to ()
establish, review and make recommendations to the Directors on
the Group's policy and structure concerning remuneration of the
Directors and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policies
concerning such remuneration; (ii) determine the terms of the
specific remuneration package of each executive Director and
senior management; (iii) review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time; and (iv) review and/or
approve matters relating to the Share Option Scheme. For the year
ended December 31, 2024, the members of the remuneration
committee were Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, Mr. Yang Hai and Mr. Feng
Yijing. Mr. Fong Wo, Felix was the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of part 2 of the CG Code, the
following table sets forth the remuneration (excluding equity-
settled share option and award expense) of the members of senior
management categorized by remuneration group for the year
ended December 31, 2024:
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Number of
individuals
Band EiE N -
Nil to RMB500,000 =z AR¥500,0007T 8
RMB500,001 to RMB1,000,000 AR#500,001 702 A RE1,000,00070 4

Further details of the Directors’ emoluments and the top five
highest paid employees required to be disclosed under Appendix
D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements.

Regular reviews are conducted on Directors’ remuneration package
with reference to companies with comparable business or scale and
appropriate adjustments are proposed.
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The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended
December 31, 2024 to consider the relevant matters regarding; to
review and make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy and the remuneration packages of the
Executive Directors and senior management; and to consider and
approve the grant of share options to eligible participants pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company
pursuant to a resolution passed in a meeting of the Board held on
November 11, 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph B.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to (i) review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations regarding any proposed changes to its
composition; (ii) identify, select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of nominees for directorship; (iii) ensure the
diversity of the Board; (iv) assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (v) make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment, re-appointment, removal and succession of the
Directors. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the members of
the Nomination Committee were Dr. Chen Ping, Mr. Fong Wo,
Felix and Mr. Gu Jiong. Dr. Chen Ping was the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.
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Nomination Policy

The Company has established a nomination policy which sets out

the selection criteria and nomination procedures for the

appointment of Directors. The selection criteria used as reference

by the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:

M

@

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company'’s business and corporate strategy;

accomplishment and experience business from time to time
conducted, engaged in or invested in by any member of the
Group;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

the board diversity policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company'’s
business.
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The nomination procedure is as follows:

1. For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election at
a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make
nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

2. The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

3. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

4. The Nomination Committee shall then recommend to
appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship. The
Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of Directors.

5. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company pursuant to its constitutional documents, the
Nomination Committee shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship and where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of director at the general meeting.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year ended
December 31, 2024 to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board and the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, and to consider the qualifications of the
retiring Directors standing for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting, to review the Board Diversity Policy and Director
Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee considered an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained and has not set any measurable objective implementing
the Board Diversity policy.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of
skills, experience and diversity perspectives of the Board that are
relevant to the business growth and support the execution of the
business strategy. Pursuant to the board diversity policy, selection
of Board candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, and industry experience. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board comprised
seven members, including four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors have a
balanced mix of knowledge and experiences, including business
management, strategic development, direct selling and social
commerce, administration and management, finance, auditing and
accounting experiences. The Board members also obtained
degrees in various majors including art and design, engineering
and auditing. Furthermore, the ages of the Directors range from 42
to 74 years old. The Company has also taken, and will continue to
take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Company,
including but without limitation at the Board and senior
management levels. In particular, one of the existing executive
Directors of the Company is a female. The Company is also
committed to adopting similar approach to promote diversity of
the management (including but not limited to the senior
management) of the Company to enhance the effectiveness of the
corporate governance and will continue to apply the principle of
appointments based on merits with reference to the board diversity
policy as a whole.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity
of the Board. The Nomination Committee reviews the board
diversity policy (including gender balance) from time to time to
ensure its continued effectiveness and the Company will disclose
the implementation of the board diversity policy in the corporate
governance report on an annual basis.
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In view of the background of the existing Directors, the Nomination
Committee is of the view that the composition of the Board is
diversified.

The Company’s gender diversity is also reflected in the workforce
throughout the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024. As of
the date of this annual report, 56.67% of the Group's total
workforce (including senior management) are female. The Company
targets to maintain a high level of female representation in the
Group's workforce.

Board Independence Mechanism

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board
has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input from any Director of the Company are conveyed to the Board
for enhancing an objective and effective decision making.

The governance framework and the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by Audit Committee as delegated by the Board,
to ensure their effectiveness:

1. Three out of the seven Directors are independent non-
executive Directors, which meets the requirements of the
Listing Rules that the Board must have at least three
independent non-executive Directors and must appoint
independent non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third of the Board.

2. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence of
a candidate who is nominated to be a new independent
non-executive Director and the contribution to the diversity
of the Board according to the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company from time to time before appointment and
also the continued independence of existing independent
non-executive Directors and their time commitments
annually. On an annual basis, all independent non-executive
Directors are required to confirm in writing their compliance
of independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of
offices held by them in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitments.
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3. External independent professional advice is available as and
when required by individual Directors.

4. All Directors are encouraged to express freely their
independent views and constructive challenges during the
Board/Board Committee meetings.

5. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors.

6. A Director (including independent non-executive Director)

who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or
other proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum
on any Board resolution approving the same.

7. The chairperson of the Board meets with independent non-
executive Directors annually without the presence of the
executive Director and non-executive Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the duties on
corporate governance functions set out below:

o develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board;

o review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

o review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

o review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee
has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, Directors’ and senior management’s training and
continuing professional development, the Company’s policies and
practices in complying with legal and regulatory requirements,
compliance with the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and its disclosure in the corporate governance
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report.
COMPANY SECRETARY DEMWE
Ms. Zhang Xiao served as the company secretary of the Company RELZTEEARAFTAFIMWME([ATIRE]) -

(the "Company Secretary”) until her resignation on February 29,
2024. The Company has appointed Ms. Pun Ka Ying (a senior
manager of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited) as the
Company Secretary on March 1, 2024.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, Mr. Feng Yijing, the
executive Director and chief financial officer of the Company, is the
primary contact of the Company Secretary at the Company. All
Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that board procedures, and all applicable law,
rules and regulations, are followed. During the Reporting Period,
the Company Secretary has completed more than 15 hours of
relevant professional training according to Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the external auditor of the Company, Ermnst &
Young, in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the
Group for the Reporting Period are set out as below.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company. The Board is committed
to implementing an effective and sound risk management and
internal control system to safeguard the interest of the shareholders
and the assets of the Company.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The Board has placed great emphasis on the
establishment and improvement of the risk management and
internal control systems and is responsible for evaluating and
determining the degree of risk acceptable to the Company in
achieving its strategic objectives. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the Audit
Committee, who oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board has conducted a review of the systems of risk
management and internal control for the Reporting Period to
ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of the systems. Such review
shall be conducted annually. The Board considered that the risk
management and internal control systems of Company for the
Reporting Period were effective and adequate.
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Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

Highlights of the Group's internal control measures include the
following:

BREERASBEF RGN EESH
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the Group has improved the existing internal control
framework by adopting a set of internal control manual and
policies, which cover corporate governance, risk
management, operation and legal matters;

the Directors have received trainings conducted by the
Company's legal advisor as to Hong Kong laws on the
continuing obligations, duties and responsibilities of
directors of publicly listed companies under the applicable
laws of Hong Kong;

each of the Directors is aware of the fiduciary duties as a
director which require, among other things, that he or she
must act for the benefit and in the best interest of the
Company and must not allow any conflict between his duties
as a director and his personal interests. In the event that
there is a potential conflict of interest arising out of any
transaction to be entered into between the Company and
Directors or their respective associates, any interested
Director will be abstained from voting at the relevant
meeting of the Board in respect of such transaction and
shall not be counted in the quorum;

the Group has adopted various policies to ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules, including those in relation
to risk management and information disclosure;

the Group has appointed external legal advisor to advise on
the compliance requirements of the Listing Rules and ensure
the compliance with relevant regulatory requirements and
applicable laws, where necessary;

the Group will assess and monitor the implementation of
the internal control manual and policies by the relevant
departments and companies in the Group through regular
audits and inspections;
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o the Group will provide internal training to employees as
appropriate in order to enable them to follow the internal
control and corporate governance procedures;

o the Group will provide anti-corruption and anti-bribery
compliance policies in the manual and implement a whistle-
blower program under which the employees are encouraged
to report instances of briberies directly to the finance
department; and

o the Group will keep implementing updated policies to the
extent necessary to ensure future compliance with
applicable laws and regulations.

The process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

In December 2022, the Company completed the Global Offering
and was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Through
a series of governance measures with strict standards, the Company
has formed a governance structure that meets the relevant
regulatory requirements of the Stock Exchange and other relevant
regulatory provisions.

The Company has set up the Audit Committee. The Board has
delegated to the Audit Committee the responsibility for reviewing
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The specific work of risk management and
internal audit is mainly carried out by the internal audit team which
reports directly to the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
has a high degree of independence, and is responsible for
providing an evaluation on the effectiveness of the Company'’s risk
management and internal control systems. The internal audit team
focuses on significant risks to gradually form the systematic and
standardized audit model and procedures, and examines key issues
in relation to the key internal controls, and provide its findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
shall study on the rectification measures and strictly monitor the
implementation results of rectification measures jointly with the
business and other relevant departments, in order to ensure that
the rectification measures can be effectively and thoroughly
implemented.
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The Company takes comprehensive risk management as an
important task in its daily operation and has taken into account the
regulatory requirements to formulate relevant disclosure policies as
well. In order to prevent risks and enhance internal control, the
Company has developed an interconnected organizational system
with clear accountability and effective check and balance. The
Company has, taking into account its specific conditions,
established and improved internal control system. The Company's
internal control establishment has basically covered all operating
segments of the Company, including organisation, production
operations, financial management, personnel management, and
information disclosure, etc. The Company has formulated and
implemented the Howkingtech Corporate Internal Control System,
standardized the internal audit work, defined the internal audit
team’s main job responsibilities and work authority, and stipulated
the internal control principles and the basic procedures for the
implementation of internal control work. The Company has
formulated and put into implementation the Howkingtech
Corporate Risk Management Regulations to define risk
management organization and duties at various levels and risk
management processes of the Company. The Company developed
an annual risk management and internal audit work plan in
accordance with the internal control system and risk management
system of the Company, and reviewed the effectiveness of its risk
management and internal control execution. In addition, the
Company also has formulated and put into implementation the
Howkingtech Corporate Administrative Rules for Information
Disclosure, which provides general guidelines for the directors,
senior managers and employees of the Company to handle
confidential information, defines the Company’s information
disclosure responsibility, strengthens the management of
information disclosure affairs, standardizes the company’s
information disclosure behavior, and ensures the Company’s
information disclosure is true, accurate, complete and timely.
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The audit work of the Company in 2024, focusing on two core
elements of system development and execution capability
enhancement, highlighted key risks that have significant impact,
strengthened supervision and evaluation, and gave full play to the
internal control system. The Group has carried out internal reviews
of key audit matters such as the Company’s sales process, accounts
receivable management, procurement and payment process,
related transactions, and further improved the internal control
system and driving Rectifications of Internal Control Deficiencies.
The Group also conducts training and learning on the internal
control system for Directors, senior managers and other employees
to enhance the internal control consciousness of all employees and
form an internal control culture of abiding by the law.

The Board has conducted an annual review of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2024. The Board considers that the current risk
management and internal control systems of the Group are
effective and adequate.

Handling and dissemination of inside information

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the inside information policy of the
Company and the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
published by the Securities and Future Commission in June 2012 to
ensure inside information remains confidential until the disclosure
of such information is appropriately approved, and the
dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently
made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about due compliance with all policies regarding the
inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees abreast of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.

BERN R ERERERA T
SENEER

Corporate Governance Report
TRERRE

ARBE—_Z_MFNBEZTFEEEHIEH
BERRTTMITREIMAZOESE - RFAREKX
TENTERR - NREELHE  XFEHE
BABZEHHENER - AREERREAR
AISHEREE - BUCRKERE » ERNFR
2 BMXSSHRBAFTENABR - #
— 2P e & P BRHE Il ] 0 1k B 70 BB 22 Il BR P Y
B ARETHES  SREEASRHM
B THETABEGHENZIREE - UiEa
2B THRBMEFHIEE - WACELTENA
ERAEHISAE o

BEEenYEHE_Z-_ME+_A=+—H1It
FEAEBENRREE L AIBIEH RaETE
ERs - EF2ERAE - AEEBANRRER
MRS RSB E R RI R

BEERBHEARHEE

AEBERBEAR BN ARHEBBOR kG5 LB
EERERZBEN T _FXATEN
(AR BRERES |BEENRE SRR %
i ARERAREENBEE IERBEAIRE -
WHERBR R —BURAEAEE - ARRE
%ﬁﬁ%%&ﬁ%%@%?ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁgm%
BEREK - R ARAFEES fAETEER
BEZRMEENRHER - AR Th%%&%
A ENESI R ARRETEERT -

145



146

HOWKINGTECH INTERNATIONAL HOLDING LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Corporate Governance Report

SEEREE

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting ("EGM") and for
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one or
more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings, on a one
vote per share basis in the share capital of the Company, and the
foregoing Shareholders shall be able to add resolutions to the
meeting agenda. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the company secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the Shareholder(s) himself/
herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholder(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Shareholder(s)
by the Company.

The above written requisition shall be addressed to the Company'’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 1920, 19/F, Lee
Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Companies Act for shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance
with the above procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board

Should any questions as to the Company arise, shareholders and
investors may contact the Company. The contact details of the
Company are as follows:

Howkingtech International Holding Limited

Address: Room 1920, 19/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

Email: ir@howkingtech.com
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Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Amendments To Constitutional Document

There was no amendment made to the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Reporting Period.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communications policy
which aims to set out the provisions with the objective of ensuring
the Shareholder are provided with equal and timely access to
information about the Company, in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to
allow them to engage actively with the Company.

The Board will maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders
and will review the policy regularly to ensure its effectiveness.
Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the
Company's financial reports, annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, as well as all the
disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may at
any time make a request for the Company’s information to the
extent such information is publicly available.

As disclosed in the section headed “Procedures for Directing
Shareholders’ Enquiries to the Board” in this annual report,
designated contacts, email addresses and enquiry telephone
number of the Company are provided to Shareholders in order to
enable them to make any query in respect of the Company.

Having considered the various existing channels of communication
and the feedbacks from the Shareholders, investors and analysts,
the Board considers that the Shareholders’ communication policy
has been properly implemented and effective during the Reporting
Period.
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Ernst & Young LIKEETENSEIET Tel B55%: +852 2846 9838
27/F, One Taikoo Place EBHIRE Fax {8 E.: +852 2868 4432
§* 979 King’s Road WEE 97958 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Howkingtech International Holding Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Howkingtech International Holding Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 155 to 268, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter
HAREEE

BRETEE(E

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRNFTONNEEFARETER

Impairment assessment of trade and notes receivables

B 2 MR &R SE B AR ERHE

As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying value of
the Group's trade and notes receivables amounted
to RMB223,268,000, after netting off an impairment
provision of RMB70,815,000, representing 88.6% of the
Group's total assets.
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The impairment of trade and notes receivables was
assessed using the expected credit loss model. The
assessment of expected credit losses for trade and
notes receivables was performed at 31 December 2024
using the simplified approach which involved significant
management’s judgement and estimation including
their assessment of the expected credit loss rate of the
peer group. The assessment is highly judgemental.
The Group’s disclosures about trade and notes
receivables are included in note 2.4 Material accounting
policies, note 3 Significant accounting judgements and
estimates and note 18 Trade and notes receivables,
which specifically explain the accounting policies,
management’s estimates and the related provision.
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Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of
trade and notes receivables included the following:
BAFHEE S REIE R EERERENERIEF 2R
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Q) discussing with management to obtain an
understanding of the nature and the judgement
involved in estimating the peer group;
HEERE A T BEFRITARMS RS
B8

2 evaluating management'’s assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables by reviewing
the detailed analyses of the ageing of the
receivables, testing, on a sampling basis, the
payments received subsequent to year end;
FEBEMFRNBUGIRRE DT R MERAH T
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(3) reviewing the historical payment patterns and
historical provisions along with other economic
information of the receivables and any disputes
between the parties involved,
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@) recalculating the impairment of trade and
notes receivables using the provision matrix
and checking the mathematical accuracy of the
calculations; and
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(5) reviewing the related disclosures in the financial
statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent auditor's report
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Independent auditor’s report

B BERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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SENEER

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GERRRHMZERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_NME+-_A=t+—BIFE

2024 2023
—E-ME —ET-=F
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
liFss AR¥T T AREBFIT
REVENUE g 5 98,580 440,550
Cost of sales SHEA (99,036) (356,723)
Gross (loss)/profit (E8)/EF (456) 83,827
Other income and gains HAWA RIWES 5 2,687 3,762
Selling and distribution expenses HENRDHERY (4,694) (3,577)
Administrative expenses TEHEX (37,551) (38,112)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net % &4 2 B (B 185 58 (29.432) (10,003)
Other expenses Hibfx (783) (1,221)
Finance costs BE KR 7 (197) (220)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BT (18), 5 6 (70,426) 34,456
Income tax expense FriSfiFA 10 (7,101) (8,963)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERER), 5 (77,527) 25,493
Attributable to: AT AT
Owners of the parent SRAFIHA A (77,527) 25,493
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hit2EKA
Other comprehensive income that may ~ E&HIF A EFHHEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in B EMmEm
subsequent periods: WA
Exchange differences on translation of ~ HEFINETEH
foreign operations ME W = 5E 78 118
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREMEE
FOR THE YEAR LN 78 118
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ FARZzE(ER),
INCOME FOR THE YEAR WA B85 (77,449) 25,611
Attributable to: AT AT
Owners of the parent HARHEEA (77,449) 25,611
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BARAEBRESZFEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EhER(BE),
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT EF
Basic (RMB) EAR(ARE) (36.01) cents 11.61 cents
12 AR¥(36.01)7 AR#11.619
Diluted (RMB) HE(ARK) (36.01) cents 11.55 cents
12 AR¥(36.01)7 AREE11.557
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBMRRK
31 December 2024
—ENF+—A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-EF ke
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
BaE AR%ET T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB NERIE 13 1,344 3,549
Equity investments designated at fair EER AT ERT AEA
value through other comprehensive 2ER G RERE
income 14 13,513 13,513
Right-of-use assets FREESE 15(a) 929 1,886
Other intangible assets Efmp EE 16 73 98
Contract assets BHEE 19 - 32
Prepayments, other receivables and FARTRRIR ~ Efth U IR
other assets NEMEE 20 377 1,968
Deferred tax assets EEBIHEE 25 = 7,101
Total non-current assets EMBNVE EMEE 16,236 28,147
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories & 17 - 1,503
Trade and notes receivables B ZEWGRIA R EWEE 18 223,268 279,831
Contract assets BREE 19 32 1,950
Prepayments, other receivables and TR IR - EfhpENGRIR
other assets MEMEE 20 8,435 6,091
Time deposits TFHIFR 21 - 5,707
Cash and cash equivalents BENREEEY 21 4,082 27,540
Total current assets MENVEEBE 235,817 322,622
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B S ENRIA 22 34,282 59,340
Other payables and accruals Hib I sIE R EFER 23 6,625 9,944
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STERITIER 24 3,000 5,010
Lease liabilities HEAaE 15(b) 717 999
Tax payable e EiIR 1,767 6,172
Total current liabilities mEAEARE 46,391 81,465
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 189,426 241,157
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBDAER
LIABILITIES 205,662 269,304
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBRRE
31 December 2024
—ECNF+=-A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-E B
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
BosE AR¥T T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 15(b) 211 913
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIBEE 25 14 14
Total non-current liabilities EREEERE 225 927
Net assets BEFE 205,437 268,377
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of ISYNCIE 2PN
the parent
Issued capital EEITER 26 15,646 15,646
Share premium R E 160,329 175,310
Treasury shares EFRG 27 = (23,839)
Reserves i 28 29,462 101,260
Total equity W B R 205,437 268,377
Dr. Chen Ping Mr. Feng Yijing
BR¥EEL BEREE
Director Director

EZE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

SERBEDR

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZE-_NNE+-A=+—BItFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BOTERARLE
Share Retained
option Exchange profits/
Issued Treasury Share  and award Capital ~fluctuation (accumulated Total
capital shares  premium reserve*  reserve*  reserve* losses)* equity
BhRE
RRGEE EXR® REEH/
BRTEs  EERE  ROER fifE  EARE fifer  (REE)r  BHEE
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETR  AR®Tn ARMTR ARETn ARETn ARETR  ARMTn ARMTR
(note 26) (note 27) (note27)  (note28) (note 28)
(Wi26)  (H&20) (W27)  (hi2e)  (Hisioe)
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-E-METCA
St-BLEE
At 1 January 2024 W=F-mE-A-4 15,646 (23839) 175310 10,521 27,619 622 62,438 268,377
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (17521) (711.521)
Exchange differences on translation of ~ AE BN ERH)
foreign operations EiEE = = 5 - - 78 - 78
Total comprehensive loss EneESE
for the year g - - - - - /] (17,521) (77,449)
Eouitysettled share option andavard ~ RIEEEAERER
amangemens R =B - B89 (2855 1355 - - - 14,509
Exercise of share award e - - 1874 (7,874) = = o S
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+=A=1-H 15,646 - 160,329 16,172 27,619 700 (15,089) 205,437




BERN R ERERERA T
SENEER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEREREBR

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NF+-_A=1+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRARAAER
Share Exchange
lssued  Treasury Share option Copital ~ fluctuation ~ Retained Total
capital shares  premium reseve*  reserve*  reserve® profits* equity
Bk ESLAE

BEEX  EERD  RbEE B AAGERE Wi RERH  ERER
RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBODD  RMBOOD
ABRTL ARBTL ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

(note 26) (note 27) (note 27) (note 28) (note 28)
(hke)  (BE27) (k) (mEe) ()
Year ended 31 December 2023 ~ HZ-E-=£+=f
=t-HIEE
At 1 January 2023 A\ZEZ=F-F-H 15,646 - 175310 - 27619 504 36,945 256,084
Profit for the year il - - - - - - 25493 25493
Exchange differences on translation ~ AEESNEEA
of foreign operations ERZS - - - - - 118 - 118
Total comprehensive income ER2EMA
for the year it - - - - - 118 25,493 25,611
Equity-settled share option DRELER
arrangements BlRER - - - 10521 - S S 10,521
Shares repurchased B0k - (23839 - - - S = (23839)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=fE+-B=+-A 15,646 (23839) 175310 10,521 27619 622 62438 268,377
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBEREEPEEAMBIRARANEGSFE
RMB29,462,000 (2023: RMB101,260,000) in the consolidated statement of BHARME29,462000T(ZE =% : AR¥

financial position.

101,260,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

TERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2024

BE_Z-_WFE+-_BA=+—HILEFE

2024 2023
—B-F —T=F
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
Bt ARBT T AREBFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING & ZBHMERERE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax AR (ER) % (70,426) 34,456
Adjustments for: MATEIBELTFE -
Finance costs AR AR 7 197 220
Bank interest income arising from RETEEFERW
time deposits HRITHEHA (48) (390)
Other interest income from REEATHEF AR
financial assets at fair value BEVEENEAM T SHA
through profit or loss (12) (14)
Foreign exchange differences, net b = RERER (8) (521)
Gain on revision of lease terms A AT EE HARR K
arising from changes in the non- HEREZHMETHE
cancellable period and scope of LS &
leases 15(c) = (118)
Loss on disposal of items of HEYE - BEMREEE
property, plant and equipment KEE 6 = 462
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ ¥1% - BE LREITE
equipment 13 1,439 1,580
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FREEEITE 15(a) 968 1,356
Amortisation of other intangible H b E s
assets 16 83 96
Impairment of property, W% - WEKERERE
plant and equipment 13 774 -
Impairment of trade and notes H 5 FeRIE S FE R BOR
receivables & 18 28,030 10,030
Reversal of impairment of contract BHEERERD
assets 19 (71) (27)
Impairment of financial assets FTATEFRIE - HAb UG
included in prepayments, other HMNEMEEMNSRERE
receivables and other assets A 20 1,473 -
Equity-settled share option and VARSHE 45 5 1O B SR K ALt
award expense B X 27 13,525 10,521
(24,076) 57,651
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,503 4116
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B SR EIE KBRS
notes receivables /(&) 28,533 (75,851)
Increase in prepayments, other TERTFRIE - Efth FEUCRIE R B
receivables and other assets B EEIE BN (2,226) (3,278)
Decrease in contract assets aREERD 2,021 779
(Increase)/decrease in trade payables B Z A 3IE (& 10), 8D (25,058) 3,661
Increase in other payables and E b IA R ERTE RN
accruals (3,299) (17,718)
Cash used in operations KEFARS (22,602) (30,640)
Income tax paid 2P (4,405) (8,888)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nv_\éiﬁrﬁﬁiﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE
2024 2023
—B-F —T=F
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
k=3 ARBT T AREBFIT
Net cash flows used in operating wERE AR R E F5E
activities (27,007) (39,528)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING #REZTBHFISRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BUH B 60 550
Purchases of items of property, plant BEE ¥ - FE LR EHERB
and equipment (20) (2,440)
Additions to other intangible assets  RNBEHEMELEE (58) (37)
Purchases of financial assets at fair BERAFEFABRN
value through profit or loss SRVEE (8,551) (26,830)
Disposal of financial assets at fair HEZRATFEFT ABRL
value through profit or loss TREE 8,551 26,830
Placement of time deposits FHE BiTFER - (55,705)
Withdrawal of time deposits REVEHIER 5,732 121,570
Purchases of equity investments HWEERTEEATFERA
designated at fair value through Hh 2 E W E R IR IER A
other comprehensive income - (13,513)
Net cash flows from investing B EBTEH S REE5E
activities 5,714 50,425
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING @& ZTBHMERERE
ACTIVITIES
Capital injection from shareholders ~ JEF& 984 -
New bank loans FRTTER 3,010 11,756
Repayment of bank loans BEBRITER (5,020) (17,115)
A loan from a shareholder RE—BRENER 1,750 —
Repayment of a loan from a BERE —BRREAHER
shareholder (1,750) =
Interest paid ERFE (121) (110)
Lease payments HERRK 15(b) (1,077) (1,402)
Prepayment for a lease of plantand ~ FHERE K AMER
office premises TafTFRIE - (39)
Payment for lease deposits HERSNRR - (150)
Refund of the lease deposits ROHEEZS = 54
Repurchase of treasury shares BREFRGS - (23,839)
Share issue expenses BT = (2,130)
Net cash flows used in financing RMEESMAEEREFRE
activities (2,224) (32,975)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERBEEEBURHD FE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (23,517) (22,078)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NF+_A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
b AR%ET T ARBTIT
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRE MREEEY
beginning of year 27,540 47,301
Effect of foreign exchange rate P ok B 2 R
changes, net 59 2,317
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS SXBEE&RREZEY
AT END OF YEAR 4,082 27,540
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERRESEYNERDIT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTES R 21 4,082 33,247
Less: Time deposits B EHITERR 21 - (5,707)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated #GAEEHRERK
in the consolidated statement REMBRRERZ2VH
of cash flows and consolidated ReERREEEY
statement of financial position 4,082 27,540




CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 25 August 2021. The registered office
of the Company is located at the offices of Ogier Global
(Cayman) Limited, 89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
Cayman KY1-9009, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were principally
involved in the provision of data transmission and processing
services for Internet of Thing (“loT") applications and
telecommunication equipment.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 12 December 2022. Dr. Chen Ping, Ms. Wang
Zheshi, Ms. Jin Yan and Howkingtech Holding Limited were
the controlling shareholders of the Company. Howkingtech
Holding Limited is a business company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 11 August 2021,
which is owned by Ms. Wang Zheshi and Ms. Jin Yan.

On 17 January 2025, Home Office Development Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability and controlled by Chan Chin Ching, entered
into share purchase agreements with the controlling
shareholders and certain other shareholders of the Company
to purchase 157,755,400 issued shares, representing
approximately 70.11% of the issued capital of the Company
as at the date of share purchase agreements, at a
consideration of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") 140,245,000, at
a price of HK$0.889 per share. Completion took place on 27
January 2025.

More detailed information is included in note 36 to the
financial statements.

BRENEERERERAR
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Notes to Financial Statements

g E R

31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H
AT REBER

KRR AR -_ZE-_—FN NA=-+HH
RASHEFMELANBRAA - K
N RIHFE 9% F 5E A AL Ogier Global
(Cayman) Limited R it E &+ kA
89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
CaymanKY1-9009, Cayman Islands °

AATBREERAT - REN - AR
U 2 ) B B IR Gt 8 (T
1)) FE U8 8 TR R SRS A B 1
S -

ARABROR T —_F+ZA+=H
MEEBERZAARLDR ([HA])
FRET - BRFEFEL  FEMEKL @
& 47+ N Howkingtech Holding Limited
RARF R R o Howkingtech
Holding Limited @ — XM ZE = —F )\
A+—RHERBRZEFSTMKINE
REXAR AXTEMRE %t
A -

RZE-_RAF—HA++EH ' Home
Office Development Limited ( — f& R
HERZEE MK A QR
BRG] BAQ A ERMRE LET
HMBRRTIBRDBEERE  UEE
157,755,400 % B B 1T n * ER A
RNARRMDEE B B R BITIRAL
70.11% - X 1B 4 140,245,0007% 7T ([ 7
TTl) » BIREK E0.889E T - TAE
RZZE-_AF—A-t+tH%E-

BEHBER M RRMEIS
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31 December 2024
—ENF+=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as

NARKEEFR (&)

RENEARNER

RRREEMBARMNFELT

follows:
Percentage
Place and date °.f ST
of incorporation/ Issued attributable to
establishment and ordinary/ the (io_mpany
place of operations registered AL
HEMRYL, share capital BREEIL
Name oA k2958 O%{7E®,/ Direct Indirect Principal activities
28 AHUREE DR EEALES B BE IEXHB
Howkingtech (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands United States 100% - Investment holding
Howkingtech (BVI) Limited 3 September 2021 Dollars REER
HBRAHS ("US$"
“T-—%AA=H 1%=x((Ex])
Parka Aragon Holding Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% - Investment holding
Parka Aragon Holding Limited 13 October 2021 (E REER
EBRLEE
T —%TH+=H
HowKingTech Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited (“Howking 17 September 2021 1787 BEER
Hong Kong") BB
FEREAMRARAF —Z--FNATtR
(MEREEREK)
Parka Aragon Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited 27 October 2021 BT REER
ERRRMAEERAR BE

“F-FtTA-TtAR
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g E R

31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARATREEEHE)
(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) EENEATINER (&)

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are as ARBRFEEHBARIMFEBWT : (B)
follows: (continued)

Percentage
Place and date of equity
of incorporation/ Issued attributable to
establishment and ordinary/ the Company
place of operations registered AL
EMRIL, share capital KRB
Name Rt E R B%{7E®, Direct Indirect Principal activities
£8 AEUREE R EEES B Mg TEXR
Nanjing Howking People's Republic RMB - 100%  Research and
Technology Co., Ltd. of China ("PRC")/ 127,466,667 development and
("Nanjing Howking") Mainland China ARE sale of antenna
(FARREBARHRAR AR 29 September 2013 127,466,6677C system products,
HRRRBARRERAT A R 5G equipment and
([FARER]) ([RE]), e other devices
—E2-=FAAZTAR E RIEERR
RitEm - SGEE
&L B
Shenzhen M2Micro Electronics PRC/ RMB - 100%  Research,
Co., Ltd. ("Shenzhen M2M") Mainland China 10,000,000 development and
(RINTTYBE e A BR A B))* 17 April 2012 AR data transmission
M ETERAR BB A 10,000,0007T and processing
(R 4mEe ) “T--HFMA++A services for loT

applications and
assembly of
antenna products
F e bR A e 48
ERZEEER
RIERBIAK
AERRER
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31 December 2024

—ENE+—A=T—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

NARKEEFR (&)

AENEARNER(FE)

ARBEEMBRABNFHBLT : (B)

Percentage
Place and date of equity
of incorporation/ Issued attributable to
establishment and ordinary/ the Company
place of operations registered AL
HEMRL, share capital KRR
Name Rt E R B%{7E®,  Direct Indirect Principal activities
8 BAUREE LR EElIES B Mg TEXR
HongKong HowKing Hong Kong HK$ - 100%  Import and
Technology Limited 23 January 2020 31,192,800 export trade
("HongKong HowKing") BH 31,192,800 7T ELOES
ERERBARMRARAR —TCTH
([BERR]) —A=+=8
Anji Haojing Communication PRC/ RMB - 100%  Research and
Technology Co., Ltd. Mainland China 220,165,242 development and
(RE RS BARHAR AR 28 December 2022 AR sale of antenna
ZH RSB AR AE HE,/ TR A it 220,165,2427T system products,
ZTICF equipment and
+ZAZ+NH other devices

The English names of these entities registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by the management of the
Company to directly translate their Chinese names as they did
not register any official English names.

fis RiHE
KRB
R EMRE



2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
wealth management products and equity investments which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Going concern assumption

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a total loss of
RMB77,527,000 and a net cash outflow from operating of
RMB27,007,000. The liquidity of the Group is primarily
dependent on its ability to maintain adequate cash inflows
from operations and sufficient financing to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due. In preparing the
financial statements, the directors of the Company have
considered the Group's sources of liquidity and believe that
adequate funding is available to fulfil the Group's debt
obligations and capital expenditure requirements.

As at the reporting date, the Group had unutilised credit
facilities from a bank of RMB7,000,000 to meet the debt
obligations and capital expenditure requirements partially.
Home Office Development Limited, the new shareholder,
has confirmed to provide continuous financial support to the
Group to enable it to have sufficient liquidity to finance its
operations as and when they fall due for a period of not less
than 9 months from the date of the reporting date.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's
cash flow forecast prepared by management which covers a
period of twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. They are of the opinion that, taking into account the
above-mentioned measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the
foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Going concern assumption (continued)

Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a basis that the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investments retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the current year's
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance

and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to
ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of
use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer settlement
and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The
2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the Group's
financial statements.

BRENEERERERAR
—E-mEEH

Notes to Financial Statements

g E R

31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H

22 EHERRSERKE(H)

(b)

R _TFBIAEEREED
HAERBIGERENMATE - &
EEENEFRRE RICEE
TR MBI RS BIRTE
BENSE T ERBITELE
BEFIN TR - 5B
FIARTNES - AEATAEEREK
XTI EEN BRAETEE
AEMNERERASUEZTAEA
R - BENERSTErER
D T FEEAE—F
EE TERLTHEANBER
#Eh o RBEENRERHx
RIZEBTHRB TS REED
HEARBDSIERDELETE - ¥
REREEE+ @A RESFARK

RENER  ARERBAEF
HEESMIEE

AEBEEFNTEN_E_=F
F—Z-NFE—A—HHNEEN
G RAGEHE - WRABEREX
ERZEE A DB EAER
BSIERE) o At - ZEBEA
HARE BRI BRI R IR &
(EREIZ

FREEEUETRRBEMB
WELERE7HR(ERIA) BEBH
EERELTFNER  YHRER
EELPHEHRRIMNEEE - 2%
ERTARMRERT & EHBITH
BRERE THREEERERH
HEBMNAE REREMAD
BEeREBROFE - ARNAKEYL
BEHERRERH  MZFERT
7R 7 65 [ 1) B 7 3R R O S A AR

S/ 480
rE°

m



172

HOWKINGTECH INTERNATIONAL HOLDING LIMITED

ANNUAL

REPORT 2024

Notes to Financial Statements

RIS R M

31 December 2024

— = —

= —

2.3

mE+=—A=+—H

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are
not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group

intends to apply these new and revised HKFRS Accounting

Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

2025
2026
January 2027

adoption

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments’

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent
Electricity”

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Lack of Exchangeability’
Amendments to HKFRS 1,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting

Standards that are expected to be applicable to the Group is

described below.

2.3

CHEAEHREMNEBMBRE
2R

AEERZEMBEHRERPILEER T
E MR R R AR FTR] RSB RT BB
s E LR G ER - REREENZ
EA BRI BB B IS R
R (@R ) £ AR FE 2R o

BBV HREER  HEFEZL

1855 ZIRFFE

BB REER FLHZTEN

F£195% ZHIBLE]
wEE

ERYVHREER M TASER

FEOREES FTEMIEET

BTSSR 2ER)

FETHRUBETA)

BBV MEER HRGHE ARG

FIRREBUME  AEHEA
HELERF75R

CCHEN)

EBUEMERER KEZHABE
FIORBEBET AAHAEDS
HEBI| 552857 R EE
(EETA) HETKA"

B Hh= A 5 P
FE215(EFTAN)

BB BEHEER BAEVIEHREER
BAERIREE BN BAY

K —F115 s AERIET
R BB ISR
HAERIEISR -
EBYIEREE
BIZE105 R B
GRIERETHR

(BRI A)?

! R-ZE-RAF—A— B2 BRBHE
FEHARS ARk

? RZZEZXF—A—As 2 &HBHE
TEHAR A K

? RIZE_+F— A —HlZBFABRHE
B/ RE B AR

¢ TR0 AR 78 T o Il A Ak B R - T R A

EREMERNAKRENZERT BN
WELER S ERE — P ERFR M
T o



2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income into one of the five categories:
operating, investing, financing, income taxes and
discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note and
introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping
(aggregation and disaggregation) and the location of
information in both the primary financial statements and the
notes. Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1
are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS
8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a
consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but
widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and
HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are
minor consequential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the
new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on
the presentation and disclosure of the Group's financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other
HKFRS Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of
the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as
defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
cannot have public accountability and must have a parent
(ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply
with HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is
permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is not
eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company's
subsidiaries are considering the application of HKFRS 19 in
their specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy option
to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through an
electronic payment system before the settlement date if
specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with
non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures for
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments at
the same time or only the amendments related to the
classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the
application of the “own-use” requirements for in-scope
contracts and amend the designation requirements for a
hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for in scope
contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
understand the effects these contracts have on an entity’s
financial performance and future cash flows. The
amendments relating to the own-use exception shall be
applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. The amendments relating to the hedge
accounting shall be applied prospectively to new hedging
relationships designated on or after the date of initial
application. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied at
the same time. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency
and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a
measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and
the accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7),
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as
follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs I1G1, 1G14
and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS
7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in
other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify
that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does
not necessarily illustrate all the requirements in the
referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 CHEGENMKAEMNEBSHBERE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS B (48)
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with
HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or
loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of
HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of
various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents
of the investor, which removes the inconsistency with
the requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion
of the definition of “cost method"”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the Group's financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures unlisted investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1T - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-
current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the asset'’s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-

generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the

function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or

loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of

the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

(continued)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20.0%

Leasehold improvements

Machinery 10.0% to 33.0%
Office equipment 16.0% to 33.0%
Motor vehicles 25.0%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in
a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Software and licences

Software and licences are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 1 to 5 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Plant and office premises 2 to 3years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of
a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are presented separately
in the statements of financial position.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises
and equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to leases of office equipment that are
considered to be of low value. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit
or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables or
notes receivable that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables or notes receivable that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at
the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI") on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to

purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends

on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or

impaired.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income
in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial
asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried

in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statements of financial position) when:

J the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in

For those credit

credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable

expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment

under the general approach and they are classified within

the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for

trade receivables, notes receivable and contract assets

which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage2 -

Stage3 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables, notes receivable and contract assets
that do not contain a significant financing component or
when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its peer group’s expected credit loss, adjusted for factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables, notes receivable and contract assets
that contain a significant financing component, the Group
chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described
above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, and interest-bearing bank
borrowings.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statements of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Group's own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks and short-term deposits as defined above, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented in profit or
loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

J in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2.4 ZEASHEZ(E)

Income tax (continued) 8B (4&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at RIETR IR S E M REERN S RS HRE
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent TR WRE K TNER LA T IR
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will Mmr A2k BELEHIBEE
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to EAR - RIERMNELIREENE
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed MEMAREITEMN - WARIER THE
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to FRT v ) AT A U 0] 2 B ek B IR AE Y 1E
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient BERER

taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax RIERIBEEE R B BTKEN S wE
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the RAEEMKEBEE LEEMAORE (R
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates ) RIEHERANEREEXERS
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively EHRORRTE -

enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if B HEEAEBEA A KA NITET
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set 1S BN ERT 1R & FE R B ER T IR A (B I8 -
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the BEEHIEEERRLERIBAERER—
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to RIS R A — IR R TR B BB s & R 3K
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either HEEPHAARELCHBERENEES
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which BIEESIN IR - BR F R LR
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a s aEREENRREIREE NG
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities BaBEN TR ERNEEBEWRTER
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant R AEERIBEEERELERIBEAE
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to A PN o

be settled or recovered.

Government grants BB
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where fin 8 & IR RE ] R /8 B R & BT
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received BHAEIEHE - AIEEEIEAFETI
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the R WESERASIER - QIZE
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income ERRENRA T HHRAE R Gt i
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for Fy=1 N

which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, MANEBIESIEEEEERME - BB
the grants are recorded at a nominal amount. REEZIER °



2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Data transmission and processing services for loT
applications

Revenue from data transmission and processing services for
loT applications is recognised at the point in time when
control of the assets or services is transferred to the
customers and customer acceptance is acquired.
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mE+=—A=+—H
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Sales of telecommunication equipment

Revenue from the sales of telecommunication equipment is
recognised at the point in time when control of the assets is
transferred to the customers, generally on delivery of the
products.

Others

Revenue from consulting, maintenance and other services is
generally recognised at the point in time when control of
the assets or services is transferred to the customers and
customer acceptance is acquired, or over the scheduled
period on a straight-line basis or over time using an input
method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction
of the service, because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment,
details of which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade
receivables when the right to the consideration becomes
unconditional.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme and a share
award scheme. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of
equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in
note 27 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2.4 ZEASHEZ(E)

Share-based payments (continued) R AERNSF(E)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not ETEREAR L BN AT ERTEE
taken into account when determining the grant date fair KRB RIETIGRBGS  BEXEHE
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being BT RE Mt 25 AR EBH KK
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the gHEBENER TAME SEMGFH—FB
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 7 e MBREGEHRR L AR R TE
Market performance conditions are reflected within the B o B2 EH P BT 7518 S AR B AR 75 225K
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an BV E A IR 3008 B IEER B IR 1
award, but without an associated service requirement, are B IERIREB RS AR AS KSR IR - B
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting AIFEER B IR BB A FER KRR
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and e E e RN 8 -

lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market MAFETIHRIZ K, Sk BRI I K 32
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, MEERFBEBNREME - THERE
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market MY - WIEEBIE—EMS N IERE
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as B TmmBIEREBIRERTE
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting K REVERF/EHEE - EMBEM
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance KNSRI IS B ER -

and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as fiad LA BB 4 & /9 BB RO T E 3T - Il
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not RENKEE R IGRNERT » 24A
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In OB MG AT RS RT Y 1B R HERR
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that oo AN HIRBETHEETE  EEE
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, STEH AN BEBON R AT EE
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at BEE M BFREES © BIZBFZEE
the date of modification. Where an equity-settled award is TRERR S o AN S E S B e
cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of - BESEAEREHEBEEE - mE
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the TR B (E (o] ZEE) i S B B IRF SR o

award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as STEFREBFE  MAITEBRERNS
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per SENFE DI VEFEIMNIR (7 S E R E

share.



2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

Contributions made to the government retirement benefit
fund under defined contribution retirement plans are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in central
pension schemes operated by the local municipal
government and the central government, respectively.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of payroll costs to the central pension schemes.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension schemes.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period,
but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it
will assess whether the information affects the amounts that
it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will
adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to
reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and
update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in
light of the new information. For non-adjusting events after
the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts
recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the
nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their
financial effects, or a statement that such an estimate cannot
be made, if applicable.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. Interim dividends are simultaneously
proposed and declared, because the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company'’s functional currency. As the major revenues
and assets of the Group are derived from operations in
Mainland China, RMB is chosen as the presentation currency
for the presentation of the financial statements. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting periods. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting periods and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
periods, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
notes receivable and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables, notes receivable and contract assets. The
provision matrix is initially based on the expected credit loss
rates of peer group. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the expected credit loss with factors that are specific
to the debtors and the economic environment. For peer
group’s assessment, the Group takes into consideration the
ECLs accounting policy, business nature and revenue size.
The amount of expected credit loss is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

The assessment of ECLs is a significant estimate. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
of forecast economic conditions. The peer group's expected
credit loss may also not be representative of customers’
actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group's trade receivables, notes receivable and
contract assets is disclosed in note 18 and note 19 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is
the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”,
which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies. There
was no carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to
recognised tax losses at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023. Further details are contained in note 25 to
the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised into
business units based on their products and only has one
reportable operating segment. Management monitors the
operating results of the Group’s operating segment as a
whole for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

AEEME @ AREYEZEERSID
BB FEA AR 2HELED
e EREERASELEDHNEE
BaZE  URER IR RRFAE
HOREE -

19 & R

(a) KEIEBEFHY K 55

2024 2023

—ENEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Mainland China R A D 98,580 433,814
Other countries HEMRER - 6,736
Total revenue AU S 98,580 440,550

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

iR E R RN P
B e

(b) ¥ HBEE

2024 2023

—E-MmEF —E=F

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Mainland China A B it 2,346 7,420

The non-current asset information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments, contract assets and deferred tax assets.

LIRS EEERIEREE
s - BTEReMIA -
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &&53Ep(E)

(CONTINUED)

Information about major customers

Revenue from each major customer which accounted for
10% or more of the Group's revenue during the year is set

TBREEEFNEHR

RER - IEAREEKE10%3 A EAE
ITERPREHIIMT

out below:
2024 2023
—E-WEF —Eo =4
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARET T
Customer 1 ZFE1 30,843 51,770
Customer 2 BE2 19,811 N/A
T EA
Customer 3 ZFE3 12,849 N/A
T EA
Customer 4 ZFE4 N/A 87,491
TEA
Customer 5 =5 N/A 50,894
il A
Customer 6 ZFE6 N/A 55,602

TEA
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S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wi~ H AR K=
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WaRB DT -
2024 2023
—E-gF —ET-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

Revenue from contracts with customers  REXF& LML 98,580 440,550
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHKE
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (a) UzmEXED
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AREET T

Types of goods or services EnSREES
Data transmission and processing B AR JFE PR B (B 8 MR
services for loT applications AR 73,207 380,316
Sales of telecommunication BEREHES
equipment 25,373 58,205
Others HAth = 2,029
Total A5t 98,580 440,550
2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETTT
Timing of revenue recognition U 35 FE R B 1
Goods/services transferred at a RE 2 EER
point in time & RS 98,580 438,673
Services transferred over time BE 5 R 8278 AR TS = 1,877

Total st 98,580 440,550
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—ECNF+=-A=+—H
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. k& Efl A Rz (&)
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEFEHNKE(E)
(continued)
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (a) UmEHE 7 (E)
The following table shows the amount of revenue TRIINFARARERANERA RS S
recognised in the current reporting period that was ¥ AHSBEERMERVTAENE
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of B TEBATHHEERKNBEOE TR
the reporting period and recognised from R
performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:
2024 2023
—BF —T-=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREBFT
Revenue recognised that was RSB AGHAE

included in contract liabilities at the ~ AYE HERUES
beginning of the reporting period:
Data transmission and processing Yl 4R e PR BUR (B &
services for loT applications Bl iR 7% 2,119 2,641
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— = —

= —

5.

mE+=—A=+—H
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group's performance
obligations is summarised below:

Data transmission and processing services for loT
applications

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when customer acceptance is acquired, and
payment is generally due between 3 to 300 days from
the final acceptance, depending on the specific
payment terms in each contract.

Sales of telecommunication equipment

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of goods and payment is generally due within 6
months from delivery.

Others

Generally, the performance obligation is satisfied at
a point in time when customer acceptance is
acquired, and payment is generally due within 3
months from the final acceptance. For certain
contracts, the performance obligation is satisfied
over time as services are rendered and billed based
on the time incurred.

As at the end of the reporting period, the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) are expected to be recognised within
one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction prices allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts are not disclosed.

W ~ EbU AR s ()

REFEFEHOHWE(E

~

(b) EXE(F

ERASEROEENERBRNT

VB B 15 (2 8 K e PR R

BHEITREZEFEMNE —FEeLE
oW — R AR ERBIKE3IE3008

AR - RFBE KRR IR

ﬁ_‘i o]

BIEREHE

Ei’]ET REmRZSHERK - W —HRE
A& 6fE AR

At

—RME - BHEEREZPEMANE

—EHEIEERK - W% ZE Rt \fj‘ﬁllﬁué
SEARFRK - LBLELME  BY
%%EB%E}%T#HE%%E’\JH%FEEJL& I*E?J%Pﬁ
EERSREIETE -

RBERR - HBWBOEECRED
HER D KRB AR —F MR -
FEMBHREERE1SREAFTRED
BETZERBITENNRHER -



5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.
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31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H

Wz ~ EbU AR W ()

(CONTINUED)
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Other income Higl A
Government grants* BT 488 By 2,322 2,421
Bank interest income BITH B U A 286 688
Other interest income from financial REBEAFEFABZNEE
assets at fair value through profit BENEAMFSHA
or loss 12 14
Other interest income from financial HEBEN AT ENEREED
assets measured at amortised cost HiF B U A 59 -
Total other income E At A 48R 2,679 3,123
Gains Wz
Foreign exchange gain AN 8 521
Gain on revision of lease terms arising A AT 1B HARR. S A E & B
from changes in the non-cancellable ST HE R
period and scope of leases - 118
Total gains FElg 8 639
Total other income and gains EH AU A KU #2542 58 2,687 3,762

* The government grants mainly represent incentives awarded by e
the local governments to support the Group's operation. The
Group has a lease contract with governments for office premises
used in its operations, which is rent-free as non-monetary
grants. These non-monetary grants are recorded at a nominal
amount and the fair value is RMB905,000 (2023: RMB1,279,000).

BEMBEBE A BT AT AER
EEMB TR - AEBEREEERF
BRHAMERBFR]—BHEA
# - ZENBRM - BRI EME -
IS BHPUABERSTEAR - AF
BEAARE5000(ZE_=F : A
R #1,279,0007T) °
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—EoUFE+—_A=+—H

6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6. BBIADER(EE)
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after REBHBBEASERN (FEE)D
charging/(crediting): B (GtA) :
2024 2023
—E-F —E=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B aE AR® T ARET T

Cost of inventories sold BEFERA 24,720 50,919
Cost of services provided Fri AR TG A AR 74,316 305,804
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - = R REITE*

equipment* 13 1,439 1,580
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* (& EITE* 15(a) 968 1,356
Amortisation of other intangible Hfh & Eigr

assets* 16 83 96
Research and development costs A A 13,538 9,649
Lease payments not included in the Kt ATHEBETEN

measurement of lease liabilities HENK 15(c) 731 112
Auditor’s remuneration 2GR 1,680 2,000
Employee benefit expense BERAZH(TEE

(excluding directors’ and chief BEER&ESITRAR

executive's remuneration FEN (P EE8) )

(note 8)):

Wages and salaries TERES 3,493 8,982

Equity-settled share option and LARR AL B A B AR 2

award expense Rt 22BN 5 < 8,418 935

Pension scheme contributions** RIKS 51 & Fhor~ 408 865

Staff welfare expenses 8 TR b 1,729 1,066
Total st 14,048 11,848
Foreign exchange differences, net [ i Z 58558 (8) (521)
Impairment of property, M - WE K

plant and equipment*** R 13 774 -
Impairment of trade and notes B 5 EWRIE M FEE &

receivables, net WIEERE 18 28,030 10,030
Reversal of impairment of contract & 48 ER(E R0/ H 58

assets, net 19 (71) (27)
Impairment of financial assets FFATERFIE - AN

included in prepayments, other FIERHEMEERN SR

receivables and other assets BERAE 20 1,473 -
Loss on disposal of items of LEME - BENEE

property, plant and equipment HE/EE - 462
Bank interest income |RITHLEHA 5 (286) (688)

Government grants BTN 5 (2,322) (2,421)




PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

*

*%

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets and the amortisation of other intangible assets are
included in “Cost of sales”, “Selling and distribution expenses”
and “Administrative expenses” in profit or loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the
Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

The impairment of property, plant and equipment is included in
“Other expenses”.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

BERN R ERERERA T
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g E R

31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H

6. BRBIAIRR (&)

3 W BERREANEREEETE
AR HE AT B E#E ARETH
[BHERA] - [HERD X I RI1T
B ]

xx BRI R AR AEE (ERED)A
IAREBR B HFOKFE o

o W - BERREREFATEAMR

F]o
7. BhE R A
BVERARNDITOT
2024 2023
—EME =4
RMB’000 RMB‘000

ARBT T ARETT

Interest on bank loans IRITEZRF B 121 113
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEFS 76 107
Total HEt 197 220
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—ENE+—A=T—H

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EERESTHRAEZMH

EEZNERRITRABNFERFMRE
LETHRE - BAEREEHIE383(1)()
b) ~ QROBEAR AR (KEEEHN =
BRDBOIE2MTRELT -

2024 2023
—EE —E-=4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AREET T

Fees: e 1,870 1,095
Other emoluments: HEme
Salaries, allowances and benefits He BB NREYRET
in kind 1,744 2,328
Pension scheme contributions RIKNEETEIH 102 68
Equity-settled share option expense VAR HE 5 B 1) B SR B 2 5,107 9,586
Subtotal /NET 6,953 11,982
Total =t 8,823 13,077

During the year, certain directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group, under the
share option scheme of the Company, further details of
which are set out in note 27 to the financial statements. The
fair value of such options, which has been recognised in
profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at
the date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ and chief executive's remuneration disclosures.

There were no performance related bonuses during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

FR - BTEZFREARFBRAETE
B A A R B R R0 IR IR BB AR
1 BRE - SRIBENM MR
27 - ERBRB MRS ERNZERER
BOAFEREHEAHEE - MatAKR
FEMBHRENSBRIAN LAEZ R
BITIRA B B H B FE

REBEZE_Z-_NER_E-_=F+_"A4
= +—HIEFERNBEESIEREIEL -



8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:
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31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H

8. EERERSTHAEHHE)

(@) BYFHITES

FARBILIFATES T HHE

ST :
2024 2023
—EME T =4
RMB’000 RMB000

AR®TR ARET T

Gu Jiong R/ 274 270
Fong Wo, Felix 77 A0 274 270
Yang Hai 158 274 270
Total “EEt 822 810

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2023: nil).

FABERBEMNBIFNTESOM

S(ZTZ=F %)
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8.

mE+=—A=+—H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. HEERESTHASEHM(E)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) HITEERESTHAER
Salaries,
Pension  allowances Equity-settled
scheme and benefits  share option Total
Fees contributions in kind expense remuneration
Bike HFe 2R UARELEN
ok HEE ENER  BRERX 230 Pt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR  AR%TR AR¥TR
2024 —ToE
Executive director and RITESRITHES, -
the chief executive:
Chen Ping fRE 328 18 637 - 983
Executive directors: WIES
Wang Zheshi TEAM 328 24 109 2,403 2,864
Feng Yijing BESR 328 25 462 1,681 2,496
Wang Jun T 64 35 536 1,023 1,658
Total @it 1,048 102 1,744 5,107 8,001




8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive
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31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H
8. ESBRESTHAEHMGE)

(b) FTESERESITHERAER
)

(continued) (&
Salaries,
Pension allowances  Equity-settled
scheme  andbenefits  share option Total
Fees  contributions in kind expense  remuneration
e He EHR RERED
ik ARl ENEN  BRERX Fies
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
2023 e S 3
Executive directorand  STESFRITHER
the chief executive:
Chen Ping B 77 16 728 - 821
Executive directors: RTES
Wang Zheshi TR 77 8 110 4,99 5,191
Feng Yijing BER 77 9 756 3,144 3,986
Wang Jun I% 54 35 734 1,446 2,269
Total @it 285 68 2,328 9,586 12,267

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during the year.

FAMBEZLARZSTHRABRREXF
BHEEFAFMOLLE
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—EoUFE+—_A=+—H
9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two directors (2023: four directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2023: one)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

TEREFHES

FARERSFTMNEEREMRBRES
“EO-F MREFR) AFHFEE
BN EXHES - FRBT=R(ZF=
=F: —R)RSFMER (LIFARAF
EZHRERTRAR)NHMFABDOT :

2024 2023
—E-WEF ke
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits He - EMNEYRET

in kind 489 739
Pension scheme contributions RIKSETEIMEK 30 8

Equity-settled share option and LA RS e 45 5 O R A e K2 ) 48
award expense Bz 4,781 549
Total 5T 5,300 1,296

There were no performance related bonuses during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

REZE_Z-_NFR_E-_=F+_"A4
= +—HIEFERNBEEBIEREIEL -

HMN A THENZSHFMIEEER
FEBTHRABRBHABLT

Number of employees

BEAH
2024 2023
— ko TR
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,0018 7T £2,000,000/& 7 3 1

The share options and awards were granted to three non-
director and non-chief executive highest paid employees in
respect of their services to the Group, further details of
which are included in the disclosures in note 27 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options and
awards, which have been recognised in profit or loss over
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above non-director and non-
chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration
disclosures.

—HRIERRIFRSTHRABNRSH
e E s E AR S ERHEHREERE
P K B {n 2B - AR — R IREN
PATEIRAR MR 27 O TR - R FREARE N
B BBV AFERR L AHERE - I
REBHAERSETRER - Mt AXF
EHBHREROEEEN LA FEE LI
RETTEA BRI &S H MEB B
& o



10.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands, the Company and its
subsidiaries are not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands.

Pursuant to the relevant tax law of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. No provision
for income tax has been made as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits in Hong Kong during the
reporting period.

The provision for current income tax in Mainland China is
based on the statutory tax rate of 25% of the assessable
profits of subsidiaries of the Group as determined in
accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, except
for certain subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China
which are granted tax concession.
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g E R

31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H
Fri8®i

AEEBREREENAEEKE QA
AR e 48 & T FE B ARE [ P EE A S BN
EE R B PTIS AR ©

RERSEERRBEIHESRAIE
B ARBREMBAREREHRER
KBRS BRBNERPTEH

REBEEBEFHTTHRENBEREED -
FARBBELEMNGFTERBRFIZ
16.5% ) R TR BB MG - HRA
SERHEMALENEFBELEME
AREUE A - BRI ARSI A

PEIR RIS R E D ER AR
E B ARRETBEERMEVNEETE
H B ER B0t MR 25% HE TE B R 5HE
HEZR &£ B A B A R T H B 2 Ik
S HFARERTIAES -

2024 2023

—E-IF —E-=F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREBFTT

Current BNHEA - 10,085
Deferred (note 25) JEAE (BI3E25) 7,101 (1,122)
Total tax charge for the year FEREFIBS 7,101 8,963
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10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. FriS®i(E)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit AR EAMETHR R ENRE
before tax at the statutory rate in Mainland China to the tax Al M) B 75 5 2 BRI B IR B R 5T A
expense at the effective tax rate is as follows: RS EERT ¢
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

(Loss)/profit before tax AR (ER) % (70,426) 34,456
Tax at the statutory tax rate REETEFTERNIE (17,606) 8,614
Lower tax rates enacted by local Ih 5 R B B R B R X

authorities 533 (1,184)
Expenses not deductible for tax TRIFEAX 852 321
Additional deductible allowance for TSR AR B BN A 1 B 4

research and development costs (1,577) (1,434)
Deductible temporary differences not RAER R AR B M = 58

recognised 15,382 2,048
Tax losses not recognised RIERRTIEEE 9,517 598

BAREEERTRTEN

Tax charge at the Group's effective rate FIE S 7,101 8,963
11. DIVIDENDS 1. KE
No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company R e B i Sz DA PRI R < 2k B Ik

since its incorporation. ARE



12.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amount
is based on the profit or loss for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 215,306,534 (2023:
219,540,126) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect
the shares granted under share award scheme during the
year.

The calculation of the diluted (loss)/earnings per share
amount is based on the profit or loss for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic (loss)/earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on
the deemed exercised or conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss)/earnings
per share amounts presented for the years ended 31
December 2024 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the
share-based payment outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect
on the basic (loss)/earnings per share amounts presented.
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31 December 2024
—ECNF+=-A=+—H

BAREEREREAREERE
8) &7

BREXN(ER) BB EEA
AEBE=RAEABGEFERNRF L
B UERFREETEERMNE
15 #215,306,534 I ( =T = =4 :
219,540,1261% + I 4% 575 LA S B 5F A9 AR
ERRD SRR T BIR T RS ©

FhEE(BE) BN SBRRERAE
‘%EﬁﬁA?ﬁiWﬁﬂTﬁ%ﬁ
8 o A ETRRE BB IEF AR
BEEREAR(EBR) BNRANFAE
BITEBRREE - ARRIEITERER
PRAEEHEE AR AT BRFRRD
BERTHEBRIET IR -

RN REEARN RERNNRE A2
FIMEREAR(ER) BNSEABR
BEYE SUENESHEE_T—
ME+—A=1t—HLFRE2INEK
BER(ER), /BN EEEHREE -
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12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12.
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(CONTINUED)

The calculations of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share is based on:

BAREBERERAEARBEERGE
8),/BF (&)

BRERLEE(ER) BNOFTET

R
2024 2023
—EMEFE St =
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARET T

(Loss)/earnings (E1]),BF
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary BAGTE SRR EAR S
equity holders of the parent, used in (E518), /BRI AR
the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings LBEREa ARG
per share calculation (E518) a7 (77,527) 25,493
Number of shares
RGEAR
2024 2023
—ENE —E=F
Shares g

Weighted average number of ordinary &R E 277 % @A INAEF 5 X

shares in issue during the year

215,306,534 219,540,126

Effect of dilution — weighted average e 2 RIS E

number of ordinary shares:
Share options RENRE

- 1,151,091

Total 4EEt

215,306,534 220,691,217




13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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—E-pFE+—_A=+—H
13. 9% - BERRZHE

Leasehold Office Motor
improvements Machinery equipment vehicles Total
BENZEE HE BAERME RE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT ARBT T ARBT T ARET T
31 December 2024 ZE-ME+=A=+-H
At 1 January 2024: \_EB_MmE-A-R:
Cost s 1,664 5,652 1462 340 9,118
Accumulated depreciation 2HITE (211) (4,355) (834) (169) (5,569)
Net carrying amount EE¥E 1,453 1,297 628 17 3,549
At 1 January 2024, net of R_Z_mE-A-A-
accumulated depreciation R ZstE 1,453 1,297 628 M 3,549
Depreciation provided during ~~ ER;HENE
the year (654) (450) (254) (81) (1,439)
Impairment i (774) - - - (774)
Exchange realignment A% 8 - - - 8
At 31 December 2024, net of R-ZE-mE+-R
accumulated depreciation =+—B NREZiTE 33 847 374 90 1,344
At 31 December 2024: R-Z-mE+-A=+-R:
Cost KR 1,676 5,652 1,462 340 9,130
Accumulated depreciation ZHITERAE
and impairment (1,643) (4,805) (1,088) (250) (7,786)
Net carrying amount FETE 33 847 374 90 1,344
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13.

mE+=—A=+—H
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. #¥%¥ - BERREE)
(CONTINUED)
Leasehold Office Motor
improvements Machinery equipment vehicles Total
HEMEEE e WARE "B st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT NG S ARETT ANRETT NG S
31 December 2023 “E-ZE+-A=1+-H
At 1 January 2023: W-E-=F—-f-R:
Cost PR 1,309 6,426 926 340 9,001
Accumulated depreciation 2:HiE (898) @217 (640) (88) (5,843)
Net carrying amount EEFE n 2,209 286 252 3,158
At 1 January 2023, net of RZZFZ=5-A-R"
accumulated depreciation Nk E:tE 411 2,209 286 252 3,158
Additions NE 1,880 - 553 - 2433
Disposal & (166) (293) 3) - (462)
Depreciation provided during ~ FREFRRITE
the year 672) (619) (208) (81) (1,580)
At 31 December 2023, netof ~ R-Z==F+-H
accumulated depreciation =+—R HRZHNE 1453 1297 628 171 3,549
At 31 December 2023: W-_E-=F+-A=1+-H:
Cost AR 1,664 5652 1,462 340 9,118
Accumulated depreciation 2:iE 1) (4,355) (834) (169) (5,569)
Net carrying amount FEFE 1453 1297 628 171 3,549




13.

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Impairment

As at 31 December 2024, the directors of the Group
identified certain leasehold improvements included in
property, plant and equipment with an impairment indicator
because they were not intended to generate economic
value in market. The Company performed an impairment
assessment based predominately on fair value less costs of
disposal, measured using a quoted price for these leasehold
improvements. Independent valuers were engaged to assist
to determine the recoverable amount of these leasehold
improvements. Based on the impairment assessment, the
impairment losses for these leasehold improvements
amounting to approximately RMB774,000 were recognised
in profit or loss after considering the recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of these leasehold improvements
was approximately RMB33,000 as at 31 December 2024.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

BRENEERERERAR
“BCNEER

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H
M- BERSEE)

B

RZEBE-_NF+-_A=+—H8 ' &%£HE
EZHIME  BEAZEFREENS
TFHEMERELERETR - RAZ
AEEEZHEZEHEEAEMS LEAKL
EEE - ARREEREBEFAZSHE
VERENREFTENAFEREEX
RETRET S - AEEE B
ERMBETCZSHEMEREEBHAT
C&E o REBREFTE @ £ZEAE
THfE  ZEHEMEERENRESE
HAREET74000TLERIBEE P RER o
R-E-_WNE+-A=+—8 %ZFH
EMERENTREDSENAARE
33,0007 °

EERAVEGFARMBZEREN
RERE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR¥ETT
Equity investments designated at fair EERAFEFAEMEZEHY
value through other comprehensive  #HHIRERE
income
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value A {E5T 2 /) IE_ETRLHE
®E
ETIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED ETICINTERNATIONAL
LIMITED 13,513 13,513

The equity investment was irrevocably designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers the investment to be strategic in nature.

1A R B B R R A B A
AR EENE - RRAKEERAZ
A ABBIEE -
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14.

15.

NFE+=—RA=+—H
EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR 14. EERAFEFAHMB2EKREN
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE BRERE(E)
INCOME (CONTINUED)
On 25 May 2023, the Company subscribed for 111,270 new RZZE_=FAA-+HH  AR7A
ordinary shares in the share capital of ETIC IR & REAR13,513,0007T R
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, a fellow subsidiary of the ETICINTERNATIONALLIMITED ( A& 2
Company, at a consideration of RMB13,513,000 in cash. AR ZEM B AR RAF 111,270
After the allotment and issue of the aforesaid new shares, B AR o 4CME B R BT LAl AR
the ordinary shares subscribed by the Company represent g RNRRIFAREH L ERIGETIC
approximately 2.18% of the issued share capital of ETIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED E B 1T iR 2
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED. #92.18%
LEASES 15. #HE
The Group as a lessee AEBEAFEREA
The Group has lease contracts for plant and office premises AEBREESERFEANKE LHEAY
used in its operations. Leases of plant and office premises ¥IINHEERH - MENMBAMENA
generally have lease terms between 2 and 3 years. Generally, EH— M A2E3F - —RME - AEE
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the PRI AAEE AN A T35 & 5 18
leased assets outside the Group. EEE -
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) EHAEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use FAREEEAREEENREE
assets and the movements during the year are as LEBEHWOT :
follows:
Plant and
office premises
5058 L/ S
RMB’000
AR¥T T
As at 1 January 2023 N—_E-=%—H—H 1,661
Additions NE 2,999
Revision of lease terms arising from AN G HAR R E

changes in the non-cancellable period HEL B MIEFTHERK

and scope of leases (1,418)
Depreciation charge (note 6) EM (Mi:Ts) (1,356)
As at 31 December 2023 and EA:==_:¢+_EZ+—E&

1 January 2024 =2 =l e S H 1,886
Depreciation charge (note 6) FrEm s (H6) (968)
Exchange realignment PE S % 11
As at 31 December 2024 IS = PR = 929




15. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

BERN R ERERERA T
SENEER

Notes to Financial Statements

g E R

31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H
15. #HE&E(#E)

AEBEREBAE)

(b) HEEE
FREEEENEAEREBE
T

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=4&
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT R ARBTTT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—RA—H8EEE 1,912 1,783
New leases HmHeE = 2,960

Accretion of interest recognised during  FAERKI Z5F 8

the year 76 107
Payments BEN (1,077) (1,402)
Revision of lease terms arising from AN A] RS ER M E 5 [E

changes in the non-cancellable BEMEFIHE KR

period and scope of leases - (1,536)
Exchange realignment b 5 S 17 -
Carrying amount at 31 December B+ A=+—BHEmE 928 1,912
Analysed into: DR

Current portion TENER 717 999

Non-current portion FETRBIE D 211 913

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in AEaBENIBEESITEERNTERE

note 34 to the financial statements.

PiteE34
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—EoUFE+—_A=+—H
15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

15. #HEE&)

The Group as a lessee (continued) REBERBEBA(E)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) REZHEREEEEN B
to leases are as follows: T
2024 2023
—E-E —ETE-=4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARYET T AREBFIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENS 76 107
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  {FFEEENERX
assets 968 1,356
Gain on revision of lease terms AP HEEHAR K E
arising from changes in the non- HEZHMETEE
cancellable period and scope of Sl e
leases = 118
Expense relating to short-term RHHERKEBEE
leases and leases of low-value MHEEERX (GTATTR
assets (included in administrative )
expenses) 731 112
Foreign exchange loss HNE B3 18 17 -
Total amount recognised in RIERERN AT
profit or loss 1,792 1,693

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d)

29 to the financial statements.

MEMR SR BRR I BHRE

PIEE294% 58 -
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31 December 2024
—ECNF+=-A=+—H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. HEFEE
Software
B
RMB'000
AR¥T T
31 December 2024 —E-_ME+=-HB=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of accumulated R Z=Z —MF—H—BHHKA -
amortisation Bk RETEEH 98
Additions NE 58
Amortisation provided during the year FNaTHREEH (83)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NF+—-HA=+—H 73
At 31 December 2024: RZZB_MF+_A=+—01:
Cost [B%N 148
Accumulated amortisation i (75)
Net carrying amount AREDFE 73
31 December 2023 —E-=%+=ZHA=+-—H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated RZ-Z-=F—F—BHKAK -
amortisation OB RETHEESY 157
Additions INE 37
Amortisation provided during the year FRFHEH#H (96)
At 31 December 2023 R-BE-_=F+-A=+—H 98
At 31 December 2023: RZEBZ=F+=A=+—1:
Cost B X 299
Accumulated amortisation R (201)

Net carrying amount AREDFE 98
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—EoUFE+—_A=+—H

17. INVENTORIES 17. #E&
2024 2023
—E-lEF —E_=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Work in progress S - 328
Finished goods IR G = 1,175
Total FEE - 1,503
18. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES 18. EBSEWFEKEWREE
2024 2023
—E-WEF 2 =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Trade receivables 2 S ENRIE 294,083 321,254
Notes receivable measure at R ER AT E N EREE
amortised cost - 1,362
294,083 322,616
Impairment RIE (70,815) (42,785)
Net carrying amount BRHEFE 223,268 279,831

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period is generally 3 to 300 days,
depending on the specific payment terms in each contract.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

AEBEAERPHNESGRREIRUER
FEAETT - FEHRE R3E00H - %
FEAONWABMNRIGERME - AEH
SREBZHREERKFTE - 2RE
I E BB A RR - AEREAERL
HE 5 RUGRG S A EMERRK

HMEERRTA - EHRETARR
é\ o
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TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)  18.

An ageing analysis of the trade and notes receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date

31 December 2024

—E_NFE+=—A=+—H
BESREWFEREWREE(E)

B HEE 5 UK

A MRS RE (HIRR B R E) Rk D

and net of loss allowance, is as follows: T -
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Within 1 year 1R 29,862 191,340
1to 2 years 1224 134,784 71,072
2 to 3 years 2&E3F 54,348 11,205
3to 4 years 344 4,005 5,022
4 to 5years 4545 269 1,192
Total HEEt 223,268 279,831

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

B 5 YR R B R IR R E R R

trade and notes receivables are as follows: EEEIT
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
At beginning of year REY] 42,785 34,157
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BB ERFRE (MT6) 28,030 10,030
Amount written off as uncollectible HEH A AT U B FOR - (1,402)
At end of year RER 70,815 42,785
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18.

mE+=—A=+—H
TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade and notes receivables. To measure the expected
credit losses, trade and notes receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The
provision rates are based on its peer group’s expected
credit loss rate and ageing for groupings of various
customer with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the end of each of the reporting period about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group's trade and notes receivables using
a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

18.

B 5 RUGRER B RE (&)

AEERBEITETREEVHR
SERNFEIRAMRENTRREERER
o ZERAFRLATA B 5 EUGRIA K
ERSZBRAFENENERREE - B
SHERHREEER - B5RUGIANE
WREZARAEERRSEET A -
BEZERRTAENNEREEERR
ERAEABUBBREANSRETRP2A
HIRREREETE © sxat B IRBREL X hniE 45
R 2ENFHEEEMSREHRA
ESNARBESN - ERIREER
REEEBEARRN B IR SFER o

TXHIERREEEFENEELE
B2 5 WRIR R EK R IREE R
A&

R-EBE-_NME+=-H=+—H

Gross carrying Expected Expected
amount credit loss rate credit loss
REAE BUEGFESER RPGEEEFER
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®TT AR¥T T
Individually assessed: fERIFE A
Credit risk increased EERBEAE LT
significantly 23,820 100.00% 23,820
Collectively assessed: L3 EaE
Less than 1 year LIE 30,961 3.55% 1,099
1to 2 years 1826 151,528 11.05% 16,744
2 to 3 years 2E34F 73,803 26.36% 19,455
3to 4 years 3F44F 8,465 52.69% 4,460
4 to 5 years AFE5F 968 72.21% 699
Over 5 years S5FE 4,538 100.00% 4,538
Total fEt 294,083 70,815
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—E-pFE+—_A=+—H

18. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 18. HEEWZIEREWEE (&)

As at 31 December 2023 R-TE-=%+="H=+—H
Gross carrying Expected Expected
amount  credit loss rate credit loss
rmE BHEESEEX BHEEERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETTT
Individually assessed: BRI FFHE -
Credit risk increased EERMREE A
significantly 18,786 87.98% 16,527
Collectively assessed: SRR
Less than 1 year DI 198,301 3.51% 6,961
1to 2 years 15824 79,454 10.55% 8,382
2 to 3years 2% 34F 15,138 25.98% 3,933
3to 4 years 3E4F 5,918 53.31% 3,155
4 to 5 years AFE5F 4,038 70.48% 2,846
Over 5 years S5FLAE 981 100% 981
Total st 322,616 42,785
19. CONTRACT ASSETS 19. BREE
2024 2023
—BF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREBFIT
Contract assets arising from: REATEENEHNEE
Data transmission and processing WIS A e PR BUE (E 8 &
services for loT applications BRI ARTE - 1,621
Sales of telecommunication equipment  B{Z:RAEHE 33 433
Total et 33 2,054
Impairment DERIE] (1) (72)
Net carrying amount BREVEE 32 1,982
Analysed into: -
Current BNHEH 32 1,950
Non-current ERED - 32
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19.

mE+=—A=+—H
CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned
from data transmission and processing services for loT
applications and sales of telecommunication equipment as
the receipt of consideration is conditional on successful
completion of warranty periods. Included in contract assets
are retention receivables. Upon completion of warranty
periods, the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to trade receivables. The Group’s trading terms
and credit policy with customers are disclosed in note 18 to
the financial statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets as at the end of reporting period is as follows:

19.

BREEE)

R R EZARHRIE B EM A REUER -
WERNEEN DRy EERESIEES
N B2 2 AR 7% LA I 313 5% 8 5 5 P R A Y
WHHER - GHNEER BEEIRE
& RIEHERIE BRBRNEEN
CHEBENMSEEEZRUGIE - A&
BHEFPHR S ER M EEBRR TS
MR FE189 5= -

REEHR - GHEEMNTERH IR E 4
BEFEWT :

2024 2023
—EomE —E_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFTT
Within 1 year 1F RN 32 1,950
After 1 year 15 A E - 32
Total contract assets AHEERE 32 1,982
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of BHEEREBERENZEZHOT
contract assets are as follows:
2024 2023
—EMEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR¥ETT
At beginning of year REF 72 99
Reversal of impairment losses, net BB E SR B R EE (i 5E6)
(note 6) (71) (27)
At end of year RER 1 72

An impairment analysis is performed at the end of the
reporting period to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit
losses of the contract assets are based on those of the trade
receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables
are from the same customer bases.

AR AR RS B TRE 1T A
BEEEA - AR A NAERE P
WEER B AR R - ANAER
BEERS B E B BRI A
HitE -
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20.

CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
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31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H

19. SHREE(E)

BERN R ERERERA T
SENEER

ATHINBRAKRESNEEEERR

exposure on the Group's contract assets: WO ER -
2024 2023
—EogF —ET-=F
Expected credit loss rate TBHEEEEE 3.55% 3.51%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) FEeE(AREBTIT) 33 2,054
Expected credit loss (RMB’000) EHREEEREARETIT) 1 72

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20.

BANRE - HBERREREME

OTHER ASSETS E

2024 2023
—BopmE —B-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBFIT

Non-current: FETE
Deposits F& 377 81
Prepayments FERIRIA = 1,887
Total st 377 1,968

Current: 8

Prepayments FaftRIA 3,653 5,249
Deductible input value-added tax A IS ERR E TR 2,035 87
Deposits and other receivables e R E MR GRIE 4,220 755
9,908 6,091
Impairment DERIE] (1,473) -
Total ast 8,435 6,091

237



238

HOWKINGTECH INTERNATIONAL HOLDING LIMITED

ANNUAL

REPORT 2024

Notes to Financial Statements

RIS R M

31 December 2024

— = —

= —

20.

21.

mE+=—A=+—H
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)

An impairment analysis was performed at the end of the
reporting period. The Group has applied the general
approach to provide expected credit losses for non-trade
other receivables under HKFRS 9. The Group considered the
historical loss rate and adjusted for forward-looking
macroeconomic data in calculating the expected credit loss
rate.

20.

BANRE - HBERREREME
E (&)

BEPRDETREDSN - AEECR
BEBYBWMEENFEIRRA R
ERLIRE 5 BB RG RTEHER
EiE - AEBREBRAEEERES
B @ZRESLEEEX - WHATE LR
BB TRE -

2024 2023

—E-IF —F_=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

At beginning of year REY] - -

Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEEFE(MET6) 1,473 -

At end of year RER 1,473 -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. RERRSEEY

2024 2023

—E-lmEF —EBC=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Cash and bank balances RE RBITHR 4,082 33,247

Less: Time deposits R TERIER = (5,707)

Cash and cash equivalents B NIRSEEY 4,082 27,540
Denominated in: LATRPIE8EETE -

RMB AR 1,818 19,928

us$ e 148 6,675

HK$ BT 2,116 937

Total cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EEBYBTE 4,082 27,540

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

ARBTREABMABKEMEE - R
i - ARE P B R BCONE B IR 151 ) B
(HE0E - BERNEEERTE)  A%E
e REERERRINEXBORITH
ARBHBREMEE

RITESRETARTERNKRUZH
M RERIA R - B HEREROHAR N
F—HE=EAR - BURRA KB /RN
BeFR - WiEH B a9 T #7750
REREAS - |RITERTRNEERE
BT 8 8 40RO SRRV ERTT -



22. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:
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—E-pFE+—_A=+—H
22. EZEMNRIE

RBERRENEZ AHNE FEMR
TRHFRER DATAAT

2024 2023

—E-MEF ZE=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T AREBFIT

Within 1 year 15X 11,522 47,034
1to 2 years 1224 11,975 9,971
2 to 3years 2E3F 8,453 1,658
Over 3 years 3FLAE 2,332 677
Total HRET 34,282 59,340

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have no
fixed terms of payment.

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BHRENFIAARE B EEE N -

23. HtENRERESER

2024 2023
—ENEF =
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
BfaE AR%ET T ARBT T
Payroll and welfare payable ENTERET 699 3,792
Other payables Hih e ZRE (a) 3,003 2,105
Contract liabilities alaE (b) 187 2,582
Other tax payables Hh eI 2,733 1,462
Interest payable JEAS A2, 3 3
Total st 6,625 9,944
Notes: BisE -
(a) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on (a) HihENFIBEARERBIRENRER -
demand.
(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) AHBENFBAOT -
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
—E-E —B-=F —EB-=F
t=ZA=+—-H t=A=+-H —A—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T ARETF T ARET T
Short-term advances received from customers a1 &/ UCERA47 BiE S0
Data transmission and processing VB R e R SR EE &
services for loT applications RIBRG 187 2,582 5,223
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24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 24. GFHEHRITER
31 December 2024 —E-ME+=-—A=+—H
Effective
interest rate Maturity RMB’000
BERRxR ZH A AR¥T T
Bank loans — unsecured IRITE N — EIKIF 2.75% 2025 3,000
31 December 2023 —E-=f+=H=+—H
Effective
interest rate Maturity RMB’000
BEBRAI= ELE] = ARETTT
Bank loans — IRITER—
unsecured i i 3.45% 2024 10
Bank loans — RITER—
unsecured gt 3.00% 2024 5,000
Total 4t 5,010
2024 2023
—E-MEF —ET-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBT T ARETT

Analysed into: DT
Within one year —FR 3,000 5,010
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25. DEFERRED TAX 25.

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during
the year are as follows:

g E R

31 December 2024
—ECNF+=-A=+—H

IEERIR

FRABLERAREREELBMT

2024 —EMF
Deferred tax liabilities EEFEERE
Right-of-use
assets
EREEE
RMB’000
AR®F T
At 1 January 2024 R-_ZE_MF—A—H 151
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year SFAFRIEZ AR 18 (81)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2024 N_ZE-_NF+_—H
=+ —HREERIA
AEE5E 70
Deferred tax assets EEFIEEE
Impairment
of financial Accrued Lease
assets  expenses liabilities Total
SREE
B st HEAE st
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETRE ARETR ARET:R
At 1 January 2024 MR- ZT PO
—H—H 6,683 415 140 7,238
Deferred tax charged BB FAEREN
to profit or loss RIETIE
during the year (6,683) (415) (84) (7,182)
Gross deferred tax assets at  RZZE_PU4F
31 December 2024 +ZA=1+—HH®
BIETIBEE R - - 56 56
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25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

25. EFEBIR(H)

2023 “EC=F
Deferred tax liabilities FEHIEERE
Right-of-use
assets
EREEE
RMB’000
ARBT T
At 1 January 2023 WZE-—=F—F—H 249
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year SFAFRIERAIRIET 18 (98)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+_H
=+ —BREERE
BEEE 151
Deferred tax assets EEHIEEE
Impairment
of financial Accrued Lease
assets expenses liabilities Total
TRIEE
RE FEET RS HESE HRET

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETET AREBTT ARBTT

At 1 January 2023 R-T =%
—H—H 5,138 809 267 6,214
Deferred tax credited/ HAFBA)
(charged) to profit or loss FREEH
during the year IRAERIE 1,545 (394) (127) 1,024
Gross deferred tax assets at WRZ-ZT =4
31 December 2023 +-—A=+—HK
RIET IR A E R 6,683 415 140 7,238

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position.

REBME  ETEEHBREERAE
ERFHRRKR T o



25.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of
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—ECNF+=-A=+—H

EERLIE ()
T%?IJ?%ZIK‘%IﬁH{’EﬁM%EE#EE’J ERL IR

the Group for financial reporting purposes: DT
2024 2023
—EomE —E-o=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
Net deferred tax assets recognised RET B FIEAR R R N HER
in the consolidated statement of BRI EE TR
financial position - 7,101
Net deferred tax liabilities f/\ﬁﬁ‘kﬂﬁ)ﬂiéwﬁﬁﬁgﬁ'ﬂ
recognised in the consolidated BRETRIER EFH
statement of financial position 14 14
Deferred tax assets BELEHEEE

The Group has tax losses and deductible temporary
differences arising in Hong Kong of RMB8,388,000 (2023:
RMB3,624,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose.

The Group also has tax losses and deductible temporary
differences arising in Chinese Mainland China of
RMB96,157,000 (2023: nil) that will expire in one to five years
for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered

ZKE@EEJ%EEE%%IEFEE G
RFMEZ=%8 A R#8,388,000 (- =

¢ AR #3,624,0007T) » 7] PR BJK

SHE AR R AR R ERBUEH)

REBMMETEAMEETEBRER
AT 008 B 1 = 2R A R 5 96,157,0007T
TEZ=F O\ BR—ERFRNE
W AT SR SR SR BE A o

% E B8 B 8 S E R — RS E A
BRREL - BERPUEH A A LK HE
ZERABRNAEERR AT - &

probable that taxable profits will be available against which WARFZE B ERERIEERIBEE ©
the tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of WARFEA TIE B ERIEERMIBEE ¢
the following item:
2024 2023
—EogF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AREFTT
Tax losses HiIEEE 10,115 598
Deductible temporary differences AR E R ERE 15,382 =

25,497 598
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25.

26.

NFE+=—RA=+—H
DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. EZEBIE(E)
Deferred tax assets (continued) BEEHEEE(E)
The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends AEBBEEEBZENPRAMATE
distributed by those foreign invested subsidiaries INEIR BB ARRE ZEZENF—A
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings —BHREENZFADIROREHMTE
generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is 5% or HEL o AEEEEBHER5%310% °
10% for the Group.
At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised RIF_MFE+_A=+—0  x5£E
for withholding taxes that would be payable on unremitted I 48 A PP B (A b AR ST RO BT BB R B 7B A
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's iWﬁ?[ﬁRE’J?E[HjEJﬂFﬁFEE’]Fﬁi@E\
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion of MBERETRLTTIE - E2RA - %
the directors, these subsidiaries’ fund will be retained in ZHBARNE S BIRE {-EEP.Wiﬁg
Mainland China for the expansion of these subsidiaries’ ARBRZEMBARNER  WZE
operation, so it is not probable that these subsidiaries will B AR AR A AR ARDIRA
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The AR R E_NF+_A=+—
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with B - B E R B A R R R L
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which MEEENKREEENTRIEE5EEsE
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled A HEN B AREE34,467,0000(ZFE ==
approximately RMB34,467,000 at 31 December 2024 (2023: F : AR¥E98,739,0007T) ©
RMB®98,739,000).
ISSUED CAPITAL 26. EBERITRA
2024 2023
—EomEF —F_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETFT
Authorised: VETE
300,000,000 (2023: 300,000,000) 300,000,000R%
ordinary shares of US$0.01 each (ZZ==4 : 300,000,0008% )
FALEEO.01 E T A E AR 20,863 20,863
Issued and fully paid: BEEITMER
225,000,000 (2023: 225,000,000) 225,000,0000%
ordinary shares of US$0.01 each ZE = =4 :225,000,0008%)
FARE{EO0.013E LAY & B 15,646 15,646
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is RANTIIRAEE A ENT -
as follows:
Number of Share
Share in use capital
EERAROHBE &S
RMB’'000
AR¥ET T
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, W-_Z—-_=%#—H—H -
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 :E: F+=—A=+—8 -
“E-ME-A—BRK
—ZEZNE+ZHA=1+—~H 225,000,000 15,646




27. SHARE BASED PAYMENT

(a)

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to grantees who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Grantees of the
share option scheme include certain directors, senior
management and employees of the Group. The
share option scheme became effective on 12
December 2022.

The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within 30 days from the date of offer, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of RMB1.00 in
total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted commences after a vesting period of
one to three years and ends on the expiry date of the
share option scheme.

The exercise price of share options is HK$1.56, which
is higher than (i) the closing price of HK$1.56 per
share as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the date of offer to grant option;
and (ii) the average closing price of HK$1.53 per
share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer to grant
option.

The shares to be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of an option shall rank pari passu in all
respects with the fully-paid shares in issue of the
Company as of the date of allotment and will entitle
the holders to participate in all dividends or other
distributions paid or made on or after the date of
allotment other than any dividend or other
distribution previously declared or recommended or
resolved to be paid or made if the record date
therefore shall be on or before the date of allotment
and issue.
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27. RO R/ERHMNR

(a)

BT E

AR BIE—TEEAR T8I ([3%
B8 ) AR R R A E R
BRI IEL BERIRAREA © B8
BEAENARARELAERS
TEEZ SRAEEREREES - &
BEHEN B —F+ A+
“HAER-

RAERAXNEERBARAR
#1.007T1& - RHEBRENELD
B B4R B30 R nEE
o PR H BB AR T TR B —
E-FHHRBHRANEEAE
stEfEm AR -

BRENITEERIS6BT &
PR B A5 R A A2 B AR SR P
FRAMEXRAREHES.56
BT - R(NER B N BEE
B HAT A (B % R BB 3 e B i
BRFRFEW T EF.5378

JG °

BRI T M AS T A3 e 3%
TTERDEES S HEEEA %
SR RNNCIIRE: SePSE- Vi)
FHERS MM - BRETFREA
RN 2R E A 2 BTN
FAEH R AR S REAM DK -
HEfrC ik B IR R BT E

Bl RIERE IRk EEE S H
SRR A 2K A O AT ALB S B
b7 KBRS
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27. SHARE BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED) 27. UROAEBRNNR(E)
(a) Share option scheme (continued) (a) BRETEI(E)
There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group NEBWHEIBSEEERTE -
does not have a past practice of cash settlement for AEBBAVEURGEEZE
these share options. The Group accounts for the BIRERNME - AEEKZETE

Scheme as an equity-settled plan.

ABRSIEABEEE /TS -

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BB AR AEN R T A AR &
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. SRR AER LIRZEMRER
The following share options were outstanding under RER » L8 TN HARTTERD
the Scheme during the year: RENRHEANT -
Weighted
average
exercise price Number
HKS$ per share of options
InREF1g
TEE

BRERT BREHE

At 1 January 2023
Granted during the year

N-—ZTBE-_=F—HA—H -
REARFH 1.56 22,500,000

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024
Forfeited during the year

RZEBE-=F+—-A=+—HK
—EopFE—F—H 1.56 22,500,000
REFERZ I 1.56 (150,000)

At 31 December 2024

RZE-_WNF+—_A=+—H 1.56 22,350,000




27. SHARE BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(@) Share option scheme (continued)

The exercise price and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:
2024

Number of options

Exercise price

BERN R ERERERA T
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27. UROABEBRNNSR(E)

(a) BREEE)
REEHR - W ARITERBRER
TTEERITESRMT -
—ECF

Exercise period

BRERE TEE  TEH
HK$ per share
BREBT
14,950,000 1.56 29 Mar 2024 to 28 Mar 2033
3,700,000 1.56 29 Mar 2025 to 28 Mar 2033
—EZRAF-AZthRAEZZE==F=A=+)/\A
3,700,000 1.56 29 Mar 2026 to 28 Mar 2033
TR RNF=ZAt+NRAEE==F=A=-+N\H
22,350,000
2023 —EB-=F
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
BRERE TEE  TEH
HK$ per share
BREBT
15,000,000 1.56 29 Mar 2024 to 28 Mar 2033
RN =-AZThRAEZZE==F=HA=+N\R
3,750,000 1.56 29 Mar 2025 to 28 Mar 2033
ZECRE=AZTHAREZZE==F=HA=+N\R
3,750,000 1.56 29 Mar 2026 to 28 Mar 2033

22,500,000

—E_ARF=AZt+NBEZE==F=A=+/\H
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD
SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(a)

Share option scheme (continued)

The Group recognised a share option expense of
RMB5,651,000 (2023: RMB10,521,000) during the year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
was estimated as at the date of grant using a
binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

27.

BRESTER RO RBE S (&)

(a)

BT ()

FR - KEBEDHERERER
T AREES651,000(Z 2 ==
£ AR¥10,521,0007T) °

REm A RS TN EREA R
FELEER HBREN G K
AR - RAER R E L A
HAfhET - TREFIFMEAERDN
WABUE

Grant date
Ebl=R

29 March 2023 25 May 2023

—E-= —EC=F

=A=+hH EHAZ=1EHH

Dividend yield (%) fi% B = (%) 0.00 0.00

Expected volatility (%) T8 HA R 18 (%) 35.87 36.13

Historical volatility (%) T;‘E/)iﬂlaa( 35.87 36.13

Risk-free interest rate (%) & FI & (%) 3.05 3.55

Expected life of options (year) Eﬁﬂxﬁé%ﬁﬁ,ﬁﬂfﬁ,ﬁﬂ(i) 10.00 9.84
Weighted average share price  JEFHIX(E

(HKS per share) (GRS IT) 1.56 2.15

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

%ﬁﬂ;ﬁ?&ﬁ}iﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁbﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁkx
BENRE  TRLASERS
%0

HEATEEYEEZEC TS
PR ) EL AR o



27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD
SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Share option scheme (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
22,350,000 share options outstanding under the
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 22,350,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of US$223,500 (before issue
expenses).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, as at
31 March 2025, a total of 20,319,513 options granted
were exercised and allotted pursuant to the rules,
2,030,487 options unexercised lapsed automatically
and had no share options outstanding under the
Scheme.

Share award scheme

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 16
May 2023. The objectives of the share award scheme
are: (i) to recognise the contributions by certain
eligible participants and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group; and (i) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of
the Group.

Subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the board of directors of the
Company, the share award scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of ten years commencing on 16
May 2023, after which no further awards will be
granted.
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27. BRESTEARROEBEE ()

(a)

(b)

BT 8(F)

RREBKR - AQF RSB
7% 22,350,00017 14 A 17 15 BE A%
o RBEARBERNE RN
® o BEITEMARITEERES
27K B EESNEE 17 22,350,000 %
BRI T $223,5003 TR A
(CRINBRFEITH) ©

RMEHMKRE R-E-_RHF
ZA=+—H8 BHwéeH
20,319,513 10 B AR E R 1R AR Al
1TE M ECEE - 2,030,487 10 R1T1E
RERHE B B R AR IR R% AT 88T
ERITERBIRRE -

Bt R BT &

ARRM_T_=FRHA+/H
BRin—ER ) RE)RT 8 - ARin
BEMENG: RAETA
ERZEENER @ XiHETRE
HE - ARREENFELEER
BRBERSE  R)AXTEEDN
E—HBRPEIQEHIAR -

BRIFELIRARBEZE A BLRTE
MR ATAR LE - & R 226D
AElEE T _=FRAA+/H
E+FRBRRERN - ERHT
BE—TROER -
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD
SCHEME (CONTINUED)

(b)

Share award scheme (continued)

Subject to the share award scheme rules, awarded
shares may be (i) purchased on the Stock Exchange;
or (ii) accepted and received from any significant
shareholder or any party designated by the
Company. Once purchased or received, the awarded
shares are to be held directly or indirectly by the
trustee for the benefit of the selected participants
under the trust until they are vested, on and subject
to the terms and conditions of the share award
scheme rules and the trust deed.

The board of directors shall not make any further
grant of award such that the total number of shares
granted under the share award scheme will exceed
10% of the total number of issued shares as of 16
May 2023. On the basis that the total number of
issued shares as of 16 May 2023 was 225,000,000
shares, the aforesaid 10% limit represents a total of
22,500,000 shares.

On 29 November 2024, the Company granted a total
of 10,656,973 treasury shares to the selected
participants under the share award scheme at a
consideration of HK$0.1 per share. The fair value of
the equity-settled share award granted during the
year was HK$8,526,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB7,874,000), of which the Group recognised a
share award expense of RMB7,874,000 during the
year.

The selected participants shall not have any interest
or rights (including the right to receive dividends) in
the awarded interests by virtue of the grant of an
award pursuant to the share award scheme, unless
and until the awarded interests are actually
transferred to the selected participant and/or a
vehicle controlled by him/her (such as a trust or a
private company) upon vesting of the awards on the
vesting date.

27.

BRESTER RO RBE S (&)

(b)

Bt R B E (&)

FER BB BIR AR T -
HRENR D A ()R B R P HE T B
B (i B E s R ERERER
RRFIEEERATEZ R
H o — R E R - R
1 B FEARB D R IR
W&%%%ﬁ%%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁ&
HARTEE2EENN 0w
ERTEEIEERS E?\EE
FEAL -

iR IR AR 10 B2 Ep At 2% H ARk 15
BEBBABE_T_=FA
A+XBBBEETRMDEEH
10% @ AIEEZ S NE#E— SR
TR - HEE_T_=Fh
A+ BHMEBEITROHEBHEE
225,000,000 & % 10 5T & - Eatt
m%%i@ﬁmAﬂammmx
Bgh)

RZZE-_WFE+—HA=+h1HB "
A EIRIE R (7 B2 Eh 5T &) [A 3% T
ZHEER H A $£10,656,973 % &
Fty - REBERONETT -
RAE R B DA R 4 & 89 iR (D
42 B A F {8 58,526,000 T
(FEERHAREET 874,0007T)
E RS ERF ARG 2E
FZ ARE7,874,0007T °

RENGEREANEDREBERER
ERTEE2HEER REE
HEERR (MEFTIMART)Z
Al - BELEETGRAREZK
Tﬁfé@] B B2 Ry T 70 B2 A1

SR R ERN (R
W ER B S RER) ©



28.

29.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statements of changes in equity of the Group.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the paid-up
capital of the companies comprising the Group. Details of
the movements in the capital reserve are set out in the
consolidated statements of changes in equity.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of entities whose functional currencies are not
RMB.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of nil (2023:
RMB2,999,000) and nil (2023: RMB2,960,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
plant and office premises.
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Fhfh

AEEANAFE RBEETORESR
RESBRAEENGARELHES
5 -

EA B

AEENEANFEEASEET AR

BHER  ABARRBEDHERRN
SAEEEBE -
B R RB A

P R B E AR e s R B LAIEA RS
BEEENEENIERERAMEEN
PEH Z%E o

RERSRERME

(a) EEFERERSH

RFER - XEBEBEWE LA
MEMREZHNERESEI
ReRBEMNTEABES AT
ZE=F : AR¥2999,000
TIRE(ZEZ_=ZF : AR¥
2,960,0007T) °
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29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

29. HFEBEREBRMWETE(HE)

(b) BEFBELNEEED

activities
2024 —EoME
Interest-
bearing
bank Interest Lease
borrowings payable liabilities
HERITER EAFIE HEAE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARETT
At 1 January 2024 MN-E-pOFE
—H—H 5,010 3 1,912
Changes from financing MERERE
cash flows & (2,010) (121) (1,077)
Interest expense FERFX - 121 76
Exchange realignment PEE 5, 2 = = 17
At 31 December 2024 R-B-MOF+—
A=+—H 3,000 3 928
2023 —B=F
Interest-
bearing
bank Interest Lease
borrowings payable liabilities
T RIRITE K FERA S HEaE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETTT ARBTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2023 P ——
—H—H 10,369 - 1,783
Changes from financing BMERSRE
cash flows = (5,359) (110) (1,402)
New leases s = = 2,960
Revision of lease terms arising 7~ A] i85 EARR &
from changes in the non- THEHEZEHMm
cancellable period and BETHREIRR
scope of leases - - (1,536)
Interest expense FERY - 113 107
At 31 December 2023 NoE—=F+4—
i =] 5,010 3 1,912




29.

30.

31.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 29. HZABSHREXRMII(E)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have
any significant commitments.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Name

=

() Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERSRHAZE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the AGERERERANEERS
consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows: TmHsEREmMT
2024 2023
—E-lEF —E_=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Within operating activities T AR 731 112
Within financing activities STARVE RS 1,077 1,591
Total 4B5 1,808 1,703
COMMITMENTS 30. RiE

WEHR - NEEHECAZAK

pill> %

31. BBAIRS

Relationship
2

ETIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
ETIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Ms. Jin Yan

S+

A fellow subsidiary
—RRAZRMBAF
An ultimate shareholder

—REREER
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31.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 31.

(a)

The Group had the following transaction with related
parties during the period:

BB L XS (&)

(a)

AR BN BRRBB T T
%5

2024 2023
—EMNEFE —E =
RMB’000 RMB‘000

AR® T ARETT

A fellow subsidiary: —RARWBAF :
Subscription of share capital RN A (FEE14)
(note 14) - 13,513
An ultimate shareholder: —BERRIRR
A loan from BSER 1,750 -
Repayment of a loan from BEESNER 1,750 —

The loan received from an ultimate shareholder was
unsecured, interest-free and non-trade in nature.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

(k)

B~ BH&ABREBHNER R E
B RERFFEZME -

REBEEEEABRFB :

2024 2023
—ENEFE T
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits ¥4 - 284 &

in kind EER| 2,807 4,132
Pension scheme contributions  BIK&HEIEK 144 113
Equity-settled share option and ~ LARRAEAE B RIBEIRAE

award expense 17 B2 7 2 7,143 10,262
Fees wme 1,048 285
Total compensation paid to ENEEERBASR

key management personnel E RSk 11,142 14,792

There were no performance related bonuses during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

REE-_T-_WNER_T_=F
+-A=t—HI-FEAHES
BAERTELL ©

EREEMERTTHRAEMEN
HE—TFHEHN S RKMEES -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. RERESHNEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHEAeR T ANREHRNEEmAR
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T
follows:
2024 —BEF
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets
at fair value
through Financial
other assets
comprehensive at amortised
income cost Total
BRAFEFA "
Hitt2EiREmN RAGTERN
CREE SREE gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT ARETT
Trade and notes receivables Z S REYHIER
FEW 1R - 223,268 223,268
Financial assets included in BPNEE S
prepayments, other receivables Hh & UK IE e
and other assets HiEER
SRVEE - 3,124 3,124
Cash and cash equivalents B MIREEEY - 4,082 4,082
Equity investments designated at BERATEETA
fair value through other Hih 2 EWER
comprehensive income R E 13,513 - 13,513
Total st 13,513 230,474 243,987
Financial liabilities ZHEE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REHERATER
SRIBE
RMB’000
ARMT T
Trade payables B SRR 34,282
Lease liabilities HERE 928
Financial liabilities included in other payables FTAERAMENRIERET BN
and accruals EHAE 3,006
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHESRITER 3,000

Total

=
Hst

41,216
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. &REBZoMERITAE(E)

(CONTINUED)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHEASBRTARRSHROETDAED
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T E-))

follows: (continued)

2023 —EC=HF
Financial assets
at fair value
through Financial
other assets
comprehensive at amortised
income cost Total
BAFERTA TR
H {2 E S H) ANt E /)
CREE TREE st
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®TTT ARBTT ARBTTT

Trade and notes receivables B S BUGRIA R
S - 279,831 279,831
Financial assets included in st AFBRFIE
prepayments, other receivables HAh & R TR K2
and other assets Hih & ER
SRVEE - 836 836
Cash and cash equivalents He MBS EEY - 27,540 27,540
Time deposits TFETFER - 5,707 5,707
Equity investments designated BEZRATEETA
at fair value through other Hih 2 EWER
comprehensive income SIS E 13,513 - 13,513
Total et 13,513 313,914 327,427
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
R KA ER
ERBRE
RMB’000
ARET T
Trade payables B SRR 59,340
Lease liabilities HERE 1,912
Financial liabilities included in other payables FTAERAMENRIERET BN
and accruals SRIBE 2,108
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EIRITER 5,010

Total @t 68,370




33.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

All the carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
approximate to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits, trade and notes receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, trade payables, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank
borrowings and the current portion of lease liabilities
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the chief
financial officer is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance department reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with
the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair

values:

BRENEERERERAR
—E-mEEH
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AEEMACRIANKREERELAT
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EEECDEHRNE  BRREFREE
EY - ERER - BHRKFIAREK
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EEER - NIWMERH  MHAFID
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33.

mE+=—A=+—H
FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the non-current portion of lease liabilities
have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The
changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-
performance risk for lease liabilities at 31 December 2024
were assessed to be insignificant.

The fair value of unlisted equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income has been
estimated using a market-based valuation technique.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments as at 31 December 2024:

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024

33.

THIANAFERAFEER
(&)

HEaBEERBAPNAFEFEFHAELE
LER - EERR RS T FHMN T AR
e ] AR R BE IR TE AR R IR & = 7T
HE-RZZE_WF+_A=+—H" &
EEESHEABENTREORRATEH
N EEB WG A TERK

BERAFEFARMEEKRMNIEL
MEREREN A FERAMSEES A
BE -

R-ZE-_NE+—_A=+—H &@T
AMENERTABEEEAZENRE
YT -

NFERER

TERIIAKE BT AN A FEE
R -

BAFEHBHEE -

R-B-=FR-Z-NF+ZA=+
—H

Fair value measurement using

ERATBENATEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTEN EATRE ERFUBE
HfE BARE BARE
(%-%) (=) (E=%) @t
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
Equity investments designated RERRTET AL
at fair value through other PEUESRERE
comprehensive income - - 13,513 13,513




33.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a

quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024:

BERN R ERERERA T
SENEER

Notes to Financial Statements

g E R

31 December 2024
—E-pFE+—_A=+—H

33. EWMIENAFEERAFEEER

(&)

DNFEBRGE)
HRAFEGENEE : (8)
RIZB-WFE+—_A=+—H" /T

ABENEATABERHABBERE
{EBREDTHIBEEESIGAT

Significant
Valuation unobservable ~ Weighted  Sensitivity of fair value
Description technique input average to the input
BEARTER
P EER BAE T ATEHBAENSRE
Equity investments designated  Price-to-R&D P/R&D 39.29X  10% increase/(decrease) in P/R&D
at fair value through other multiple would result in a increase/(decrease)
comprehensive income (“P/R&D") in fair value by RMB1,300,000
BERATE AR P/R&DIEEN P/R&D 39.29X  P/R&DFEEEF/(THE)10%
FEKENRERE (TP/R&DJ) BEHNTFEEM (Rd)

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at

fair value as at 31 December 2024.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial

liabilities (2023: nil).

Discount for
lack of
marketability
("DLOM")
AR5
B MEmTE
(fDLOMY)

AR H1,300,0007C

25% 1% increase/(decrease) in DLOM
would result in a (decrease)/increase
in fair value by RMB173,000

25%  DLOM_EFt/(TBE)1%
BEBAFECRD),/
AR #173,0007T

R-ZE-_WNE+—A=+—H  K&EE
WEEMIR AT EAENSREE -

RER cHEENSREBES —HH
F_HF2EHEQFEFEEYE - NE
HALWIEEZRMATEH (=T
=)
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34.

mE+=—A=+—H
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, interest-
bearing bank borrowings, and financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and notes receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in
exchange rates between the RMB and other currencies in
which the Group conducts business may affect the Group's
financial condition and results of operations. The Group
seeks to limit its exposure to foreign currency risk by
minimising its net foreign currency position.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
foreign currency exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (due to changes in
the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the
Group's equity (due to exchange differences resulting from
translation of the financial statements of certain overseas
subsidiaries).

34.

PSR EE R RERBUR

AEENIZCRIABRERESNES
FEY - sEAENFAE - At EKFIR
REMEENSREE  FHRERTE
o ARG ARMEMRBERETER
MEMEE ZEERTANTERN
RERESIHAKEEEZR - A%
EHASREMEREENARG - fIM
BEEHEBEERELNE FREFTIANE
WERB AR S 5 RN R -

AEBETRTAEELENT2RARRINEG
R - FERREADESRAR - EF
SEHEHEEESEZFRROIK
R ZFBRBALTE e

s LB

SINES R $5 DRI S1NEE [ = S 2 i 3 A S 1R
MR - ARBHMAREBEETESH
REMERNEX KN ETEREH
R TSI MR AR - NEE KB
BERERDINERRIFRKEEEINE
[\ -

TRINFNRERR - EAEEME

RETENERT @ SNEERNEIEA
REEBHAKERGGEN(HEEE
ENBBENAVEZS) RAKEED
(FAETEINMBRARNTBERINE
ELRE N Z8) MEURIE -



34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk (continued)
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—E-pFE+—_A=+—H
34. HKREKREEBERBE(E)

S LB (48)
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in rate of (decrease) Increase/
foreign in profit (decrease)
currency before tax in equity*

SNEERLR  HRBAER  EEEm
(Tre) &/ (D) (BD)*

% RMB'000 RMB'000

% AR®TR ARETR

*

31 December 2024
If the RMB weakens against the US$
If the RMB strengthens against the US$

If the RMB weakens against the HK$
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$

31 December 2023
If the RMB weakens against the US$
If the RMB strengthens against the US$

If the RMB weakens against the HK$
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$

Excluding retained profits.

—E-_mE+=-A=1+-AH
WAREHETHRE
MARE R ETHE

WARELETRE
HMARELETE

—E-=%+ZA=1+-H
AR ST E
M A REE S FETTHHE

WARELETRE
HMARELETHE

5 (28) 1,279
() 28 (1,279)

5 106 695
(5) (106) (695)

5 295 1,260
(5) (295) (1,260)

5 332 680
) (332) (680)

* TRERERN
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34.

NFE+=—RA=+—H
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BKEKREEBEEREEHE)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk SE R
The Group trades mainly with recognised and creditworthy AEBFTEHMZAEEERITNE=H
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who EITR G - BWRAEENBR - FIER
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification REEERETRINERPHEERRE
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored ERERER - I BN EEGDE
on an ongoing basis. FHEEEE o
Maximum exposure and year-end staging REERER FEREER
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRINTENRAEBEZEERRNEE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, BEERGEDEERB(TEERNBEE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other B RIFEMEEFTTEETLERAR
information is available without undue cost or effort, and S HENA R - B 2IERIZ) LA R A
year-end staging classification at the end of the reporting WEMRNFERBERSE - 2702
period. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts BT EERNREAE -
for financial assets.
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZB-mE+=ZA=+—8H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A7
FEER HRNEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
Al d EIRR EZRER [i56(975 st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR AR®TR ARETT ARETR
Trade and notes receivables B HEWFUE R ENER - - - 294,083 294,083
Contract assets BHEE = = - 33 33
Financial assets included in STARNTUE - Bt
prepayments, other receivables  FUER it EEM
and other assets TREE
— Normal* —E&* 3124 - - - 3,124
- Doubtful* —TPE - - 1,473 - 1,473
Cash and cash equivalents HeRAEEEY
- Not yet past due — AR 4,082 - - = 4,082
Total a5t 7,206 - 1,473 294,116 302,795




34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

BERN R ERERERA T
SENEER
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—E-pFE+—_A=+—H
34. HEKREERERBEEK(E)
SERBs(4E)
REBRERFAER(E)

R=-ZB-_=F+=-H=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A 785
REER SHRBEEEHE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—RER FRER F=MRE B st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR AEBTR ARETEH
Trade and notes receivables B S RUFIERERER - - - 322,616 322,616
Contract assets BWEE - - - 2,054 2,054
Financial assets included in STATBNFUE - EthmEl
prepayments, other receivables BN EMEER
and other assets TREE
—Normal* —EE* 836 - - - 836
Time deposits - Not yet pastdue ~ FHiFR — Mk EH 5,707 - - - 5707
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEEEN
— Not yet past due — HAREH 27,540 - = = 27,540
Total a3t 34,083 . - M0 38753

The credit quality of the financial assets included in

prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be

“doubtful”.

* st TR SRR ~ B AR R E At
AENEREEYEAE  TEEARE
TEREENEERR B VIFHERIAK
BREREN MEEEEERWREAIL
FleBA eRMEENERERER
1EITERE ] -
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34.

mE+=—A=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and

maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed

adequate by the management of the Group to finance the

operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash

flows.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

34.

M EREEREREE(E)

REE R

EnpEcRBRERNE  ANEBEEE
RekReEEY UHEERERE
BEEERSRNRNEESRERE
MENBTENKFE

AEERBEHRRNERMAENDIHRBE
ERAHARBEBRNFOWT

As at 31 December 2024
R-E-ME+-A=1-H

3to
Lessthan  less than 1to5 Over

Ondemand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total

ZESR
REX SRR +=f8A -E5%  HBBIF At
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARMTR ARMTr ARETR ARBTRT ARET:R
Trade payables EHRNTE 34,282 - - - - 34,282
Lease liabilities HEAR - 240 508 215 - 963

Financial liabilities included in STARMENFER
other payables and accruals EAERMEHER 3,006 - - - - 3,006
Interest-bearing bank borrowings & BSR1TIEFL - 23 3,059 - - 3,082
Total @zt 37,288 263 3,567 215 - 41,333
As at 31 December 2023
A"B-=#£+-A=1-H
3to
Less than less than Tto5 Over

Ondemand ~ 3months  12months years 5 years Total

ZEIR
REX  SR=@A T=f8R —E0F  #ELF @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%ETR AR%TR
Trade payables BHEATE 59,340 = = = £ 59,340
Lease liabilities HEER - 237 832 946 - 2015

Financial liabilities included in STARMENFUER

other payables and accruals ErERRNLRAE 2,108 - - - - 2,108
Interest-oearing bank borrowings B HITE R = 38 5122 4 4 5,160
Total @5t 61,448 275 5954 946 - 68,623




34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
total debt divided by total equity. Total debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities. The

BERN R ERERERA T
SENEER
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—ECNF+=-A=+—H

B EMEE B ERBUR ()

EXEE

AEBEAREENTEBZRARER
SEBECEWHIFBREERNLEARE
N NI HHEERTRERAREE
B -

$EIA$E?J’§%$/%K#/RE’] MERAEREE
ENRBREFHEEEERNRBAELR
B RERIGAREARRE - ARE
GRBERN TRERORE - REELRT
BCOREBEITHD - AEE AR RSN
BB EAZRMR - BE-F M
Ft+-A=+—"RAR-ZF-_=F+_H

=+—RIEFE E@§$ma& [
5 SRR 3 4 )

AEERAEERBL R (AEHAR
BRARAE) ERER - EHAEE
BRI BSRITERLEERE - RIRED

gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as RKWEEBELERNT ¢
follows:

2024 2023
—E-NE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBF T AR¥ETT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRRITER 3,000 5,010
Lease liabilities HERE 928 1,912
Total debt BF AR 3,928 6,922
Total equity AR Ea 205,437 268,377
Gearing ratio BEAFBHE 1.9% 2.6%
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35.
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

KRB BRI R

BRAARANEERAROMBIRAERD

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: R
2024 2023
—ENEF —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries* HEWB AR 173,816 160,290
Equity investments designated at fair 8T AT EFAEAM
value through other comprehensive 2HEKER
income REHEIR A 13,513 13,513
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 187,329 173,803
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRSEEY 1,069 316
Due from a subsidiary FEW — KB & A~ R I8 - 798
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTERIE ~ Bt FEYORRIE &
other assets Hi&EE 175 -
Total current assets MEVBEMRE 1,244 1,114
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREAE
Due to subsidiaries FESHI B2 | 5E 9,980 7,566
Other payables and accruals E b fE (S FRIE K fEET B R 457 166
Total current liabilities MEN BB 10,437 7,732
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS #EN (S & FE)  EERE (9,193) (6,618)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERTDEME
LIABILITIES 178,136 167,185
Net assets BEFE 178,136 167,185
EQUITY xS
Issued capital EETER 15,646 15,646
Share premium 1D mE 160,329 175,310
Treasury shares EEFF AR 17 = (23,839)
Reserves (note) bt (P ) 2,161 68
Total equity B 178,136 167,185

As at 31 December 2024, in the opinion of the directors, amount
to RMB149,769,000 (2023: RMB149,769,000) of these balances
due from Howking Hong Kong, are unlikely to be repaid in the
foreseeable future and considered as part of the Company's net
investments in the subsidiary.

R-ZT-_ME+-_A=+—H R
R ZERBEREERRERAR
#149,769,000(Z B =4 : AR
149,769,0007T ) FA A] R AR PR A AT gE
B R AR AREZNBARIFE
BEH—IpD o



35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note:

A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows:
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35. ZERATHBARRE(E)

GEE
ARRRHEHEIT -

Share option
Share and award  Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
BRER
REE BRORDREE RiHE )

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR  AR%TR

1 January 2023 —E-=F-A—H 175,310 - (7,523) 167,787
Loss for the year FREE - - (2,930) (2,930)
Equity-settled share option arrangements PARR A )

RER S - 10,521 - 10,521
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-ZE-=F

TZA=+-BR

—E-NF—-A—H 175,310 10,521 (10,453) 175,378
Loss for the year FREE - - (3,558) (3,558)
Equity-settled share option and award arrangements PREEE R RER

Fin SEm 2 (22,855) 13,525 - (9,330)
Exercise of share award TR AR 528 7,874 (7,874) N -
At 31 December 2024 g 13

+-A=+—H 160,329 16,172 (14,011) 162,490

36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 17 January 2025, Home Office Development
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability and controlled by Chan
Chin Ching, entered into share purchase agreements
with the controlling shareholders and certain other
shareholders of the Company to purchase
157,755,400 issued shares, representing
approximately 70.11% of the issued capital of the
Company as at the date of the share purchase
agreements, at a consideration of HK$140,245,000, at
a price of HK$0.889 per share. Completion took place
on 27 January 2025.

36. WHEPEREBMH

RZEBEZRF—A+tH - BRERE
%l 5 2 A Home Office Development
Limited(—E R R B E Z B & i AL
MBR AT EAR B ST TR &
DEMBRERI BB E RS UBE
157,755,400k B B 1T H - ER A
NElRRDEEE HiE B R BITRELD
70.11% - X {8 #7140,245,0007% 7T -
IREH B0.889BIL - RZT-_HF—
AZ++tHEK -
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36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

(b) As at 31 March 2025, a total of 20,319,513 share
options granted under the Scheme had been
exercised and allotted pursuant to the rules of the
Scheme, as further detailed in note 27 to the financial
statements.

37. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March
2025.

36.

37.

BEHRREH (B)

RZZE_RF=R=+—0  REZ:
ZIR A& 220,319,513 ik iEE R
BAETRIRAITT R RACH - E— T FHB
ORI R EE27 -

HESRS MBEHE

FEMBBRENR_E_AF=A=+
—HEESSIEALIRETE -



"2025 AGM”

[TE-_RFERFAFAE]

O

[5G

“Articles” or "Articles of

Association”

[ARRI sk AAA =240 A

“Audit Committee”

[BxEEg]
“"Board”
[EF=]
“"CAGR"

[ FERE]
“CG Code”

[EEERSTA

“China” or "PRC"

[ B

“Company”

YNGR

BRENEERERERAR
—E-mEEH

Definitions

2%

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on May 16,
2025
AARER _ZE-_AFAATANBRTNEERRBEFAS

the 5th generation mobile network, a new global wireless standard after 1G, 2G,
3G and 4G networks
ERRBEBEME - #1G - 2G - 3G RAGHRR AR 2 IREFITLE

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company conditionally
adopted on November 11, 2022 and effective on December 12, 2022, as amended
or supplemented from time to time

ARRR B —F+—A+—BHAGRHRBEIR T - —F+ - A+ -BENH
ISR R EDIEBERRZ AR (ETRERT A T)

the audit committee of the Board

the board of Directors

BE=g

compound annual growth rate; the CAGR formula involves (i) dividing the ending
value by the beginning value, (i) making a radical of the amount by the number of
years (e.g., 2019~2021=2 years) and (iii) subtracting one to make the rate a
percentage

BEFERE  BaFEREQAXBEONPRERARIE  (RFHEBIN_T—
NEEZT = —FR2F) RBERGINVAE—FISHONE SR

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
ERRIMERCI FER R E AT R

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual report only and
except where the context requires otherwise, references in this annual report to
"China” or "PRC" do not include Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region and Taiwan

REARAMNE - HERAFRMS - BRXBEZEAEIN - AERHE[DE JHR
MABREEE  RPIFIITRIELA R A&

Howkingtech International Holding Limited, an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in Cayman Islands on August 25, 2021, and registered as a
non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance on January
13, 2022

BREREEBEIERERAR  —RR =B =—F N A+ hBEREHSFMMKL
WERRERARF  R-T - _F— A+ =BRBEARIGHIFE16BETMRIETAELR
=
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B%

"Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ R AR

“"Deed of Non-competition”

T 22
"Director(s)”
[E%]

"GDP"
[BEAEERE]

"Global Offering”
[RIREE |

“HKS"
77t )

“Hong Kong”
K

"Howkingtech” or “Group”

[RERRH 3k A% E ]

e
[{5854i |

“loT”
[R5 48 |

“Latest Practicable Date”

[EERAITRH

“Listing”
[

“Listing Date”

[ EmBEH]

"Listing Rules”
[ Em#RAl

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules, and unless the context
otherwise requires, refers to Dr. Chen Ping, Ms. Wang Zheshi, Ms. Jin Yan and
Howkingtech Holding Limited

BB EWARFR TZANERE - BXRSEEIN - BRFEEL - TEMLZ T -
&2+ K Howkingtech Holding Limited

the deed of non-competition dated November 11, 2022 entered into by the
Controlling Shareholders with and in favor of the Company (for itself and as
trustee for its subsidiaries)

EREREARB(RERG RIERSEMBARNZFEA)ARRR /ZEAFR] L
FRR—F_—F+— A+ HNTHRFUR

the director(s) of the Company
VIN/NET =1

gross domestic product

NAEERE

the Hong Kong public offering and international offering of the Shares
EEARBENBERESERN

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BEAEER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEBRRITH R

the Company and its subsidiaries

ARAFMEKEAT

information technology

(X3

internet of things

YLk

April 15, 2025, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of ascertaining
certain information contained in this annual report prior to its publication
“TCRFMATRA  BIAFRMNEAIARE EPAEE TEHNRRERAIT
H &

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PRI TABE S P AR £

December 12, 2022, on which the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange and
from which dealings in the Shares were permitted to commence on the Stock
Exchange

RO CHEA-ATZR  ROREBRAA LT REERB R ARG E B B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B prE S LR A
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=12 ]

"Macau”

[P

“Model Code”

[#5=2E<r Al

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZEE]

"OEM”
[ZHMnT )

"Prospectus”

[ EE ]

“oRRU”
[\ GT SRR R BT |

"R&D"
[ 3% ]

"Remuneration Committee”

[FMEZEE]

“Reporting Period” or “Year”

[ 8 Ik

“RMB"”
AR

"SFO”
78 7 N HAE 5 p) ]

“Share Award Scheme”
[ A& 0 52EpET 8l )

“Share Option Scheme”
[EEA iR E

“Shareholder(s)"”
e

AR ERERERAT 271
—B-mEER

Definitions

2%

Long Range, a proprietary low-power wide-area network modulation technique

EIR - —REAME RS AR A S

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
EDRPIRFRITTER

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
EARRRIMERCIFE LT ABFETE SRR HHRAESTRI

the nomination committee of the Board

ExgRw%Be

original equipment manufacturer

ZIHMINT

the prospectus of the Company dated November 30, 2022 in connection with the
Global Offering
ARBRPR-ZE__F+—HA=THNBRER AR EREHEE

pico remote radio unit, which is used to the baseband unit

RREHREEETTN D MG BN EET

research and development
fisT e pa

the remuneration committee of the Board

e P

the year ended December 31, 2024
BE-_T-_MF+-—A=+—HLFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

ARHE - b EyA T

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BREDIFESNEEH L HE &)

the Howkingtech Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company on May 16,
2023
RARRZZEZ=F 0 AN BERARRBEEHRAR () ZE)5+ 2

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on November 11, 2022
RARAR T _F+—A+— BERAOBERAETE

holder(s) of the Share(s)
& A A
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Definitions

B%

“Share(s)"”
[ ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 32 P ]

"U.S.” or "United States”
[SEE

“Universal loT Platform”
[@ERYEAETa ]

WVLAN”
[ AR B4 ]

u%u

[%]

the ordinary share(s) of nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company
AR BIRAFRFREEC.OE LA LB

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EBMERXSMBR AR

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject
to its jurisdiction

EMNBERE - HEL HEMLXHRAEEENMA R

the Group's self-developed centralized data platform of loT solutions, which
provides the infrastructural functions for upper applications

AEE A THENDBERRDRETEET G - S LERBEREERRENEE

wireless local-area network

BRI

per cent

AL
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